


FOOTBALL IS BACK!

Why not get your information from someone who
G810 R (o)1 {S o) 1§ N went a documented 63.3% in BetOnline's MEGA

NFL Betting CONTEST in 2021?

Success 2022 With NFL BETTING SUCCESS 2022 you'll read exactly
how he did it.

From Someone Who Selected
Over 60% Winners In 2021

No sitting around for hours compiling stats, or

taking advice from television personalities who
haven't a clue.

Easy to follow situations that win, win, and win
again!

Best of all it's 100% FREE - that's right, just sign up
and NFL Betting Success 2022 will arrive in your
inbox within minutes.
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SAY “the END" to
$15 fo $30 SHOES! i

Haband NEW PRICE SHOES |

CASH IN NOW on these Extraordinary Savings!

Please Note: At this price, we are not allowed

Black
Oxford

Today’s new
man-mades
l beat the price
out of leather,
scoff at scuffs,
l keep better shape,
I and Never Need a
I Shirie, Why spend even
one dollar more? Here's
J something NEW — Here's
I something PROVEN.
We will be proud to send them
to you for On Approval At Home
I Inspection. Your remittance refunded
in full if you do not choose to wear them.
Order by mail or visit our retail store in Paterson, N.J|
265 No. 9th St. Open daily and Saturday until 5 p.m

Haband Company

The day of the high priced shoe is over. Folks are paying o mention the famous brand name of this
many dollars less, thanks to the miracle new polymerlc new material. Suffice it to say it looks like
shoe materials. This is no *“‘cheap imitation.” It’s the top grain leather, performs even better. Why
New Price Shoe that looks, feels and wears as well as pay more and more? Getin on this astounding
any you have ever worn yet costs a fraction of the price. fow price: TWO PAIRS for $15.95! |

YOU’LL BE SHOCKED AVAILAB o X [ |
WHEN YOU SEE OUR SHOES! 5% |6 | 64| 7| 7% |8 | 84] 9 | 9% [10] 10%1112]13 l
You'il wonder how any such price can be. : T e : : : : 111
You get top quality uppers, lifetime laces,
life-of-the-shoe PVC sole and heels, flex- |- = 1”17 17 7 Lm0 T 2220 i
ible support shank in the arch, gentie |2 T A A A ]
foam heel cushions, superior detailing, |-£ il bl ]
E ]| [ w | whw| v | w| ]
even the new luxury Immgsl
- I N GWIE SN SEED SR S S ————————————————I
Haband ,
New Price Shoes 9 - 1
HABAND COMPANY, Dept OD-1 [resay] B
265 North 9th Street I
Paterson, New Jersey 07508 SPECIAL: 3pr.23.45 4 pr.30.50 I
0.K. Gentlemen, send me the ....... prs. How |What] What
of New Price Shoes specxfxed My Color & Style Many| Size [Wwidth l
f
'e'L‘:fctﬁ?sf;j OF S eeeeeomeneen Black Oxford :
ge '
Street . .. ............. Black L oafer |
City . o vv i e Black Monk Strap :
State. .. ... ... Brown Monk Wing |
SANEEEN
CODE Brown Strap Loafer :

HABAND COMPANY — Operating by U.S. Mail since 1925
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the case
of the

MISSInG

I was cleaning out the attic when | saw the magazine.
It was on top of a pile of old papers stacked in a corner.
The cover was wrinkled and faded with age.

For some reason it caught my attention and | started
thumbing through the pages. Most of the articles seemed
vaguely familiar,

| was ready to toss the magazine aside when it fell open
to a page that was torn. The bottom half was missing. In
amoment | knew | had stumbled on the answer to a three-
year-old mystery:

Then | had been just another guy with a job. Married.
Two children. Not much chance of getting ahead because
| didn't have any special skills or training.

One payday | came home feeling more discouraged
than usual. There was talk of a layoff at the plant. | was
sure my name would be on the ljst.

My wife tried to cheer me up by saying everything was
bound to change soon. [ didn't believe her. But then a
few days later an unexpected package came in the mail.

It was from International Correspondence Schools.
Inside was their famous Career Kit with 3 booklets that
were written especially for people like me. The booklets

|IC

Division of Intext

“International Correspondence Schools

coupon

explained how 1.C.S. had helped thousands of others get
ahead on their present jobs—or even find new careers.
How they were able to earn higher pay and provide real
security for their families.

I never stopped to figure out how the Career Kit hap-
pened to be sent to me. Instead | just went ahead and
enrolled for a course. And after that, things started moving
so fast | simply forgot about it.

When my supervisor at the plant heard | was taking an
1.C.S. course he was so impressed he moved me off the
line. Then two years—and three raises—later | was pro-
moted to assistant foreman. My job future was assured.

Now, looking at the torn page in the magazine, 1 sud-
denly realized what had happened. My wife had seen the
1.C.S. ad in the magazine. The missing half of the page
was the coupon she had mailed in with my name on it.

Still holding the old magazine, | went downstairs and
showed it to her. She just smiled and said, “| knew all you
needed was a chance.”

Maybe so. But still | thank my lucky stars she mailed
in that coupon.

Why don’t you mark and mail the one below today?

ICS, Scranton, Pa. 18515
Canadian residents:

Send coupon to Scranton.
Qur affiliate in Canada
will reply. in Hawaii: use
P.0. Box 418, Honolulu.

Take your first step . .. mail this coupon today . . . ICS, Scranton, Pa. 18515,

I'm interested in a program of independent study. Send me your free 3-booklet Success Kit: (1) **How to Succeed,” 30 pages of valuable
Cys method, (3) Catalog for subject checked below . ..

job tips, (2) Sample text demonstrating famous |

Approved for veterans

for tuition refund.

(G.1.’s qualify after 180 days
active service)

Miss Accredited member, .
s, Age. Nat'l Home Study Council. .
. Mr. (Please print), Easy pay-as-you-learn plan.
t Special rates to members
. Address Ap U.S. Armed Forces.
i State. Zip Code. ICS has over 266
. City career-related courses . .
O Ei by. Working Hours—____A.M. to PM. W7013)
. ACCOUNTING O Interior Decorating and  BUSINESS: SALES O Introduction to System/ [ High School General SECRETARIAL .
O Accounting (U.S. or Can.) Design [ Real Estate Agent 0 Computer O High School Math. @ Clerk-Typist
[ Cost Accounting O Sign Painting & Design  [J Modern sal the |BM [ High School Secretarial (] Secretary, Legal .
. 0 General Accounting [ Sketching & Painting {3 Sales Manager 1401 Computer [ High School Vocational [0 Secretary, Medical
0O Practical Accounting [ College Preparatory [0 Secretary, Executive
] C Fubiic Accounting AN Ve ouilding  CHEMICAL DRAFTING O Preparatory Course for (] Shorthand _ . |
RCHITECTURE and = 3 Rof‘ i % 2 [ Chemical Analyst O Aircraft Drafting H.S. £q y Exams, [) 0 Typist
ARC 20 Aute Mechns O Chemical Engineering - () Architectural Drafting .
JJ BUILDING TRADES 03 Auto M anic { Chem. Lab Technician () Blueprint Reading MACH. SHOP PRACTICE  TV-RADIO-ELECTRONICS
0 Air ebgles v o Mechani [ Generat Chemistry D) Design Drafting O Machine Shop Practice O Cable TV Installer
l Q Air Conditioning Maint, Aetc ZI‘J"C ter Mechani O Plastics Technician O Drafting Technology ~ (J Reading Shop Blueprints [ Electronics Service Tech.
0 Architecture on O futo. Master Mechanic 0 Electrical and Etectronic (] Tool & Die Maker 0 General Ejectronics
S fich, Drawing & Design L] Auto. Engine Tune-Ue  CIVIL ENGINEERING O Mechanical O3 Structural (1 Welding Foreman 0O Indust, Electronics
. @] clll ing Contractor uto. Trans. Speci O Civil Engineering [1 Com. Radio Telephone
L3 Carpenter- Builder BUSINESS [ Highway Eng. Tech. ELECTRICAL MECHANICAL License Ist, 2nd, 3rd Class
. g Ca'p»’""g & Millwork 5 aguertising D Sewage Plant Operator  [J Electrical Engineering (O Mechanical Engineering [ Solid State Electronics l
O Heating & Air 0 Ad M O Structural Eng. Tech. O Appljance Servicing (1 Aircraft and Power Plant [ Telephony N
n't 'r;:wm_g int. Design 3 Basic Management O Surveying & Mapping [ Elec.”Eng. Technician Mechanic D TV and Radio Servicing
. = Plouseb_ anntng, Int. Design J Business Administration [ Water-Waorks Operator O Industrial Electrician O Boiler taspector .
0 Plumbing . O Business Law O Industrial Maintenance [ Principles of Hydrautic, WRITING and ENGLISH
. B S‘"’S.b'“ﬁ&h"e&""g ints O Industrial Psychology COMPUTERS Electrician Preumatic Power 0 English and Writing
D“ m{; ‘r:c - “ep'.'" s C tnventory Control [ Fundamentals of O Motor Repairman D lnduslr!al Engineering . B8 Free-.Lance Writing
S Ro'mps E'A-""Emeams O Managing a Small Store Computer Programming {3 Practical Electrician O3 tndustrial Instrumentation ) Reading Improvement
. eifig. & AlrLond. Ser. = pergonnei-Labor Rel'ns [ COBOL Programming (3 Utility Lineman O Machine Design l
ART and DESIGN [J Purchasing Agent 0 Fortran IV Programming O Power Plant Engineering  [J Other (teif us)
0O Commerciat Art [ Retail Business Mgmt. [0 Digital Computer HIGH SCHOOL 0O Quality Control
[3 Cartooning D Traffic M P i O High Schoot Business O Tool Design
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The Killer Lay in Wait for the Pretty Blonde Nurse

The brutal murder of Karen Brown might never have been solved but for the alertness of a heads-up officer who put a
couple of unrelated facts together and came up with a slayer . . . By D. M. LAVINE ............ 24

Arizona’s Rape-Killer Had a Fear of Death
Police went all out to nab this coldblooded killer of a pretty
young rape victim and an innocent young mother

By Taomas Grass ............ 4
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Is Free to Kill Again
Wherever this Missouri chick is, police theorize, she’s with
a sex partner—who just might be her next victim
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The Flint cops fell in a hail of gunfire and the killers fled—
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The attractive girl was able to give Florida investigators
remarkably coherent information about her assailant
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tives and FBI agents joined forces to try and catch him
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The Killer Played Games With the Police

This hardened criminal was so sure of himself that he
deliberately crossed the path of West Coast police

By Crai¢ CALDANIE ........... 48

Maryland’s Case of Pre-Marital Murder

It was clearly a case of overkill in the murder of a gentle
lady only three hours before she was to become « bride

By CHARLES CARROLL ......... 54
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Your choice of an exciting

OUTDOOR

is waiting for you—if you qualify.

CAREER

Y

Thousands of jobs will be opening up in wildlife
management, parks and outdoor recreation, forestry, etc.

These patches represent outdoor careers for

Why spend the best days of your life punching a time
clock in an office, store or factory — when you may
be able to qualify for one of the thousands of new jobs
that are coming up in the great outdoors because of con-
cern for conservation and ecology.

imagine getting paid for work you'll enjoy
Don’t settle for only occasional hunting, fishing and boat-
ing trips. Live and work right next to nature —in real
man country — all year round. Every year there are new
openings in State and National Parks, the forest industry,
game refuges and preserves, private hunting and fishing
clubs and recreational facilities.

Here's how you can qualify . . . Start now!

The National School of Conservation will help you pre-
pare at home, in your spare time, for an exciting outdoor
opportunity. This accredited train-at-home program has
been created by experts in the field of conservation. These
men have years of on-the-job experience...and they
share it with you, through every step of your training.
You can even keep your present job as you learn at
home . . . working at you own pace. National School of
Conservation is America’s oldest established and ac-
credited home-study conservation school; so you know
you're in capable hands. When you graduate, National
School will assist you in contacting public and private
conservation organizations and help you explore available
job openings.

Good Pay ... Job Security...Low Living Costs —

a great combination!

which the National School trains you;
not the official patchs of any State, Federal or private conservation service.

“In less than six
years I have been
a Conservation
Aide, a Tech-
nician, and now
I am a Super-
visor. And I tell
everyone who
asks, I owe it all
to my NSC train-
ing.” Larry D.
Gano, Salem,
Oregon.

“While taking this
course, I was with
Champion Paper
Company . .. now
I am the owner of
Bryson Pulpwood
Yard, and doing
my own forestry
work.”—~Mack
Howell, Bryson,
N.C.

and raises based on seniority and
performance. As a bonus, some jobs
include uniform allowances, hospital
insurance, pension plans, vacations
with pay...and your paychecks
come through regularly — good times
or bad.
You only live once. ..

make it a life of adventure
The man who wears the insignia of
a forestry, conservation, wildlife or
park agency is admired by women . ..
respected by ordinary men. He is a
man of action called upon to rescue
people in danger...to enforce our
laws and protect our wildlife. .. to
direct citizens in time of emergencies
...even lead fire fighting crews.
What’s more, the conservationist has
the satisfaction of knowing that he is serving his coun-
try . . . safeguarding her forests, parks, ranges and wildlife.
Future generations will be grateful to him for preserving
the natural beauty of our American heritage.
Send for Free Career Guidebook

There are few careers that offer a man such exciting chal-
lenges . . . such rich rewards. But a career like this can be
yours — even with no experience or college if you train
now. Get all the facts. Mail the coupon for your Free
Career Guidebook. There’s no obligation and no salesman
will call on you. National Schoo6l of Conservation, 1129-
20th Street N.W., Washington, D.C. 20036.

“Your course
afforded me the
position as
Ranger-in-Charge
of an area, and my
present position.”
David E. Heck
Asst. Park Supt.
Eik Neck State
Park. Maryland

You can earn a good living, with advancement possibilities
YOUR BiG

CAREER KIT FREE.’ \

Get all the facts free . . . without obligation.

Your FREE Career Kit includes:
“ CAREER GUIDEBOOK
Handsomely illustrated book packed with
facts about how to start your new life in
the great outdoors.
% FIELD TRAINING INFORMATION

AND ILLUSTRATIONS.
Describing Camp Minong, the National
School's field training camp in Wolf
Springs Forest, Wisconsin.
* “HOW TO FINANCE

YOUR EDUCATION.”
Complete details on how you can pay for
your education through the Gl Bill.

Accredited Member of the

National Home Study Councll

J

=
l MAILTODAY FOR FREE CAREERKIT!

National School of Conservation, Dept. 5310N
1129 20th St., N.W., Washington, D.C. 20036

Without cost or obligation, please rush me the complete

CONSERVATION CAREER KIT — FREE! This kit includes
complete details on how | can qualify at home, in my
spare time for an exciting career in the great outdoors.
No salesman will visit.

Print
Name Age
Address
City
¥ ¥y
State APPROVED
ey
zZip VETERANS
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ey
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This youth was questioned after cops checked out certain car

ARIZONA'S
RAPE-KILLER
HAD A FEAR
OF DEATH

by THOMAS GRASS
Special Investigator for ACTUAL DETECTIVE STORIES

HE COURTROOM was filled with the curious pub-
lic, newsmen and law enforcement and legal officials
as the first-degree murder trial got underway on

the morning of Thursday, May 27, 1971. Most of
the preliminaries had been dispensed with, and presiding
Judge John P. Collins of the Pima County Superior Court
in Tucson, Arizona was just about ready to allow the
prosecution and defense attorneys to begin the questioning
of veniremen so a jury could be impaneled.

Suddenly there was a buzz of anticipation from the
audience in the small courtroom as the defense attorney
for the 24-year-old man charged with two rape-murders
asked the judge for permission for his client to address
the bench. The judge called the prosecution staff forward
and there was a short, whispered conference. After a mo-
ment, the judge gaveled for silence and spoke to the elder-
ly court officer standing just a few feet away.

“Bailiff, would you clear the court for a few moments.”
Then Judge Collins pointed a long finger at a page of legal
foolscap on the top of his desk as he resumed whispering
to the attorneys. The bailiff urged the prosective jurors
and spectators to their feet and out of the room.

As the defendant talked quietly with the judge, Lima
County Sheriff Waldon Burr leaned back in his chair

(Continued on page 6)

This coldblooded character had slain a pretty young rape victim,

then callously gunned to death an innocent young mother

on the open highway. It was clear, therefore, that

the only death he feared was his own . . .
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Owner-Managers Wanted
for Interesting, Exciting Career

As you Add Servicemen, your Income Climbs
You have Security...Prestige...Success

Start Full or Spare Time

We are now seeking reliable men, each to become an
Owner-Manager of a nationally advertised business
. in his community.

We will train you . .. help finance you. .
you in your own high-profit business.

Duraclean dealers do not try their luck. Their
proven methods assured success to hundreds of men
throughout 30 countries.

Start full time...or spare time adding your
business profit to your ]ob salary until your business
income warrants full time. ,

You can start a big operation . .. or many start a
small full-time dealership with only 1 or 2 servicemen
that can bring in $30,000 end UP yearly. As you add
servicemen, we furnish and pay for the equipment.

. guide

You have a very large net profit on EACH man.

You become a specialist in the care of carpets,
. a gratifying, interesting,

rugs and furniture. .
exciting profession.

The coupon brings full facts so you can decide if
you want to share in the success of this growing,

worldwide organization.

¥)ur service is vastly different.

Your carpet & upholstery cleaning
service livens fibers. .. revives dull
colors, raises pile. It avoids the
usual soaking and fiber breaks from
a machine scrub. Mild aerated foam,
lightly applied, lifts clinging soil.

Scrubbing and do-it-yourself ‘‘so
called” cleaning drive soil deeper till
it seeps back to resoil the surface.

Your men TAKE SOIL OUT.

Your 7 on-location services erase
stains, make fibers resistant to fire
and to stain, control static in carpet,
mothproof, restore carpet tufts.

If a dealer retires, gets sick, or
moves, we help him sell. Dealers
resell up to 10 times dealership cost.

We are enlarging this worldwide
system of individually owned service
businesses. If you are reliable, we
invite you to mail the coupon.

It's Easier than You Think
to Start Your Own Business

Qur booklet shows you the way we
help you to get customers and grow.
See how EACH serviceman can
increase a $12 hourly 1-man gross
profit to $19, then to $26 and on up.
YOUR Duraclean service is highly
recommended by makers of furniture
and carpets, by magazine editors and
by a well known research laboratory.
Magazine page ads create demand
for your services ... bring you jobs.
There are 15 ways to get customers.
Operate from office or your home.
You can carry equipment in car trunk
till profits buy your first trucks.
Mechanization, automation and
mergers wiped out a million jobs
since 1960. Your dealership gives
you security, prestige, a higher level
income . . . a forward-moving future.

Little over a thousand dollars of
your own creates a growing, lifetime
business that YOU own. We add our
own funds up to twice your minimum
franchise investment.

Get the factsnow . .. TODAY before
your location may be taken.

It’s said, “Opportunity knocks but
once at each man’s door.” This was
that opportunity for hundreds of men.
Perhaps it is for you.

You can decide in the privacy of
your home from facts we’ll mail you.

So find out now . . . loday.
-

r Duraclearr
l International &2

l
1-3T0 Duraclean Bldg., Deerfield, 1ii. 60015 :
WITHOUT OBLIGATION send me the free book- I
tet which shows me how | can start a Duraclean

I business in my spare time without risking my
1 job. No salesman is to call. ]

i Name

Address

City
1 State & Zip




Pet dog of victim Cindy Winter was guarding body of the 14-year-old girl,
sprawled half-nude alongside her bike, when investigating officers arrived

toward the rear of the courtroom and
let his thoughts drift back to March
23rd of last year. That was the day.
his office had become involved in the
first of the savage rape-killings.

A phone call to the desk sergeant
at the county sheriff's office was
placed by a nervous man painting for
breath as he gasped, “There’s a body
out here in the desert, Officer!” The
caller continued in a jumbled rush,
“It’s a girl, a little girl! She’s dead.
Looks like she was shot. Some of her
clothes are off. My horse almost
stepped on her!”

Under calm questioning by the desk
sergeant, the caller said he’d been
riding on horseback in a ravine near
the fashionable Oro Valley Country
Club golf course when he stumbled on
the body. When the horseman men-
tioned that he touched the body to
make sure she was dead and he'd
found the remains to be still warm,
the sergeant knew he might have a
fresh victim on his hands.

Quickly, he determined where the
caller was, requested the man to await
the arrival of deputies, then set the
all-out chase wheels in motion. An
alert was broadcast over the emer-
gency ‘“chase” sheriff's frequency,
notifying all patrolling deputies of a
newly found body. Sheriff’s Detective
Sergeant John Lyon from Homicide
was dispatched to the scene with two
carloads of deputies and assistants,
and preparations were made to sur-
round the golf course area and set up
roadblocks if they became necessary.

Within moments, the deputies were
at the murder scene to look for iden-
tification and clues. But as Detective
Sergeant Lyon and his men piled out
of their car they had trouble getting
to the body, which lay in plain sight
in the bottom of the ravine, just under
the branches of a mesquite tree. Be-
fore the car door was opened, a large
brown dog left his post by the still
form and stalked, neck hair bristling,
toward the law officers. As they
started to move out of the vehicle to-
ward the girl, the dog snarled, then
jumped for one of the deputies. Lyon
tried to grab the animal and was re-
warded with slashing teeth. The dog
backed off and stood guard over the
girl, barking and snapping at each
officer who tried an approach. It was
several moments before the dog was
removed and the investigators could
finally approach the victim’s half-
nude body

A few moments later, pathologist
Jay Anderson confirmed to Detective
Lyon that it was a recent kill.

“The girl’s been dead for only a
few minutes, John. Probably less than
a half-hour.”

Suppressing a shudder of violent
anger directed toward anyone who
would brutally slay such 'a small,
helpless girl, the detective studied
what had been discovered thus far.
Then he again questioned Anderson
from the coroner’s office. “Rape?”

The pathologist raised himself from
a kneeling position beside the still

huddled form. His face was grimly

set. “Looks like it.” He wiped his
hands on a handkerchief. “Have to
make some lab checks to be sure.” He
motioned for his aides to cover the
body and take it to a nearby ambu-
lance for shipment to the morgue.
“Death was caused by those puncture
wounds in her back and on the neck.
Several of them could’'ve been fatal.”

“What made the wounds?” Lyon
asked.

“Probably a small-caliber gun,
twenty-two or twenty-five. But we'll
check to make sure she wasn’t just
stabbed repeatedly with something
small and sharp like an icepick.”

“Okay. Call the office soon as you
have anything definite. We’ll look for
both kinds of weapons.”

Another deputy came up. He had
the girl’s wallet. “Found it over there
in that pile of clothing.”

Detective Lyon thumbed through
the cards in the pastel-colored bill-
fold. Cindy Winter. Fourteen years
old. Daughter of Mr. and Mrs. R. W,
Winter of Tucson.

Lyon glanced back at his assistants
and some of the sheriff’s deputies as
they scoured the area. The girl’s bi-
cycle lay on its. side where it had been
discovered some 10 yards from the
child. A cycle trail] meandered down
the slope of the ravine as it wound
through the desert area near the golf
course.

When " Sergeant Lyon had first
checked the girl she’d been wearing
a blouse, part of her torn undercloth-

(Continued on page 8)



MEN! 1rain at nome with us for a

AGGOUNTING

DEMAND FOR ACCOUNTANTS AT ALL TIME HIGH

Train at home in spare time for one of 1000s high pay prestige positions
open to Accountants. Or, open your own accounting practice.

Accounting is the most direct road to high level positions in business
—more corporation presidents got their start in Accounting than

in any other field! And no wonder! As an Accountant you'll be an
“insider’’ on your company’s management team ... the confidential
data you develop will be essential to making major corporate
decisions and even to handling day-to-day company affairs. The
demand for Accountants already far exceeds the supply, as

more than 5 million U.S. firms require financial statements,
bookkeeping systems, etc. to operate daily. Whatever your previous
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ing and tennis shoes. Her other
clothes were in the pile where his dep-
uty had found the wallet containing
Cindy’s identity. The detective had al-
ready dispatched patrol cars to search
the area for possible suspects, and
detectives were going house to house
to question residents in the exclusive
homes in this Oro Valley neighbor-
hood. No roadblocks had been ordered
since there was nothing approaching
a description of a suspect and no ap-
parent witnesses to the murder.

The only thing resembling a clue
was a set of footprints in the loose
sand. Lyon had ordered plaster casts
of the prints, found leading away
from the murder scene. However, he
knew that because of the sifting sand,
they wouldn’t be too accurate a mea-
sure of even shoe size, and no dis-
tinguishing marks had taken in the
soil. No weapon had been found yet.

Reluctantly, Detective Lyon turned
to his car and headed for the Winters’
address as listed on one of the cards
he’d studied, knowing the identifica-
tion must be confirmed and the par-
ents questioned.

The next day, still with no firm sus-
pect in sight, Detective Lyon con-
ferred with Sheriff Burr and other
members of the homicide department
to discuss their findings in the case
thus far. .

Lyon reported that the girl’s father
had positively identified the remains.
He said the girl had left home late
in the afternoon to bicycle to the Oro
Valley Country Club course to meet
some of her friends. Cindy had been
a student at nearby Canyon Del Oro
High School.

“Today,” Detective Lyon told the
sheriff, “some of my men are check-
ing with Cindy’s friends, and looking

over some of her fellow students.” He
confirmed to Burr that the footprints
found at the scene had been small,
and could have been made either by
a small man or a teenaged boy.

“What about the dog” another de-
tective asked.

“Here’s where we might have some-
thing,” Sergeant Lyon said. “Her dad
said it was her pet. Now, remember
the trouble we had getting past the
animal to Cindy? I've got doubts any
stranger could’'ve gotten to her, even
if he’d wanted to take a chance with
such a big dog.”

Sheriff Burr nodded. “Makes good

Intensive investigative work by
Detective John Lyon (above) and
Sheriff Waldon Burr paid off in

arrest of suspect in the killings

sense. That could well be an indica-
tion that the kiler knew her, or at
least knew the dog.” He turned to an-
other of the homicide officers. “Make
sure a very careful study is made of
all those school kids and the family’s
friends. Pay particular attention to-
anyone with a history of sex trouble.”

“Check” was the terse response.
“And were following routine in lo-
cating all known deviates to see where
they were at the time of death.”

On the 29th of March, a week after
the sex-slaying of Cindy Winter,
Sheriff Burr called members of the
Tucson press to a conference. First,
he confirmed a rumor which some
of the crime reporters had been check-
ing that the department had been
questioning two suspects in the kill-
ing. The sheriff said that the feet of
both suspects had appeared to closely
match the rough plaster casts of the
prints discovered at the murder scene.
But as the reporters leaned forward
in anticipation with pens poised for
names and a possible major break in
the case, the sheriff continued, “How-
ever, lie detector tests have completely
cleared the two individuals of any
suspicion. And further confirming
evidence clearing the two has already
been uncovered. They are completely
out of -the picture.” Then Burr
summed up the latest moves by his
office, letting the newsmen know that
Cindy’s bike had been sent to the lab-
oratories of the Federal Bureau of In-
vestigation in Washington, D.C., for
a detailed fingerprint examination.

From there, the Winter murder dis-
solved into routine. There was a
check-out of every .22 caliber gun
which came to the attention of the
department, since pathologist Ander-
son’s final report had shown this as

(Continued on page 10)

This green Mustang was mentioned in statements by witnesses in each of the murders
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Prior to rape-slayings, operator of this digging rig was gunned down (arrow)

the size of the lethal weapon which
killed Cindy. Detective Lyon and his
crews finished their checkout of known
deviates and the friends of the Winter
family with negative results. Sergeant
Lyon had hopes when two men with
rape records had loomed as likely sus-
pects but after a week’s probing both
men’s alibis held up and they were
written off.

During the second week in April, a
story appeared in the Tucson Daily
Star which indicated the general pub-~
lic’s concern over the thus-far fruit-
less search for the killer:

“Residents of the north side
where a 14-year-old girl was shot
to death are raising money in
hopes of offering a $500 reward
for information leading to convic-
tion of the killer.

“Residents of the exclusive
area say they have raised $2,000
in reward money and hope to in-
crease it to $5,000, to help in find-
ing the killer of Cindy Winter,
killed last March 22nd.”

However, the reward offer led to
very few tips, and Detective Lyon was
stymied at least for the time being in
his search for the murderer.

Then came the second killing.

On May 22, 1970, Mrs. Nancy Har-
wood of Tucson was driving the fam-
ily car south of the city, heading for
a short vacation with her two chil-
dren. Mrs. Harwood’s four-year-old
son and two-year-old daughter were
playing happily in the back seat as
she drove toward Rocky Point, Son-
ora, Mexico. That vacation mecca was
the destination of Nancy and her friend,
Mrs. Virginia Lee Hodge, who were
traveling in separate cars.

*

Mrs. Hodge is society editor of the
Arizona Daily Star and her husband
is a former newspaperman now work-
ing for the University of Arizona En-
vironmental Laboratory at Tucson’s
International Airport. Both Mr.
Hodge and Gerald Harwood were
working that week end and unable to
accompany their wives on the vaca-
tion trip. Gerald Harwood was a Uni-
versity of Arizona graduate student
working in biological science research.
Nancy taught fifth grade in the Ex-
ploratory Learning Center at Miles
School in Tucson. The two small pre-
school children in the car with her
were by a previous marriage. In addi-
tion to little Jacob and Natasha Har-
wood, three-year-old Maggie Hodge
was riding in the other car with her
mother to Rocky Point.

The small town of Sells, Arizona
is about 60 miles west of Tucson and
halfway to Ajo on Arizona Highway
86. That highway intersects 10 miles
south of Ajo with Arizona 85 which
goes on to the Mexican border and to
Rocky Point.

Mrs. Hodge was driving her car
just ahead of the Harwood vehicle at
about 2 in the afternoon as the vaca-
tion party neared Sells. In her rear
view mirror, Virginia Hodge noted a
third car following just behind her
friend. It looked like a Ford Mustang,
green in color, and driven by a young
man. Just after passing through Sells,
she noticed Nancy pulling her car off
the road. A small cloud of dust was
kicked up as the car hit the shoulder
of the highway, and she saw the Mus-
tang pulling off the road almost si-
multaneously.

“Oh my,” she muttered to her

daughter, Maggie. “I wonder if she’s
had trouble . . . a flat tire or some-
thing?”

Slowing her own car she scanned
the shoulder of the highway looking
for a spot to pull off, finally noting
a widened area where she stopped to
wait for her friend. But when a peri-
od of several minutes passed and
Nancy hadn’t shown up, Mrs. Hodge
started her engine and turned around
to look for her. That’s when she no-
ticed the green automobile again. It
had pulled up just behind where she
had been parked. As she passed the
Mustang on her way back to the stop-
ping point of Nancy's car, the young
driver waved at her. Self-consciously,
she smiled slightly and waved back,
wondering if Nancy knew the man.

She was unable to locate her friend.
Thinking she might have just missed
seeing the Harwood car, she turned
around and headed again for Rocky
Point. Later, she was to report to po-
lice that she’d spotted the green car
yet a third time, moving back toward

" Sells and passing her as she drove

south.

It was 4:30 that same afternoon
before anyone saw Mrs. Nancy Har-
wood or her two children. Some two-
and-a-half hours after being last seen
by Virginia Hodge, three Papago In-
dians walking about 14 miles west of
Sells spotted two young white children
playing beside the highway, Lloyd
Hendricks, Fernando Campello and
Mike Francisco stopped their car as
they traveled home from work and
questioned the little boy and girl—the
Harwood tots.

The four-year-old boy, Jacob, said
to Hendricks, “My mommy has been
shot,” and pointed into the desert.

Hendricks, Campello and Francisco
put the kids into their car and spread
out, searching the area on foot until
Campello found a set of tire tracks.

“Hey!” he called to his fellow
workers. “Over here!”

They walked about two-tenths of a
mile from the highway and discov-
ered a car stuck in a wash. Mrs. Har-
wood was lying beside it. She ‘had
been shot twice in the head, but she
was still alive. Campello ran back and
drove their car through the thick
brush to the Harwood vehicle. The
three Indians carefully lifted the un-
conscious Nancy Harwood into the
back seat of their car. Holding little
Jacob and Natasha in their laps in
the front seat the men rushed to the
Sells hospital.

Mrs. Harwood died before the 14-
mile distance was covered. She never
recovered consciousness, and she never
uttered a word.

Again Sheriff Burr’s Pima County
office in Tucson was contacted and
Sergeant John Lyon was dispatched
to oversee the investigation. The chief
homicide detective hurried to the Sells
hospital where he left one of his men
to talk to Jacob and Natasha while
the Indians (Continued on page 79)
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THE
MURDEROUS
BLONDE
 SEXPOT
IS FREE
TO KILL
AGAIN!

* by FRED A. KINGMAN

Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

(above and below), defense attorney KPARKING ot
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During trial of attractive defendant a}yg*" WW ﬁg ﬁ;:g !gf

commented: “| am not here to defend

Sharon Kinne’s morals. Obviously she
likes boys. But that's not murder”

Soean e .

Patricia Jones entered a Thunderbird on the night of her murder. Only four
weeks before; Sharon Kinne had bought Thunderbird from Patricia’s husband
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With a record of five murder trials in two counties, a Missouri

chick named Sharon Kinne has heen free as a hird for nearly

two years after crashing out of a Mexican prison. Wherever

she is, police theorize, she’s with a sex partner—of one sex

or another-who just might hecome her next murder victim . . .

SUNDAY, December 7, 1969, was
a rather pleasant day at La Carcel de
Mujeres, a women’s penitentiary in
Ixtapalapa, Mexico, a suburb of Mex-
ico City. It was, perhaps it should
be said, as pleasant as any day can
be inside the grim walls of a prison.
Crowds of visitors filed into the
minimum security institution during
the day to reassure the inmates that
their families were waiting for them
on the outside, pending the day they
would be released.

For the two American women held
at La Carcel de Mujeres, visiting day
was merely another day to be
marked off on the calendar, another
dismal, lost day of incarceration. One
of the women expected no visitors.
She had entered the prison only four
days before and was not yet permit-
ted to have visitors.

And for Mrs. Sharon Kinne, a 29-
year-old Independence, Missouri,
woman who was serving a 13-year
sentence for murder, the day held
no promises either, that is, as events
developed, so far as visitors were
concerned. During the five years
Sharon had been behind bars, her
visitors had been few. Occasionally,
an American journalist hoping to
write a story for an American news-
paper about the still vivacious young
woman would seek and be granted
an interview. But it was always the
same. After the interview, Sharon
again sank into the oblivion of prison
life.

At 5:30 p.m., with the end of visit-
ing hours, many of the inmates
began assembling for the Sunday
night movie. Not all of the prisoners
responded to the movie call. Mrs.
Kinne was one of them.

While the movie was in progress,
sometime after 6:30 o’clock, there
was a three-to-eight-minute black-
out in the prison caused by an elec-
trical power failure. When the power

N i}

was restored the movie continued to
its conclusion and the women were
returned to their cells for the night.

It was about 8 o’clock when prison
guards made a startling discovery.
Sharon Kinne and two other women
were missing!

Guards ran through the interior of
the prison shouting the names of the
missing inmates. Subsequently, two
of the women were located—but
Sharon Kinne was not one of them.

Guards continued to search the
prison and to question other inmates
about Mrs. Kinne. Apparently the
last time she was seen was about 5
o’clock, when she was observed by
a guard walking toward a room in
which children of the imprisoned
women attended school classes dur-
ing the day. In rapid succession
guards made additional discoveries.

There was a padlock on the door
to the classroom, but the lock was
open. Next, guards found a leather
belt tied to a tree branch at the wall.

To Maria de Lourdes Ricaud, Di-
rector of La Carcel de Mujeres, the
facts were becoming alarmingly
clear. First, there was the unprec-
edented electrical failure; then, the
door that “always is padlocked” but,
for some reason, was not locked that
Sunday night; the belt on the tree
by the wall; and finally, the disap-
pearance of Sharon Kinne!

It all added up to just one thing.
At 2 am. Mrs. Ricaud notified the
Mexico City Judicial Police that Mrs.
Kinne apparently had escaped from
La Carcel de Mujeres. Police imme-
diately began combing the country-
side around the prison, but the at-
tractive young blonde had left no
trail.

At first prison authorities thought
that perhaps Sharon had disguised
herself in some manner and left the
prison in the crowd of visitors. But
as the investigation continued, the

authorities reached the conclusion
that Sharon probably had made her
escape just after visiting hours, when
most of the prison population was
watching the movie.

They theorized that she had
crossed a roof to a gas pipe, slid
down the pipe to the prison patio,
and then entered the children’s class-
room. From there she climbed out
onto a wall and used the belt tied to
the tree branch to drop to freedom
on the other side of the wall.

There were guardhouses at the
four corners of the wall of the prison.
It was learned, however, that the
guards had left their posts to dump
the prison garbage while the movie
was in progress. To have followed
the escape route suggested by the
authorities, Sharon would have
passed the dining hall where the
inmates were watching the movie.
Because of the movie the large win-
dows in the dining hall were covered
with heavy curtains.

Carlos Puentes Avila of the Mex-
ico City Judicial Police assumed
direction of the search for Sharon
Kinne. It was obvious from the be-
ginning that vigilance at the prison
that Sunday night had been
extremely light; there were, in fact,
any number of ways in which Sharon
might have escaped.

Avila thought that perhaps she
might have bribed one or more of
the guards, either with money or a
reward of another nature, to leave
the door unlocked. He also consid-
ered the possibility that a former
inmate or another accomplice had
helped her flee once she was out-
side the wall.

He also reasoned that Mrs. Kinne
could have dyed her hair, or even
disguised herself as a man, and min-
gled with the visitors who were leav~
ing at the conclusion of visiting
hours. Those who had known Sharon
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Chief Detective Harry Nesbitt (1.), Sgt. Floyd Delapp
examine bullet slug found near body of Mrs. Jones

back in her home town of Indepen-

dence would wundoubtedly chuckle
over the idea that the sexy, young
woman disguised herself as a man!

As the investigation continued,
other theories developed. It was
learned that a woman who had iden-
tified herself as Sharon’s mother
called her on the telephone from
Anchorage, Alaska, at 6:30 a.m. that
Sunday morning. The woman was not
permitted to talk to Sharon because
of the early hour. About a year
before Sharon had been permitted
to answer a similar call from An-
chorage. It was determined that
Sharon’s mother actually was living
in Anchorage.

Prison officials also reported to
Avila that Mrs. Kinne received a
letter earlier from her mother in
which the mother stated:

“No matter what you are you are
still my daughter and I will help you
in every way as much as I can so
that you may be near me.”

Photographs of the attractive es-
capee were distributed in towns and
villages near the border and at
frontier crossing points. Transporta-
tion terminals throughout the coun-
try were put under close police
scrutiny. :

Mrs. Ricaud, the prison director,
was grimly confident that Sharon
would be captured. “Mrs. Kinne
won’t get far. She will spend another
Christmas with us,” she said flatly.

Mrs. Ricaud disputed the conten-

tion that Sharon
had bribed one or
more of the
guards to aid her
escape. However,
she acknowl-
edged that as a
part of the institution’s policy super-
vision at the prison was minimal.

“There are not enough policemen
on guard at the walls, since it is our
policy not to make the inmates feel
overguarded,” she explained. “Mod-
ern penologists advise avoiding over-
dramatizing vigilance, especially in
women’s prisons, to avoid traumas,”
she added.

Mrs. Kinne was one of the few
escapees since the prison had been
opened in 1954 and she was the only
one in 1969. However, she was not
the only American to escape from a
Mexican prison that year.

In April, Dykes Askew Simmons
Jr., who was convicted of killing
three young Mexicans nearly 10
years before, escaped from a max-
imum security prison for men in
Monterrey, Mexico. Simmons first
was sentenced to death before a fir-
ing squad but the sentence later was
commuted to 30 years in prison.

When he was safely back in the
United States, Simmons boasted that
he had bribed a guard for a key to
his cell. Through an accomplice he
obtained a nun’s habit and makeup
to darken his face and walked out of
the prison with a crowd of Sunday
visitors. He was driven north across
the border in the secret compartment
of a car. Less than six months later,
however, Simmons was slain in a
fight in Fort Worth, Texas.

There was a parallel in the two
escapes if Sharon Kinne had, indeed,

A .22 caliber slug served as vital evidence at Sharon
Kinne's trial. Missing murder weapon and mismatched slugs
made the going very difficult for prosecuting attorney

bribed a guard and then disguised
herself as a man and walked out of
the prison with the Sunday visitors.
Was there also the possibility that
she, too, had an accomplice? Could
that accomplice have been a former
inmate?

The police learned that Mrs. Kinne
had made only one really close friend
during the time she was in prison,
and that friend was now released.
Prison officials said that Sharon was
hated by virtually all the other in-
mates. It seemed likely that if she
had assistance, it was the result of
bribes and help from the outside.

Sharon’s close friend was Molanda
Sanchez Lopez. They were the only
two women who were permitted to
share a cell. All other inmates are
four to a cell. There was no official
explanation for the privilege grant-
ed Sharon and Yolanda, and the
ramifications of the association in-
trigued the police.

They learned that Sharon taught
English to Yolanda and the latter
taught Sharon to speak Spanish.
After her release, Yolanda had often
visited Sharon on week ends.

The police learned that Yolanda
was last known to be living in the
state of Aguascalientes, about 325
miles northwest of Mexico City. Offi-
cers went to Aguascalientes seeking
Yolanda for questioning about her
former cellmate. But, after several
days of searching the officers found
no trace of either Yolanda or Sharon,
nor did they find anyone who could
provide a lead to Yolanda’s current
whereabouts. Apparently she had
dropped out of circulation.

There were other theories about
the escape. One which police gave
considerable credence to was that



After the murder in the Mexican capital, police found cartridges and these pistols in Sharon Kinne’s handbag. One belonged to
her, she admitted quite candidly, but she claimed that the second weapon was the property of an acquaintance from Chicago

Sharon had assistance from a former
police officer named Manuel Her-
nandez, who had visited her on occa-
sion. Hernandez was being sought by
police in the $15,000 payroll holdup
of two government employes two
weeks before Sharon’s escape. The
authorities considered the possibility
that Hernandez could have supplied
Sharon with a disguise and then
waited for her outside the prison
wall,

There also was a matter of police
prestige involved. The old cliche that
Mexican police methods are gener-
ally ineffective is not completely
valid. American authorities who have
worked with Mexican law enforce-
ment agencies have remarked that
the Mexican police are highly effec-
tive when they want to be.

“When they really want somebody
they usually get him,” an American
police officer observed. “And,” he
added, “they really want Mrs. Kinne
and Hernandez.”

In all, officers from four separate
agencies had joined in the search for
Sharon Kinne. They included the
Federal District Attorney’s Office;
the Mexico City District Attorney’s
Office; the Mexican Secret Po-
lice; and the Mexico City Police
Department. The fact that the Mex-~
ico City police continued to investi-
gate the escape indicated that they
thought Sharon might be hiding
some place in that city of seven mil-
lion persons.

Beyond acknowledging that Shar-
on could have escaped either by
going over the wall or disguising her-
self as a man, the authorities or-
dered a virtual news blackout on
information they released about the

escape. The Mexican newspapers,
however, carried front page stories
about Sharon’s escape and her bi-
zarre past, which dated back to a
murder trial when she was only 19
years old.

The Mexican press referred to the
blonde American as “La Pistolera.”
The name of Sharon Kinne had
become almost as popular in Mexico
City as it was in Kansas City, Mis-
souri, in the early 1960s, when it was
as much a household name as Betty
Crocker.

In the space of only four years,
Sharon had four trials in Kansas
City on two separate murder charg-
es, and yet was still free to make a
trip to Mexico City where she sub-
sequently was involved in yet an-
other murder!

Sharon was only 19 years old when
she became a headliner in Kansas
City—and a widow. Four years be-
fore that she had become a bride. It
all started on a Saturday night,
March 19, 1960.

Sergeant Ed Leahy bf the Sher-
iff’s Patrol of Jackson County, Mis-
souri, responded to a call from a
“hysterical woman” who said that
her husband needed help. When
Sergeant Leahy reached the home
he found that the husband, James A.
Kinne, 25 years old, was beyond help.
He was dying from a bullet wound
in the back of his head. On the
bloodsoaked pillow was a .22 caliber
automatic pistol.

Leahy was soon joined by Lieu-
tenant Harry Nesbitt and Sergeant
James Browning who attempted to
question the wide-eyed, innocent ap-
pearing Sharon Kinne. She was vir-
tually incoherent. Standing beside
her mother, obviously unable to

comprehend all the confusion and
crying, was the Kinnes' pretty little
21p-year-old daughter. When Sharon
was unable to control her emotions
she was given a sedative by her fam-
ily doctor and taken, along with her
baby, to the home of her husband’s
parents.

The next morning Sharon was
much more composed and able to
give officers an account of what had
transpired at her home the previous
afternoon that culminated in the
death of her husband. She said that
her husband went into the bedroom
to take a nap. About 5 o’clock, when
she was taking a bath, she heard
the little girl playing in the bedroom
where her father was asleep.

“Then, I heard the shot,” she said
softly.

She had rushed into the bedroom,
where she found the baby standing
beside the bed and her husband,
blood gushing from his. head,
sprawled on the bed. On the pillow
was the automatic pistol.

“Are you saying the little girl fired
the shot?” Sergeant Browning in-
quired incredulously.

Sharon nodded affirmatively. She
went on to say that her husband was
very careless in his handling of the
gun. He left it lying on a lower shelf
of a bookcase in the bedroom.

“But what makes you think the
little girl would pick it up?” Brown-
ing persisted.’

In a cool, calm voice Sharon ex-
plained to the officer that her hus-
band frequently let the little girl
play with the gun. He always un-
loaded it before he handed it to her
to play with, and then loaded it again
later. Apparently, when the child
saw the gun on the shelf she thought
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it was all right to pick it up and play
with it. Apparently, the gun had
accidentally discharged and the bul-
let struck James Kinne’s head.

Browning shook his head in
amazement. It was an incredible
story. However, after several more
days of investigation the deputies
were unable to find any evidence to
dispute Sharon’s conclusions on the
shooting. The Jackson County Cor-
oner ruled that the death of James
A. Kinne was accidental.

Hence, Sharon Kinne became a
latter day Merry Widow. The bene-
fits from her husband’s insurance
policies enabled the shapely young
woman to outfit herself with a new
wardrobe and a shiny, new car. She
soon was one of the more popular
women in the Kansas City-Indepen-
dence area. But Sharon’s life was
soon to take a sharp variation from
the happily-ever-after theme. Less
than two months after her husband
was buried, Sharon was once again
involved in a violent death.

At 11:30 o’clock on the night of

 May 27, 1960, Sharon and a hoy-
friend were driving along a Lover’s
Lane in Jackson County. Suddenly,
the headlights picked up the form of
a woman lying in the tall grass along
the lane.

When they stopped to investigate
they found that it was a young woman,
fully clothed, who had been shot sev-
eral times, apparently at close range.
She was very dead:

Sharon and her friend called the
sheriff’s office and notified them of
their discovery. Subsequent investi-
gation disclosed that the woman was
Mrs. Patricia Jones, 23 years old,
who had been reported missing ear-
lier that afternoon by her husband.
She had been shot four times at close
range with a .22 caliber pistol.

The grief-stricken husband told
deputies that he reported his wife
missing after she failed to come home

Thursday night. He could give no
explanation whatsoever for his at-
tractive wife’s death. He was pos-
itive she was not involved in a love
affair, and certain that she had no
enemies who would want to kill her.

It was a strange case. What pos-
sible motive was there? Not robbery,
and it was not a sex killing.

In checking out the neighborhood
where Mrs. Jones lived, Lieutenant
Nesbitt and Browning learned that
Patricia Jones was seen entering a
late model Thunderbird the evening
she disappeared. The driver of that
car was a woman, the officers were
told.

It seemed quite likely that the
driver of the Thunderbird might
have significant information about
Mrs. Jones’s activities the night she
disappeared. The officers concluded
that the key to the driver’s identity

was the Thunderbird, and they un--

dertook to check out all Thunder-
bird dealers in the area. It was an
arduous task, but one the officers
moved quickly on.

The following day at an agency in
Independence they turned up some
startling information. The officers
found that on April 30th a new
Thunderbird had been sold to a Mrs.
Sharon Kinne. It was more than a
mild surprise, but nothing compared
to the shock the officers got when
the dealer introduced them to the
salesman who had sold Sharon the
Thunderbird. It was Patricia Jones’
husband!

In the questioning that followed,
it was immediately obvious that Pa-
tricia’s husband had not attempted
to conceal anything from the officers
when they questioned him about his
wife’s murder. No one asked him
about Sharon Kinne, and there was
no reason for him even to think
about her in connection with his
wife’s death.

But in the !light of the new

Intensive search for the weapon used in the second slaying to involve

the deadly blonde mother failed to turn up that vital piece of evidence

evidence, the husband was more
reflective. He admitted that he had
seen Sharon a few times after he
sold her the car and that she knew
he was married. Still, he found it
difficult to believe that Sharon could
have had anything to do with Pa-
tricia’s death.

When Nesbitt and Browning ques-
tioned Sharon about her association
with Patricia Jones’ husband they
found her a calm, poised woman
completely unruffled by the insinua-
tion that she might be involved in
the woman's death.

What about the victim’s husband?
they inquired.

“Sure, I've seen him a few times.
Why shouldn’t I? I'm a widow,” she
retorted.

Lieutenant Nesbitt asked Sharon
when she last saw Patricia prior to
discovering her body in the Lover’s
Lane. The woman didn’t hesitate.

“On Thursday evening. She got
into my car near her home and we
drove around and talked.”

“About her husband?” Nesbitt in-
quired.

“More or less,” Sharon replied in
an offhand manner.

She explained that she told Pa-
tricia that her husband was seeing
her (Sharon’s) sister. She did this,
she said, to gauge Patricia’s reaction
to the implication that her husband
was seeing another woman. Patricia
took the news calmly and simply re-
marked that she would talk to her
husband about it, Sharon told the
officers.

She insisted that she let Mrs. Jones
out of her car five blocks from her
home and that was the last time she
saw her until she found her body. So
far as her happening to find the
body, it was only a coincidence, she
asserted.

In September, 1960, the Jackson
County grand jury indicted Sharon
on a charge of murdering Patricia
Jones. But, that was not the stunner
of the day. The grand jury also
returned an indictment charging
Sharon with killing her husband,
James A. Kinne!

In June, 1961, Sharon went on trial
for the Jones murder. Although the
County Attorney handled the case
admirably, there was a missing link
that handicapped him from the very
beginning. The state had been unable
to produce the weapon which killed
Mrs. Jones.

James Patrick Quinn, one of Kan-
sas City's most skillful defense attor-
neys, argued to the jury that the
state’s case was all circumstantial.

“I am not here to defend Sharon
Kinne’s morals. She’s a young girl.
Obviously, she likes boys. But, that’s
not murder. If her morals were per-
fect she would not have been in-
volved in this case. But, she is pro-
tected by the presumption of inno-
cence,” Quinn asserted.

The jury deliberated only an hour
and 15 minutes before finding Sharon
not guilty. (Continued on page 64)



Questioned about the husband of a slain woman, Sharon said: “Sure, I've seen him a few times. Why shouldn’t I1? I'm a widow”
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The body parts, found weeks and miles apart, had to be put
together like a jigsaw before Indiana probers could establish
the identity of the torso murder victim. Soon after that
was determined, they found reason to wonder:

Detective Allen (leff) and Sheriff McKinney search for clues
along Little Sand Creek, where first section of human body
(under blanket in photo below) was spotted by passing motorist

by BILL ORMSBY
Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

Ten days after the first gruesome find, a man’s rib cage was discovered near this bridge in an adjoining count
Y g adj g Y
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‘T WAS shortly after 3 o’clock on
the afternoon of March 16, 1971,
when Indiana State Police detec~
tives and deputies out of the of-

fice of Bartholomew County
Sheriff Jim McKinney began inves-
tigating one of the most gruesome
and bizarre murder cases ever han-
dled in the Hoosier State. Although
homicide investigators generally have
a body to begin with, Sheriff McKin-
ney and his fellow officers only had
about one-third that much in this
particular grisly case. Aside from de-
termining the victim’s sex, it was the
worst third of the human anatomy to
start with for identification purposes,
since it was that portion from just be-
.Jow the navel to the knees. It was the
torso of a white male, discovered on
the east side of U.S. 31 about seven
miles south of Columbus by a Sey-
mour motorist and his 17-year-old
son.

“Something was wrong with the
car,” the shocked parent told Sheriff
McKinney and state police Detective
Sergeant Robert Allen, “and I pulled
off the road to see what was wrong
with it. While standing here trying to
decide what to do, I saw the body ly-
ing there on the embankment. At first
I didn’t know what it was. Then I
walked down there to get a closer
look. God, it made me sick!”

The witness told McKinney and
Allen that he sent his son in search
of a farmhouse from which to phone
‘the sheriff’s office.

Arriving on the scene shortly after
the appearance of Sheriff McKinney
and Sergeant Allen were County
Coroner Kenneth Schneider, techni-

‘cian Paul Jewett and Sergeant Dale

Swider from the State Police, and
several sheriff’'s deputies. The first
officials to examine the nude torso
closely were Coroner Schneider and
Technician Jewett. Schneider said
that although it would take laboratory
analysis to narrow down the victim’s
age, he theorized that the man was
“about middle age, give or take a
couple of years.”

“Any idea how long he's been
dead?” Sergeant Allen asked.

“Not too long,” the coroner said.
“Rigor mortis has not completely set
in. I'd say, offthand, death occurred in
the past twelve hours or so, maybe as
recent as the last five or six.”

The torso lay about 20 feet off the
roadway on a gently sloping embank-
ment which ran down to a drainage
ditch about 30 feet south of Little
Sand Creek. While McKinney,
Schneider, Allen and Jewett were ex-
amining the body and discussing the
weird case, deputies and state troop-
ers roped the scene off and began
searching the immediate area for ev-
idence. Although the butchering job
on the human corpse appeared to
have been done with a jagged-edged
instrument, the officers noticed that
the cuts through the joints were done
rather neatly, as if a different tool
had been used to cut the tendons and
muscles which once held the parts to-
gether.

“It looks like that whoever did this
may have had some experience in
dressing out wild game,” one officer
said. . .

“Yes, there’s not much damage to
the bones,” the coroner said. “They

cut neatly between them in the right
places.”

The lawmen, each of whom had
years of experience examining bodies
at the scenes of horrible auto acci-
dents and other disasters, were im-
pressed by the lack of blood on and
around the severed torso. Unable
even to find bloodstains on the re-
mains, they concluded it had been
washed thoroughly before being
transported to its resting place.

“From all appearances, the body
was probably drained of blood before
it was cut up,” Coroner Schneider of-
fered.

After the body and surrounding
area were diagrammed and photo-
graphed by Technician Jewett, the
torso was removed to Marion County
General Hospital at Indianapolis,
about 50 miles north of the scene. In
the meantime, Detective Sergeant Al-
len radioed his commander at the
Seymour post, Lieutenant Robert
Pond, and requested assistance to
search the area for evidence and to
man roadblocks in attempts to locate
possible witnesses. Sheriff McKinney
also advised his dispatcher to contact
every available man and within the
hour, more than 30 state and county
lawmen were at the scene. Also
pressed into service was the State
Police helicopter, which skimmed low
over the countryside the remainder
of the day while a spotter attempted
to find other parts of thevictim’s
bedy.

In the meantime, teams of troopers

.and deputies fanned out from the

scene, walking the banks of Little
Sand Creek, scanning the embank-
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ments and culverts along U.S. 31 and
searching the nearby fields and
woods in a vain attempt to find the
rest of the butchered man.

About an hour after the posse
struck out, a pair of deputy sheriffs
located a blue plaid shirt in a ditch
along the highway, nearly a half-mile
from where the man’s torso was
found.

“What do you think?” Sheriff Mc-
Kinney asked Sergeant Allen as they
examined the garment.

“I don’t know for sure. But it’s got
some stains on it that need to be
checked out,” the state detective re-
plied. “What was the waist measure-
ment on the body? Do you recall?”

“Thirty-six inches, I believe,” the
sheriff said, flipping through his note-
book. “Yes, just a hair short of thir-
ty-six, according to my notes.”

Detective Allen and Sheriff McKinney checked items of
evidence in the grisly dismemberment slaying case, and
(below) reviewed progress of probe with other officials

“There’s no size tag on this shirt,
but from the looks of it I'd say it’s
too small for a man with a girth like
that. But it's worth looking into,”
Sergeant Allen said, as he filled out
an evidence tag and clipped it to the
discarded shirt.

And then about dusk Sergeant Al-
len and Sheriff McKinney were no-
tified that another man’s shirt had
been found along U.S. 31 about three
miles south of the crime scene. It was
a red plaid shirt which had been dis-
carded on the east side of the high-
way only a few feet from a bridge
which crossed Big Sand Creek. The
garment appeared to be about the
size the dead man might have worn,
so it too was tagged for later exam-
ination at the state police crime lab-
oratories at Indianapolis.

When darkness settled over the

iﬁgg;gi“ﬁ

rolling countryside of southern In-
idana no other evidence of conse-
quence had been found and the
search for the missing parts of the
body was postponed until the follow-
ing morning. Throughout the night,
however, at checkpoints along U.S.
31, deputies and troopers stopped all
passing cars in an attempt to find
somebody who may have seen sus-
picious activities in the area during
the day. By mid-evening the police
departments at Columbus and In-
dianapolis were being flooded with
calls from friends and worried rela-
tives of missing persons, requesting
further information about possible
identifying marks on the torso. Even
though officials could be of little help
to the frantic callers, they neverthe-
less took down all the information
they could get on the missing persons
to make comparisons in the event
other parts of the body were found.

The following morning, Sheriff Mc-
Kinney and Sergeant Allen re-
grouped their search party and
enlisted conservation officials and
state police scuba divers to scan the
bottoms of Little and Big Sand
Creeks. In the meantime, the two
lawmen heading the investigation had
been informed by Dr. James A. Benz,
pathologist at Marion County Gener-
al Hospital, that preliminary tests in-
dicated the torso was that of a man
25 to 35 years old. Dr. Benz said the
body hair was dark brown, and if the
missing parts of the corpse followed
the general bone structure and flesh-
iness of the severed torso, he sus-
pected the victim weighed between
190 and 200 pounds. The victim had
Type O-positive blood, the pathologist
said. Dr. Benz told McKinney and
Allen that he could not locate any
birthmarks or identifying surgical
scars on the torso. X-rays taken- by
radiologists did not reveal any bro-
ken bones.

What appeared to be the first major
break in the mystery came about
8:30 that morning when the dispatch-
er at the Seymour State Police

" Post received a. frantic call from a

young Reddington mother who said
she had just witnessed a man “trying
to kill my baby!” The message was
immediately radioed to Sergeant Al-
len, who was with the search party,
and within seconds he had a half-
dozen police cars enroute to Redding-

- ton, located on U.S. 31 only seven

miles south of where the torso was
found.

The panic-stricken young house-
wife told Allen that she had scared
off the would-be “killer” and said he
fled on foot across the road toward
the Christian Church, located across
the road from her house. Troopers
and deputies surrounded the church
while a team of detectives armed
with shotguns inched their way from
door-to-door and window-to-window
to see if the assailant might have
forced one of the openings, When it
was learned that the doors and win-
dows were locked, an officer was sent



to the parsonage to get a key. Mean-
while, patrol cars covered the sur-
rounding gravel roads to cut off the
intruder’s escape in the event he
broke out of the woods and farm
fields adjacent to the tiny community.
The fugitive was never seen, how-
ever, and police could find no indica-
tions that he had entered the church.

The horrified young mother, crying
and pressing her baby to her bosom,
told Detective Sergeant Allen that
she was working in the backyard
when the intruder apparently en-
tered the house from the front door.

“T heard the baby start crying,” the
woman said, “and then all of a sud-
den it quit. I went in to check on him
and found this man pressing a pillow
against its face. I was so scared that
at first I couldn’t do anything. Then
1 started screaming and the man
pushed me aside and ran out the
door.”

“Did you get a look at his face?”
Sergeant Allen asked.

“Yes, and T'll never forget it—nev=~
er!” she replied.

She said the man was white, about
35 to 40 years old. She said he had
“dirty blond” shoulder-length hair
and was about six feet tall.

“How was he dressed?” Sergeant
Allen asked.

“He had on a black jacket and
dungarees. I didn’t notice what kind
of shoes he wore but his footsteps
sounded kinda soft when he ran
through the house like he might have
had sneakers on.” She said she had
never seen the man around the vil-
age before.

Several drawers in the child’s bed-
room were pulled out, leading Ser-
geant Alle to believe the woman
had surprised a transient burglar
who probably saw her working in the
backyard and presumed he’d have
time to make a fast haul before she
came back in.

“He apparently made the mistake
of starting in the baby’s room and
woke the child up with his ransack-
ing,” Allen told newsmen. The state
officer said that although an alert
was put out on the intruder, he
doubted that the man was involved
in the torso case. After assuring the
frightened woman that police would
keep an eye on her house and con-
tinue their search for the -culprit,
Sergeant Allen returned to the task
of directing operations in the search
for the missing parts of someone’s
body.

From officers manning the road-
blocks, Allen learned that several
people recalled seeing cars parked
near the Little Sand Creek bridge
prior to'3 p.m. Tuesday but nobody
was able to give police a description
on the autos. Later in the day, the
state police detective and several
troopers canvassed business estab-
lishments and residences in the near-
by tiny villages in hopes of finding
somebody who may have seen some-
thing helpful while traveling along
U.S. 31, the main thoroughfare to the

larger cities of Columbus and Indian-
apolis. But by nightfall the case was
at a standstill and the butchered man
was still unidentified.

At the suggestion of officials at
Marion County General Hospital, ar-
rangements were made the next day
to take the torso to Washington, D.C.,
where authorities at the Smithsonian
Institution Division on Physical An-
thropology agreed to examine the ev-
idence in an attempt to determine the
victim’s height, weight and other
characteristics which might help lead
to the man’s identity. The torsc was
packed in ice and put on a plane
bound for Washington that afternoon
with state police Sergeant Dale
Swider and Technician Paul Jewett.

While awaiting the results of the
tests in the capital, police in Indiana
continued their search for the missing
body parts and studied the missing
persons reports which by then were
coming from all over the region, in-
cluding cities in Ohio, Kentucky, and
Illinois.

“We also reviewed our case reports
on two other bodies which were
found on roadways near Columbus in
the past year to see if there might be
a connection between the three
cases,” Sergeant Allen said later.

One was the mysterious slaying of
50-year-old Dallas Tolson, a hitch-
hiker from Virginia whose gunned
body was found December 1, 1969, ly-
ing on Interstate 65 near Columbus.
Mostly because of the time lapse be-
tween Tolson’s murder and the torso
case at hand, police doubted that
there was a link between the two
cases. But they weren’t so anxious to
immediately rule out a possible con-
nection between the next incidents,
since they had occurred within 25
miles of each other and only three
weeks apart.

It was about 6:45 a.m. on February
23, 1971, when State Trooper James
Theobald came across the half-nude
body of a man lying in the middle of
Interstate 74 near Greensburg, which
is less than 30 miles due east of Co-
lumbus. Since the corpse was within
30 feet of the Moscow Road overpass,
police theorized it had been tossed
from the bridge above. The body was
clad in five sweatshirts, a sport shirt
and undershirt. Missing were the vie-
tim’s pants, undershorts and shoes.

There was no identification on the
body and the face was so mangled,
apparently from being run over, that
it was not until March 2nd that po-
lice knew whose murder they were
investigating. The victim was iden-
tified through FBI fingerprint records
as Lionel J. Thibeault, a 21-year-old
North Brookfield, Massachusetts res-
ident who was hitchhiking around
the country. Death was attributed to
a pair of .22 caliber bullet wounds,
one near the heart and another in
the back.

According to the victim’s parents,
the youth left home on Feburary 2nd,
hitchhiking toward New Orleans,
Louisiana, to witness the annual

Beverly Jean Landers, here being
fingerprinted by police matron,
was quizzed about missing husband

Mardi Gras. Thibeault was arrested
February 17th in Clearwater, Flor-
ida, on vagrancy charges that resulted
in the fingerprints which eventu-
ally led to his identification in
Indiana.

Although police never determined
exactly where the young man was
slain, they theorized that he was shot
to death near the entrance of the
Shiloh Cemetery, about three miles
north of where the body was found.
The assessment was made after po-
lice found a smashed pair of metal-
framed eyeglasses, a harmonica and
a trail of blood at the gateway to the
graveyard. Investigators followed the
blood for about a 100 feet, to a point
where it was apparent that the vie-
tim fell and bled profusely. Although
Thibeault’s Type A blood matched
that found in the cemetery, police
said it was not proof-positive that the
youth was slain in the burial grounds.

“We always felt that he was,
though,” said Trooper Thomas Strad-
er, who headed the investigation on
special assignment. “We were of the
opinion that he was shot first during
a struggle and then was gunned in
the back when he fell while trying to
get away from his assailant. Because
there were no drag marks near the
large pool of blood, we presumed the
victim was then carried back to a car.
That was one aspect of our theory
we never could substantiate.”

At this writing, police were still
pondering this and numerous other
theories, since the case was still un-
solved, along (Continued on page 69)
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YOUTH’S

COUNTER-CULTURE REVOLUTION
... THE WAY ITIS . ..

DOING THE SEX THING
AT COLLEGE

“...Idon’t want a love affair . . . I just like sex, not love.

So whoever’s not busy, that’s my datefor the night. That way I still have

some energy left over for my studies.”’

ILLIONS of members of

today’s youth counter-cul-

ture have turned the

nation’s college and uni-

versity campuses into vast
arenas where free love is as common-
place as free thought used to be, and
where wide-open drug use has re-
placed the beer-and-booze partying
of the recent past.

On many campuses, girl students
and boy students literally live to-
gether in official dormitory housing
with the tacit approval of adminis-
tration officials. And, where dormi-
tories have been designed to house
four, eight or even 16 students in
one room, these arrangements fre-
quently are turned into communal
love pads, complete with group sex-
ual relations, group drug-taking and
—the kids are quick to point out—
group study sessions.

Even at colleges which have clung
to such old-fashioned ways as main-
taining separate dormitories for men
and women, there usually are off-

Author Donald Singleton won the
30th annual Heywood Brown Award
of the American Newspaper Guild
for his series in the New York Daily
News dealing with problems of
crime in New York City.

by DONALD SINGLETON

On Special Assignment for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

campus communes clustered around
most of the larger academic institu-
tions for those who want the free~
love lifestyle of the counter-culture
revolution.

Most of the wuniversities which
offer or approve of these new living
plans claim there have been no ill
effects. No student is forced to par-
ticipate in any coeducational activ-
ity, the administrators say, and in
many colleges, living arrangements
and visitation rules are established
by student vote at the beginning of
each semester.

“What the hell,” says an assistant
dean of students at one Ivy League
college, ‘“the kids are no babies.
They're seventeen or eighteen years
old when they arrive here, and
they're far more worldly than our
generation ever was at their age.
Some of them have been to Viet Nam
and back. And they're paying to
come here. It's their education, their
bodies, their lives. So where do we
come off trying to cram our moral
values down their throats?”

Others are more concerned. A so-

.ciology instructor at a Boston uni-

versity, for example, has forbidden
his own daughter to live in coed
dormitory housing at the Midwestern
college she attends. “Social institu-
tions are constantly changing, and
that’'s fine,” he says. “But change

usually comes slowly, in an evolu-
tionary way. Things are changing so
fast on these campuses today that
I'm really worried. This could have
a tremendously negative impact on
the whole culture when these kids
graduate and go out into the world
with their campus morality.”

The students scoff at such concern.
Of the dozens of students I inter-
viewed in researching this article,
nearly all felt that adult criticism of
the counter-cultural lifestyle stems
from simple sour grapes.

“The old grayheads who act so
shocked about open dorms and
communes and stuff like that, they're
just envious,” said a blonde sopho-
more who lives in an off-campus
commune in a Brooklyn brownstone.
“Most of them spent their whole col-
lege careers trying to cop a cheap
feel under somebody’s raccoon coat,
or getting bombed on beer in the
rumble seat of an old rattletrap.
When they see their kids doing it
right up front—out in the open—it
just blows their minds.”

“It’s true,” agreed the young man
whose head rested in her lap. “I
used to hear my old man swapping
stories with his friends. He used to
brag like hell about the night he and
his roommate managed to smuggle
two girls into their rooms. You know,
two town girls. But now, he thinks
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‘. .. the only people who don’t have sex are a few weirdos

who get their kicks in others ways. Chastity is from another age . . . the word

for yesterday. The word for today is ‘fun.’ ”’

everybody who wants to live in a
coed dormitory is some kind of a de-
generate, If he knew I was living
here with all these brothers and sis-
ters, he’d flip out. You know where
he thinks I'm living? A fraternity
house.” .

The 14 “brothers and sisters” in the
Brooklyn commune all qualified as
members of the counter-culture, as
opposed to the more “straight” mem-
bers of the academic community. All
of them wore their hair extremely
long, and all were dressed in the
funkiest clothing imaginable. The
girls wore no bras under thin cotton
tee shirts. Patched, fringed and torn
dungarees were the uniform of the
day.

They weren’t all college students,
either." Two of the men had grad-
uated the previous year, and were
just “hiding out from the draft,” they
said. And one of the women had
never been to college in her life-—at
least not as a student. She worked
in the cafeteria at Brooklyn College.
The rest attended wvarious institu-
tions in New York City, commuting
from their commune headquarters
by subway.

But it was the commune, not the
campus, that seemed the center of
their lives in New York. After
-classes, they all rushed back to “the
house” to read, talk, eat or sleep.
And to enjoy sex in many variations,

“I guess you could call our ar-
rangement free love,” said the
blonde. “The way it works is this: If
" it makes you feel good, and it doesn’t
hurt anybody, then go ahead and do
it. And if you feel like doing it with
three people, or four people, and they
feel like doing it with you, great.”

“It’s not like a twenty-four-hour
orgy, or anything like that,” added
a girl with long, dark hair and long,

2

thin legs. “We've got plenty of other
things to keep us busy, like shopping
and studying and cooking. But
there’s time for love, too. It’s great
to go to sleep with somebody’s arm
around you. You shouldn’t have to
get married and all that nonsense to
be able to enjoy that feeling.”

“That feeling” is not only enjoyed
in off-campus communes, either. In
fact, it is available to millions of stu-
dents in on-campus dormitories, at
those colleges and universities which
have adopted policies permitting co-
educational living. Usually, there is
no written policy which encourages
or even allows young men and wom-
en to sleep together. But the policies
are.so liberal that it is a foregone
conclusion that the campus beds are
used for a great deal more than
sleeping.

Consider the following statements
of university policy.

From Donald E. Koue, of the office
of Public Information of the Univer-
sity of California at Berkeley: “In
residence halls on the Berkeley cam-
pus, we essentially have no fixed vis-
iting rules. The students of each
dormitory make up their own rules
at the beginning of each term and
are responsible for upholding those
rules. The campus administration it-
self does not play ‘parent.’”

From Robert M. Friedberg, of the
Office of Public Information of
Columbia University in New York
City: “The office of the assistant dean
for residence of Columbia College,
the men’s liberal arts college of the
university, relates the following: In
1968, the Undergraduate Dormitory
Council passed so-called ‘open pari-
etals’—unrestricted  visitation by
women in the men’s dorms—on the
condition that the guests sign in. In
1969, the sign-in requirement was

abrogated, but a prohibition against
‘extensive cohabitation’ was imposed.
In the year just past (1970-71), one
floor of a Columbia College dorm,
Carman Hall, was ‘co-educated,
eight girl engineering students mov-
ing in and living in suites of four
girls each, each suite having its own
bathroom.”

Friedberg continues: “A few
weeks ago, the Undergraduate Dor-
mitory Council, in cooperation with
Barnard College (a Columbia affil-
iate) and under the jurisdiction of
the Columbia College deans, voted
to exchange 52 Barnard women for
52 Columbia men. In the coming
academic year (1971-72), then, men
will be living in the apartment dorms
on mixed (sexually) floors; the
women will be living in a regular
(not apartment) dorm, also on mixed
floors. Thus, in the Columbia Col-
lege Livingston Hall, women and
men will live on floors 3, 5 and 7;
women will use the bathrooms on
those floors, men the bathrooms on
2, 4 and 8 . .. any problems that arise
in coeducational living can be de-
cided, by the student’s choice, either
by a judicial board or by the appro-
priate dean’s office. . ..”

From Pam Shingler, news editor
of the Office of Public Relations,
University of Georgia: “Though the
university owns no coed housing
facility, there is adjoining the cam-
pus a privately owned coed dormi-
tory. Formerly a men’s dorm, Ogle-
thorpe House has been coeducational
for about two years. Previously the
sexes have been segregated by floors.
That 1is, floors one through five
housed men and floors six through
nine were for women only. Begin-
ning this summer quarter, however,
the facility goes completely coed with
men and (Continued on page 86)

difficult, or impossible.

The seeds of the ““new morality,” strewn across America on the winds of change, germinate and
sprout among our youngsters during the restless high school years, but come to full flower when the
young people, freed at last from parental supervision, reach the college campus. This is the subject of
this month’s report in our series on what is happening below the surface of the youth revolution. Again we

stress the fact that truth is our objective in this series, truth which will give insight and understanding,

and hopefully, enable us to narrow the ignorance gap that makes communication with our young people

~THE EDITORS
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Northwest homicide investigators established that
THE KILLER LAY IN WAIT
FOR THE PRETTY BLONDE NURSE

STy el s e

at scene of murder near highway
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The brutal murder of Karen Brown might never have heen solved

but for the alertness of a heads-up officer who put a couple

of unrelated facts together and came up with a slayer . . .

HE MORNING of February
11, 1971 had begun as most of
the days in the Pacific North-
west at that time of the year.
The evening before there had
been a drizzle of rain, later replaced
by a brisk wind that had blown in off
the coast and found its way over the
Olympic mountains and down into
the foothill regions of Puget Sound.

At the end of one of the long fin-
gers of Puget Sound lay the Kitsap
County seat of Port Orchard, a town
of 3,500 persons. The peaceful setting
of the small town along the shoreline
belied the tragedy that was soon to
be discovered.

At the early hour of 7:58 am,
Sheriff's Dispatcher Max Abrams
picked up the ringing phone. “You
better get someone out here,” the

voice said over the phone. “There’s

a girl's body lying just off the road.
She looks dead.” After getting direc-

tions, Abrams immediately passed
the information to Chief of Detec-
tives Bill Clifton, who had just come
into the office. ‘

“Don’t take off your overcoat,”
said Abrams. “This guy on the phone
is really upset. Said it looked like a
young girl, but couldn’t give any
further information.”

“Get LD. on its way, I'll be there
in 5 minutes,” the -detective chief
said as he was leaving.

The drive from Port Orchard car-
ried the officer out of the small town
and onto the main highway feeding
to the larger metropolitan area of
Tacoma, Washington, a bare 30 miles
away. Within a mile of the city limits
the terrain had turned into one of
stately fir trees and gently sloping

by D. M. LaVINE

Special Investigator for
OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

fields of beautiful green pastureland.

Sergeant Bob Cooper, who had
heard the radio crackling with mes-
sages, had headed for the scene and
both patrol cars eased off the high-
way and started the climb up Mul-
lenix Road. A bare half-dozen homes
dotted the side of the intermediate
roadway. This connecting road be-
tween the main highway and the
south end of Kitsap County was one
of the main traveled byways that fed
the steady stream of cars, during the
daytime, to the more populated in-
dustrial areas where many of the
residents worked. However, at night
it could only be described as lonely.
The lack of homes and streetlights
made it seem as though the road it-
self was cut right through the middle
of nowhere.

As the officers made the top of
the rise, they could see a parked
school bus and a passenger car sit-
ting alongide the blacktop. As they
eased off the pavement, a tall young
man approached Detective Clifton’s
car, apparently in a state of shock.
He was holding his stomach and gave
the appearance that he was ill. “She’s
over there,” he stated as he pointed
to a spot about 50 yards down the
road. “It's awful, she’s been beaten;
I'm sure she’s dead.”

“Take it easy,” Clifton said. “Are
you the person who found the body?”

“Yes, I was driving to work at an
oyster plant and going slow. I passed
the bus that was sitting off the road
and when I got right here in the road
I glanced over and saw something
white. I got curious and stopped to
check. I crossed the ditch and then
I seen her. It was awful.”

The pale man then stated that his
name was Don Stephenson; he was
20 years old and lived in Port Or-
chard. He stated that after finding
the body he ran to the bus parked a
short distance away. He told the
driver artd then both men stood by
until the arrival of the officers. The
bus driver, Clem Martin, said that it
was usual for him to pull the bus
off in the wide spot of the narrow
road for short periods of time if he
was ahead of schedule. He told the
officers that he did notice Stephen-
son’s car come down the road and
pass him and then slowly stop. He
verified that the driver got out of the
car, crossed the road and then ran
back to his parked school bus.

Meanwhile, Detective Chief Clifton
had Sergeant Cooper talk to Ste-
phenson while he went to the scene
of the body. There was no doubt
about the girl being dead. She lay
face down about 30 feet from the
edge of the road, her body clad in a
nurse’s white uniform. Her face was
hidden by bushes and tall grass, and
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Key lawmen in the investigation into brutal
murder of Nurse Karen Brown were Sheriff Art
Morken (above), Detective Chief Bill Clifton
(left) and Undersheriff Glenn Pendarvis (right)
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her hair was a mass of blood. He
rushed back to the car and issued
orders for more help.

The help soon began arriving in
the form of Undersheriff Glenn Pen-
darvis, Detectives Kenneth Berg,
Vern Youngs, Jack Dean, Dave Mor-
gan and Charles Wolfe and Deputies
Marven Parks, Bart Bush and Gary
Wernet. Soon to arrive were Iden~
tification Officers Les Cline and Jay
Mossman.

An immediate securing was made
of the area around the body with
everyone instructed to stay away
from the girl’'s body. Officers were
hurriedly sent to the nearest inter-
sections to turn cars away from the
busy scene. Sergeant Cooper had
meanwhile taken down the informa-
tion from Stephenson and approached
Clifton.

“I think I got it all, and this guy
don’t feel good—can we release him
to go home?” he asked. “Go ahead,
but tell him to be available. I also
want Charlie Allen out here, if he
can make it,” said Clifton.

The reference was to Sergeant
Charles Allen, the Identification Of-
ficer of the Bremerton Police Depart-
ment. His patience and more than 20
years of experience had been invalu-
able on many other occasions to the
law enforcement men of Kitsap
County:.

It was then that a radio message
had the detectives splitting their forces.
A patrolman had called and stated
that about one-half mile from the
murder scene he had found a two-
tone Buick sitting back in the brush.
It had been driven over a log and it
appeared that an attempt had been
made to hide it from view. He also
reported that there were signs of
blood smears inside the vehicle.
Four detectives sped to the nearby

area and soon reported that there
were definite signs indicating that
violence had indeed taken place in-
side the car. The vehicle itself was
not touched by the officers, who
began an immediate search of the
area around the car.

Meanwhile, Charles Allen and his
assistant, Richard Forrester, had ar-
rived, and the importance of the two
teams of identification became evi-
dent as there were now two vital
scenes to be searched and preserved.
The investigators at the murder scene
had now been bolstered by the ar-
rival of the popular sheriff of Kitsap
County, Arthur Morken. A veteran
of 37 years law enforcement, Sheriff
Morken was soon filled in on the de-
tails of the grisly slaying. All indi-
cations were that the girl had been
brutally bludgeoned to death with
some heavy object, perhaps a rock.

“Who is she?” asked Morken.

“We don’t know yet, Art,” replied

Detective Dave Morgan, here in his
patrolman’s uniform, arrested prime
suspect as probe narrowed in focus

Officer Pendarvis. “Maybe we can get
a break if the boys at the car down
the road can come up with some-
thing.”

“The quicker we find out,” re-
marked another officer, ‘“the sooner
we can start backtracking her.” To the
officers, it seemed that hours had
gone by since the initial call came
intoc the office. But a check of the
time showed that only 30 minutes
had gone by since the arrival of the
first officers. The overcast skies were
threatening rain as the details of men
gently picked their way around, try-
ing to pick up some shred of evi-
dence in the brutal slaying. The body
was being left in its original position
awaiting the arrival of Coroner Mel
“Bud” Morrison, newly elected to
that office and a former 20-year vet-
eran police officer. He soon arrived
with his chief deputy, Jerry Bernier.

Detectives at the scene of the
abandoned car soon hit paydirt. While
the surrounding area was being
searched, they had found a purse,
wallet, notebooks and other smaller
items that had been apparently
thrown there by the murderer. They
had also found a driver’s license with
the name of Karen Brown on it. It
bore a local address in south Kitsap
County.

“Get out there fast,” ordered Clif-
ton, “it’s going to be a nasty detail
but we've got to have information.
Find out where she’s supposed to be
and how long she’s been missing.” He
handed the license to Detective
Berg and Youngs. The officers were
not happy with their upcoming con-
frontation with the family, but know-
ing it had to be done, they sped off
in the direction of the address.

“That’s the toughest part of this
business,” remarked one officer as
they watched the police car disap-



When officers searched suspect’s bedroom, they found some of his clothing with incriminating bloodstains

pear in the distance. While the girl's
body was being processed by the
coroner and measurements were
being taken, the area on the main
road was getting a close scrutiny.
What the officers found gave mute
evidence to the violence that had
taken place on the darkened side
road.

Tire tracks on the opposite side of
the road where the body was found
showed that two cars had been
parked in the soft dirt. From where
it appeared the front car had been
stopped, there were two telltale
marks in the soft dirt. Two drag
marks were very plain. The im-
pressed drag marks ran about 10 feet
and then turned onto the black pave-
ment, Across the road they continued
again just off the side of the pave-
ment and down into the two-foot
ditch. The drag marks then went up
the bank and faded out into the
grassy area. The body lay just a short
distance away. A check of the girl’s
body showed that the back of her
heels were grimy with dirt and her
socks had been torn almost com-
pletely from her body. There was no
doubt that something vioclent had
happened in a car, resulting in her
being dragged into the bush. Impres-
sions of the tire treads and measure-
ments were being carefully taken of
shoe prints left by the murderer.

Now the officers had a name, and
along with it the nurse’s uniform, and
detectives were sent to back-track
her activities. The uniform bore an
arm patch showing that the girl was
a student at Olympic Junior College
in Bremerton. At the college they
found that Karen Brown was regis-
tered and the night before had been
scheduled to be at the local hospital,
where she worked nights. The offi-
cers hurried to the hospital and made

contact with her supervisor. They
learned that Karen Brown had at-
tended class along with other mem-
bers of her class. She had been seen
leaving the hospital about 8 p.m. but
had not been seen getting into her
car. The girls in her class all stated
that she had acted normal and never
mentioned any troubles or fears. She
had mentioned once about her car
breaking down on the lonely stretch
going home, and feared this happen-
ing again.

“T wonder if that's just what hap-
pened,” mused one detective. “Could
she have had trouble last night and
the wrong guy came along?” “Sounds
logical,” said another. “Let’s get back
to the scene and pass on what we've
got.”

Meanwhile, back at the murder
site, the LD. officers were just finish-
ing taking their pictures and meas-
urements. Coroner Morrison esti-
mated that death had taken place
around 9 o’clock the previous night.
The girl’'s body was removed and
taken to Port Orchard for further
examination.

“We've got to preserve this car,”
stated Sheriff Morken.

“No one has even touched that
car, Sheriff,” said Undersheriff Pen-
darvis. “We’ve got a wrecker coming
out and we’re going to lock it up
with inside security until we can go
over every ‘inch for details. We feel
now the murder, or the start of the
murder, took place inside the car.”

This reasoning was borne out by the
appearance of the inside of Karen
Brown's car. Blood splatters were
visible in both the front and back
seat as well as on the insides of the
windows. A broken glass lay in the
back seat. The inside door handles
bore bloodstains as did the outside
door handle on the passenger side.

By now the eatly morning overcast
had been shoved aside by the rising
sun that had burned its way through
the haze. Small risings of steam were
emanating f{rom the damp earth
where the sun forced its way through
the tall fir trees.

Detectives Youngs and Berg had
arrived back at the scene. “It was
rough having to tell the family,”
stated Youngs, “but I think we got a
pretty good lead.”

“At least it’s a start,” agreed Berg.
“We found out that Karen had been
married for a short time, but just a
few days ago her former boy friend
came home from the service. There
could have been some hard feelings.
He'’s on leave but has been seen in
this area by the family, even though
he doesn’t live around here any
more.”

“Find him as soon as possible,” or-
dered Clifton. “Take off the road-
blocks on Mullenix and send every
car possible out south. We've got to
find this guy right away.”

“We did find out he’s back in town
again and he was seen this morning
in a '53 Ford with another guy,” said
Youngs. “And they were seen near
the parents’ home,” continued Berg—
“and Karen lives right next door.”

The small fleet of police vehicles
soon started canvassing as much
area as possible in an attempt to find
the ex-suitor of the deceased girl.
Detectives searching files at the
sheriff’s office were advised that the
husband, Gary P. Brown, had ar-
rived at the office and wanted to talk
to them about his wife’s death. He
related as many details as he could
remember, even though suffering
from grief over the news of his wife’s
death.

“It doesn’t make any sense,” the
grieving husband related. “I know
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for a fact that Karen would not stop
her car willingly on that stretch of
road. She’s always expressed con-
cern about how lonely it is in that
particular area. The only things that
would make her stop is for a friend
she would recognize or if the car
broke down. She was pretty nerv-
ous about being alone in a car; I just
know it has to be something else.”

He continued: “Karen was really
concerned about making good at the
college and at the hospital. She used
to talk about being on the floor of
the hospital and how she felt at
times that she was not progressing
as fast as she wanted to. Sure, she
didn't show up at home last night
but she has done this before. You've
got to understand that after a full
day at the school and then working
at the hospital, she got exhausted.
One of the girls in her class lived in
town and they were great friends.
When Karen worked late and had an
early class she would stay with a girl
friend.”

While the questioning of the hus-
band was being held at the crime
scene, the police cars kept up their
steady patrolling of the roads south
of the murder scene in an attempt to
find the ex-suitor. A call came into
the office that he was now at a local
store, seven miles from the murder
site. Three patrol cars were minutes
away and soon had the car in ques-
tion, and both men wereinterro-
gated by the investigators. But this
lead soon reached a dead end. Both
men had been together the previous
evening and had been in the pres-
ence of friends, playing cards from
7:30 p.m. until early in the morning.
Karen had been seen alive at 8:00
p.m. After checking with the other
card players and inspecting the ve-
hicle they were in, police turned the
pair loose.

The next lead came as the result
of a close alliance between Kitsap
County and Pierce County Sheriff’s

An important clue in the case was this

office personnel. Pierce County is the
neighboring division line and sur-
rounds the large city of Tacoma. A
close association had been held for
years due to the many hundreds of
cases that were worked by an officer
from each department, due to nu-
merous criminals operating in both
jurisdictions. George Janovich, chief
of detectives of Pierce County, a
popular and extremely capable law
officer, had heard of the murder over
his “Scanner,” a fairly new innova-
tion in police circles. He instructed
Detective Bill Regan and Deputy
John Patterson to aid in the investi-
gation. Aside from just wanting to
offer their assistance, the Pierce
County deputies had a very impor-~
tant reason for speeding their cruiser
to the scene. They arrived at the
busy scene at ubout the hour of 11:00
am. and told their suspicions to
Sheriff Morken and his detective staff.

“It’s not much,” stated Detective
Regan, “but we felt that we better
check and at least pass on the in-
formation. On the day of the murder,
at about 9 am., we had a report from
a lady that as she was approaching
the Narrows Bridge she looked in
her rear view mirror and noticed
that a black and white car was be-
hind her and there were lights blink-
ing on and off as though it were a
police car. She immediately pulled
off the side of the road and the car
pulled in behind her. This man got
out, approached the car in a calm
manner and than all at once he
yanked open the door and grabbed
her around the neck with his hands.
The lady stated that he choked her
with great force but somehow she
managed to fight him off and he ran
back to his car and sped off.”

“‘Did she give a description?”
asked Detective Chief Clifton.

“She did,” stated Patterson. “He’s
in his early 20’s, tall, good looking,
dressed well and neat, short hair.”

“This could be important,” stated

" Undersheriff Pendarvis. “We just

took a close look at the girl’s neck
and there are definite signs that she
had been choked with some force, in
addition to the bludgeoning.”

“Did she get a good look at the
car this guy was driving?” asked an-
other officer. “She couldn’t give a
make on the car but she stated it
was black and white, in good condi-
tion and there were some sort of
lights in the front of the car that
blinked on and off,” answered Pat-
terson.

“Not only that,” continued Detec-
tive Regan, “but at 2 p.m. yesterday
we had another one. This lady stated
that she was driving toward the main
highway on a small side road and
suddenly looked in the rear view
mirror and saw some sort of lights
blinking behind her. She, too, pulled
off onto the side of the road, think-
ing that it was a police car. She
stated the driver, a man, came up to
her car, pulled open the door and
immediately grabbed her around the
neck with his hands. This was only
a few miles from the first attack.
Anyhow, she fought him and man-
aged to break his grip, then slid
across the seat and got out the pas-~
senger door. She said he caught up
with her and again attacked her and
forced her to the ground.”

“How did she get away?” asked
another officer. “She figured she was
done for,” answered Patterson, “but
at this moment a pickup truck came
down the road and pulled up, just a
short distance away from her car.
She said the guy then let go of her
and ran to his car and sped away.”

“How about description?” asked
Morken.
“She was shook up real bad,”

stated Regan, “but she said the car
was black and white, in good condi-
tion and she also said the attacker
was a young, tall, good looking white
man with neat hair. She also said
that she could recognize him for sure.”

car with a toy cat which flashed turn signals with its eyes from rear window



“Did she give any more descrip-
tion on the car?” asked Clifton. “Did
she notice anything odd?” “Just one
thing,” said Patterson, ‘“she stated
that when the car sped away after
the attack, she noticed that there
was a small toy animal in the back
window, like a white cat, and that it
had two eyes that lit up, and they
were also blinking off and on when
the car disappeared down the road.”
“This is not unusual,” said another
officer. “I've noticed a lot of them
lately. They hook them up to their
turn indicators to show which way
the car is going to turn.”

The group of grim-faced officers
were now sure of one thing, That
was the fact that all the leads had
been checked up to this point and the
only thing they had to go on was the
information supplied them by Pierce
County.

At this time another valuable re-
port came in to the officers at the
murder scene. Captain Carl Skaggs
of Pierce County had been in the
area just a few miles from the mur-
der site. He arrived just a short time
later and reported that he had just
chased a black and white vehicle,
with a white toy cat in the rear win-
dow. He stated that he had been
headed north on the main highway
and noticed the car going in the op-
posite direction. He turned and gave
chase but lost the suspect vehicle
just a few miles from the murder
scene. “All I can tell you,” related
Skaggs, “is that the car fit the de-
scription perfectly and the guy driv-
ing appeared to be young, with
short hair.”

“We've got a lead to follow,”
stated Clifton, “but it's a slim one.
This guy doesnt seem to work, as
he’s been seen in the morning and
afternoon both. Maybe he’s just roll-
ing around. I can’t see him rolling
around today, if he’s the guy Skaggs
spotted, but maybe we’re after some
sort of a nut.”

“Maybe he’s just driving around
aimlessly,” stated Pendarvis. “If so,
we’d better get as many cars on the
road as possible.”

The main flow of traffic had been
restored to Mullenix Road as the
day wore on into the early after-
noon. The many vehicles of the dif-
ferent police agencies aroused the
curiosity of the passing motorists as
they traveled back and forth from
Port Orchard to South Kitsap Coun-
ty. Orders had been given and one
by one the units pulled away from
the murder scene with one thought
in their minds. Find the black and
white car with the toy cat in the
back window.

Meanwhile the information had
been passed through the law agen-
cies of Kitsap County along with the
request that an immediate assistance
was needed. It was felt that if the
area were flooded with police vehi-
cles, the possibility of turning up the
suspect vehicle was greatly enhanced
and maybe they could get lucky.

Bremerton Sun Photo

t
Flanked here by detectives, this young man was asked some searching questions

Strengthened by units from the
Pierce County Sheriff's office, the
Washington State Patrol and the
State Game Department, the me-
thodical searching for the suspect
began. Slowly at first, and then
stretching out into the sparsely in-
habited -areas. Every available car
from Kitsap County Sheriff’s office
was thrown into the search. Officers
who had just finished graveyard
shifts were slowly arriving and were
soon detailed to certain areas. Every
main intersection had been posted
with cars as they looked for any car
passing that fit the description given
by the neighboring county.

The next four hours were taken up
with tremendous activity as the dif-
ferent patrol cars stopped one vehicle

after another. Some of the stops were
enough to warrant interest while
others were just routine. Slowly the
time passed as the men went with-
out lunch or dinner. They all real-
ized that the most important hours
of any major investigation are the
early ones and they were all dedi-
cated to finding the suspect car be-
fore night set in on Puget Sound.

“We've got another problem com-
ing up shortly,” remarked one offi-
cer. “That Bremerton Navy Yard is
going to release at 4:30, just a few
minutes from now, and when they
do, this area is going to be flooded
with so many cars we’ll have to give
it up for tonight.”

The persistence of the officers of
Kitsap County was soon to pay off
in startling (Continued on page 62)
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New Mexico police on the trail of an escaped mad-dog murderer
who had been serving time for two spectacular slayings

were haunted by the chilling realization that

OMETIME in the black pre-
dawn period between 3:50 and 6 am.
on Monday, May 10, 1971, the break
occurred. The dark figure first moved
steathily, then agilely from the cell-
house, across the prison yards, avoiding
lighted areas. Suddenly, with the
spring of a jungle cat, the shadowy
form was on and over the first of two
18-foot fences topped by three strands
of barbed wire that could rip the flesh
like a hundred razors. A brief spurt of
speed, then up and over the second
and final barrier. Almost unbelievably,
the desperate dash to freedom had
taken a mere matter of seconds.

The one-man bustout at the New
Mexico State Penitentiary—which is
located amidst desert mesas on the
southern outskirts of the state’s cap-
ital, Santa Fe—was discovered at the
6 a.m. prisoner check. Officials found
that the missing inmate had cut an
8-by-12 inch opening in the bars of

his single cell, apparently using a
hacksaw.

Then, the escapee either dropped
to the ground, or climbed to a nearby
roof from the cell window, from
where he managed to gain access to
the two high outside fences. He
scaled these without being seen from
the nearby guard outposts.

The fugitive con was identified by
prison authorities as 24-year-old
Bobby Gene Garcia, formerly of Tuc-
umecari, New Mexico, who was serv-
ing two life sentences for a shocking
double murder in 1966 in his home
town. It was the nature of these
slayings—and some statements made
thereafter by the convicted killer—
that set off one of the most intensive
manhunts in recent New Mexico his-
tory following the discovery that
Bobby Gene Garcia had “hit the
ground.” These circumstances, plus
the con’s record of violent conduct

When wild and woolly manhunt ended, Garcia (r.) was in Sh. Moncus’s custody

3 s

THE LAW GOULDNT HURT HIM

during his trials and later prison con-
finement, left residents in several
parts of the state—notably Tucum-
cari—highly nervous upon learning
that Garcia was at large.

Like a kaleidoscope of scenes from
a horror movie, the events of that
terrible autumn day of November 9,
1966 undoubtedly flashed through the
minds of those persons who were
closely involved in the case as news
of the prison break spread.

Episodes were graphically etched
on their minds, such as the ruthless
shooting down of Garcia’s sister-in-
law . . . His one-man raid on the
City Hall-Police Department build-
ing, where he wounded two city
police officers—one fatally. His tak-
ing of a woman desk clerk as a hos-
tage and his terrifying flight with her
along the city’s streets as police offi-
cers tried to close in . .. The subse-
quent jail violence and escape at-
tempts by Garcia before and during
his murder trials.

Then, to further agitate the nerves
of those who remembered, there
were Bobby Gene Garcia’s uttered
statements, made at various times
after the double murder and record-
ed by the press:

“I have no remorse whatsoever . . .
Nobody meddles in my business!”
This, after he told on the witness
stand of cold-bloodedly gunning down
his sister-in-law.

And there was his raging retort
when he was led under restraint
from the courtroom following his
conviction and sentencing in one of
the slayings:

“You better pray I die! I'm coming
back—as long as there’s breath in
my body, I'm coming back!”

This warning was directed at the
judge who had pronounced sentence.

Also remembered were the words
of Bobby’s father from the witness
chair:

“He would prefer to be dead
rather than living a living death in
prison.”

Now, on this Monday, May 10, 1971,
Garcia, described by officers and
prison officials as “dangerous and
desperate,” was out of the walls.



by BILL G. COX
Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

IF HE KILLED AGAIN

Since he already was pulling two life
sentences, he really had nothing to
lose if he resorted to more violence.
Originally, he had received the death
sentence for one of the murders, but
this was changed to life when capital
punishment was abolished in New
Mexico by a state bill passed in 1969.
Thus, the most the escaped killer-
con could get for further crime—no
matter how vioclent—was “life.”

Searchers found Garcia’s tracks
leading eastward from the last fence
around the prison to New Mexico
Highway 10. There the footprints
ended.

Roadblocks were thrown up through-
out the area and a spotter plane and
a helicopter took to the air to assist
searchers on the ground.

Perhaps it was appropriate that the
fugitive being sought had the tattoo
of a shark on one arm, for his
viciousness had been attested to on

the Wednesday evening, November
9, 1966, in Tucumcari, New Mexico.

Ironically, as Garcia would testify
later, the fateful hours started as a
walk to quiet his nerves.

“That’s the way my nervoushess
goes away . . . by walking,” Garcia
would tell a jury later. “I decided to
go speak to my wife.” The reason
for Garcia’s “nervousness” also
would be revealed by testimony:
Namely, that the sheriff was hunting
for him on that Wednesday after-
noon in 1966. Garcia learned from his
father, with whom he had been load-
ing a trailer, that Quay County
}Slheriﬂ:' Claude Moncus was seeking

im,

Garcia took off on foot, deciding
to go to the home of his mother-in-
law, Mrs. Annie Apalacio, to talk
with his pretty, estranged wife,
Delores, who was staying there.

At his mother-in-law’s residence

One of Ch. Moore’s officers was killed, another wounded in the one-man rampage

Garcia, who met couple of mini-skirted
girls during his brief period of freedom,
said, “lt was love at first sight—twice”

on East Turner, Garcia found his
wife, her mother, his sister-in-law,
29-year-old Mrs. Josie Baker, and
Mrs. Baker’s daughter, who was in
the living room, holding Garcia’s
baby daughter. Also present were
other children of Josie's and of Mrs.
Apalacio.

Entering the three-room house, the
agitated Garcia asked his wife if she
wanted to go back to him. His wife
replied, “No.”

As related by witnesses later, Gar-
cia next went into the kitchen, where
his mother-in-law was working,

He pulled a pistol from his shirt.
Mrs. Annie Apalacio cried, “Leave
them alone, Bobby!”

Garcia pointed the gun at his
mother-in-law and fired, but the
woman managed to duck and the
slug struck the sink. Screaming and
covering her ears with her hands,
Mrs. Apalacio ran from the house
with some of the children, seeking
refuge at a neighbor’s home.

Garcia, in the meantime, entered
the bedroom of Mrs. Apalacio’s house
and confronted his sister-in-law,
Josie Baker.

“You’re the cause of Delores and
me breaking up!” he shouted.

“No, Bobby—no, no, no!”, the
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Ch. Moore (r.) and other officers sought to trace shotgun used to kill one

officer, wound another, before murderer was cornered in drug store (below)

__SANDS - DORSEY_

terror-stricken young woman cried.

It was after the last “no” that Gar-
cia started shooting at Mrs. Baker.
The screaming woman fell to the
floor. “I told you I was going to shoot
you,” Garcia said.

Then he went back into the liv-
ing room, took his terrified wife by
the hand and led her out the front
door, threatening to get a shotgun
and “shoot you all,” Judy Baker
later testified.

The frightened teenager ran to her
mother’s crumpled form, crying,
“Mama, wake up!” But Josie Baker
didn’t move.

Neighbors placed a call for police,
and Mrs. Apalacio—after seeing Gar-~
cia flee with his wife in tow—
returned to the house to find her
other daughter dead on the floor.

The call for help came into the
Tucumcari Police Department locat-
ed on the second floor of the City

Hall building at 5:50 p.m. Present in
the glassed-in radio room immedi-
ately to the right of the second land-
ing of the stairway leading to the
police department lobby were Desk
Sergeant Jerry Wignall and Mrs.
Mary Simpson, desk sergeant-clerk.
Mrs. Simpson, who was busy work-
ing on some reports, heard Sergeant
Wignall give the call to police units
that officers were needed at the East
Turner address.

Patrolman Max Crespin, who was
driving along West Main Street,
heard Police Captain Gordon Ed-
wards reply that he was responding
to the call. Crespin picked up his
radio mike and advised headquar-
ters he would be “10-4” on the same
call as a backup unit. He made a
U-turn at Third and Main and
headed toward the address. Turning
onto North Monroe, Patrolman Cres-
pin saw a man he recognized as

Bobby Gene Garcia run to the door
of a deserted building. A young
woman whom he didn’t know was
with Garcia, Crespin observed. The
officer wondered what was going on,
but he was almost at the East Tur-
ner address and didn’t stop to find
out.

Again he got on the mike and
asked Captain Edwards, who had
pulled into sight, “Is this the house
behind the alley?” The captain an-
swered it was.

As Patrolman Crespin pulled up
to the small house and Captain
Edwards, accompanied by Patrolman
Keith Morris, also parked, they were
greeted by a small boy. The crying
youngster who met them sobbed that
Bobby Garcia had shot his mother
and ran away, taking Delores Garcia
with him.

Crespin told Captain Edwards and
Morris he had seen Garcia and a
young woman running into an old
garage building nearby.

“Til call an ambulance—you wait
here for it,” the police captain told
Crespin.

Contacting headquarters, Captain
Edwards gave a terse message: “Car
2 to PD . .. Dispatch an ambulance
over here . . . Annie Apalacio has
been shot.” At that point, the offi-
cers, who knew the address was the
home of Mrs. Apalacio, assumed it
was she who had been shot.

As Edwards and Morris sped away
to look for Garcia, Patrolman Cres-
pin entered the house and examined
the shooting victim on the floor. He
immediately saw that the woman,
who apparently was dead, was not
Annie Apalacio. He returned to his
car to notify the dispatcher. He tried
twice, but received no answer.

At about the same time, Captain
Edwards spotted Bobby Garcia’s wife
running along East Main Street. The
crying woman told the officers her
husband had left her and headed
toward City Hall.

In the second-floor radio room at
the Police Station, above City Hall,
Mrs. Simpson was finishing up her
reports when she heard Captain Ed-
ward’s request to send an ambulance.
Hearing this, she told Wignall, “You
call the ambulance and Tll call the
chief.”

As a matter of routine, Police
Chief J. Bronson Moore is notified
of all major crimes, as are the other
top law enforcement officers of the
county in order that the investiga-
tion may be coordinated by all agen-
cies. Besides the police chief, this
includes the district attorney, sheriff
and the State Police supervisor for
the area.

Sergeant Wignall was busy on the
radio and telephone and Mrs. Simp-
son was calling on another line when
she heard a commotion on the stair-
way from the first floor to the police
station lobby. She assumed it was
her son, Ralph Murray, and Assis-
tant Radio Dispatcher Steve Grau,
returning.  (Continued on page 76)



THE SEXUAL DEVIATE
"KILLED WOMEN
FOR THE SHEER JOY
OF KILLING™

by JOHN DUNNING

Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

It took Vienna police nearly two years to snare the human monster

who struck his female victims without warning—beating, knifing,

stripping, strangling helpless women—then vanishing like

a will o’ the wisp. But then he made two mistakes in a row . . .

HE DEADLY SERIES began on

the Monday after Easter, 1969,

but, of course, at that time no

one realized that it was a series.

Vienna, Austria, like most large
cities today, is not a particularly safe
place to live. Women are attacked,
people are murdered. Sometimes the
police succeed in bringing the murder-
ers to justice, sometimes not.

The murder which took place on
Easter Monday in Vienna’s Karl-
Schweigerhof Lane did not, however,
offer the police many possibilities
for investigation. 78-year-old Eleo-
nore Heinemann had been found
sprawled in the entrance hall of the
building where she lived. She had
been killed by seven stab wounds
from a very large kitchen knife which
the police found lying beside the
body.

The kitchen knife was a perfectly
ordinary kitchen knife which could be

purchased in almost any hardware
store and there were no other clues
as to the identity of the murderer.
Worse yet, no trace of a motive could
be established. Mrs. Heinemann was
an elderly widow, living alone, and
she was very poor. There was no one
who benefited in any way from her
death and she could not have been
robbed, for she possessed nothing
worth the trouble of stealing. What
little money that she did have was
found in the pocket of her dress. It
had not been disturbed.

The Vienna Department of Crim-
inal Investigation added another folder
to the file of unsolved cases and the
matter was forgotten. It was not that
the police were lax, there was simply
nothing to investigate.

No further inexplicable murders
occurred during the summer of 1969,
but then, on the 17th of October,
Mrs. Maria Lechner was found dead

in the kitchen of her home at 3 Kar-
dinal-Nagl Square. The 67-year-old

- woman had been strangled with a

scarf and a nylon stocking. Nothing
had been taken from the house and
there were no clues as to the identity
of the murderer. Police investigators
were, once again, unable to discover
any motive whatsoever.

The wunsolved Lechner murder
joined that of Eleonore Heinemann,
but the parallels in the two cases did
not go completely unnoticed. At the
headquarters of the criminal police,
Inspector Johann Konrad was trou-
bled by an uneasy premonition.

“I just wonder if the Heinemann
and Lechner cases could possibly be
connected,” he said to his assistant,
Detective Sergeant Leo Rademacher,
who sat at the desk opposite. “Both of
the women were old, both were killed
without any apparent reason whatso~
ever and there were no clues to the
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murderer in either case. I have the
feeling that there may be some kind
of a madman running around here in
Vienna, killing women for the sheer
joy of killing. Probably a sexual de-
viate, but not in the customary
sense.”

“If that’s true,” said the sergeant,
“then we can expect more cases of
this nature. If the newspapers recog-
nize it as a series, things are going
to be very difficult for us. We haven’t
a single line of investigation that we
can follow.”

The fears and premonitions of the
two police officers were soon to be
realized. On December 31, 1969, an-
other report of a murder was re-
ceived at headquarters. This time,
both the inspector and his assistant
went immediately to the scene.

In the old apartment building at
number 8, Piarist Lane, Mrs. Angela
Simon lay strangled in her own bed.
The scarf which had choked out her
life was still knotted tightly about her
throat and Dr. Carlo Bronski, the
Vienna police medical officer, was en-
gaged in an examination of the body.

“Any indication of a motive, Doc-
tor?” asked the inspector. He was a
dark, haggard-looking man with deep
creases across the forehead and at
the corners of his mouth. “Sex, per-
haps?”

The doctor shook his head. “Not in
the usual sense,” he said. “The mo-
tive may have been sexual gratifica-
tion, but it was gained through the
act of killing and not in the usual
manner. According to her papers

Alois Gruenstaeud| (above) was questioned during probe in which Angela Taublaender (right) fingered a prime suspect

over there, she was 78 years old,
which would make her not too sex-
ually desirable to the average man.”

The young, blond and very stoutly
built Sergeant Rademacher had been
going over the apartment while the
doctor and the inspector were speak-
ing. He now came over to report that
nothing appeared to be disturbed. “as
a matter of fact,” he said, “as far as
I can see, there’s nothing in the place
worth stealing. My guess would be that
she’s a widow on a small pension and
that she had almost nothing.”

“As was the case with Lechner and
Heinemann,” said the inspector. He
turned back to the doctor. “Did you
examine the bodies in those cases,
too?”

The doctor stopped working and
thought for a moment. “Lechner and
Heinemann,” he said. “If they were
murdered, I did. Let me see now.
Both elderly widows, weren’t they?
If I remember rightly, the cases were
never solved.”

“Precisely,” said the inspector, “and
now here is a third one. However,
there’s more to it than the fact that all
three were elderly women. In the
other two cases, there were neither
clues nor any trace of a motive. I'm
afraid that it's going to be the same
thing here. What would you think that
signified?”

“A series,” said the doctor prompt-
ly. “Some kind of a lunatic or a per-
son with severe sexual problems who
can gain satisfaction through the suf-
fering and death of others. Fortu-
nately, it’s not a common aberration,

but it does crop up every once in a
while. If that is the case, you can ex-
pect the series to continue.”

“Exactly what I'm afraid of” said
the inspector. “What’s more, I'm
faced with something of a problem.
Neither the Heinemann mnor the
Lechner case got much publicity in
the newspapers. This one probably
won’t either. On the other hand, al-
though it’s going to make things a lot
more difficult for us, I think that the
public should be alerted. If there is
such an unpredictable killer oper-
ating here in Vienna, the women
should know about it and take what-
ever precautions that they can.”

After an investigation into the af-
fairs of Angela Simon which provided
no plausible motive for the murder
and following a careful examination
of the apartment which yielded no
more clues than had the previous
cases, the inspector held a press con-
ference. It was, for him, a somewhat
embarrassing occasion, as he was
forced to admit that the police had
been completely unsuccessful in solv-
ing any of the three cases. The re-
sults were, however, as he had in-
tended. All of the newspapers gave
extensive coverage to the mysterious
series of killings. The murderer was
variously described as the Sex Wolf
of Vienna, the Strangler in the Night,
and the Viennese Werewolf. By the
evening of the day following the ap-
pearance of the stories in the news-
papers, there were few women in
Vienna who were willing to go into the
basement of their own buildings. Doors



were barred and hardware stores re-
ported an immense increase in the
sales of chain .safety locks.

Despite all of this, there were wom-
en who had to go outside of their
apartments. There were some who
even had to go to dark coal cellars.
This was the case with Mrs. Francisca
Hermann. The 69-year-old woman
was a dealer in coal and, since the
coal was kept in the cellar, she had to
go there occasionally to get it.

On February 6, 1970, Mrs. Her-
mann was discovered dead in her coal
cellar at 13 Hietzing Main Street. She
had been beaten wunconscious and
gagged so savagely with a piece of
cloth that she had strangled on the
gag while still unconscious.

“1 think that you had better come
out and take a look at this yourself,
chief,” said Sergeant Rademacher,
coming into the office after a prelim-
inary survey of the scene of the
crime. ‘The original report was that
she was robbed, but her nephew has
now checked the place out and he
says that nothing is missing. It seems
that she kept a certain amount of
money on the premises, but it wasn’t
very well hidden and it’s still there.
My impression is that it's our sex
wolf again.”

The inspector got up hurriedly
from his desk. “No clues, I suppose?”
he asked.

“Well, as a matter of fact,” the ser-
geant replied, “this time there seems
to be. We've got a squad of techni-
cians working out there now, and be-
fore I left they had already discov-
ered some adhesive plaster such as
is used in bandages and which they
say doesn’t belong in the house. They
also found a baby jacket at the scene
near the woman’s body. She was 69
years old, so it seems hardly likely
that it belonged to her.”

“A baby jacket?” said the inpec-
tor. “What kind of a clue is that, any-
way? I doubt very much that the sex

wolf is a baby or, if he has children,
that he takes them around with him
on his murder excursions.” .

“I don’t know about that,” said the
sergeant, ‘“but the technicians say
that it is a definite clue and that it
has something to do with the murder.”

By the time that the inspector and
Sergeant Rademacher reached the
house in Hietzing Main Street, the
technicians had also discovered some-
thing else. “There are traces of ether
on the floor here and also on the
woman’s face,” said the technician in
charge of the group. “What appears
to have happened is that the murder-
er followed Mrs. Hermann into the
coal cellar or he may have been wait-
ing for her to come down. The en-
trance is there in the hall of the
building here and it would be possible
for someone to come in off the street
and go down to the coal cellar with-
out being seen. When she came into
the coal cellar, he probably clamped
the baby jacket which was soaked with
ether over her nose and mouth in an
attempt to put her to sleep. For some
reason or other, this didn’t work and
he used his hands and some hard ob-~
ject which we think may have been a
piece of coal to beat her into uncon-
sciousness. He then gagged her so
tightly that it almost amounted to a
strangulation and left. There’s no in-
dication that he ever entered her
apartment at all.”

“Well, let’s go down and take a
look,” said the inspector. He followed
the technician down the stairs to
where the body lay sprawled on its
back. Dr. Bronski had just completed

his examination and was trying to-

slap the coal dust off of the knees
of his trousers.

“So here we are again,” remarked
the inspector. “What do you think of
this one? Is it another one of our
series?”

“Hard to say,” said the doctor.
“There are slight differences in the

Newépdper editorials attacked police for not solving vicious murders by “Sex Wolf
of Vienna.” Two of his victims were Ingrid Fraundorfer (l.) and Ottilie Fluger

s
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ing attack by the Sex Wolf, shows how
she used set of keys and cardboard
carton, at her feet, to fight him off

modus operandi, but there are a
good many parallels, too. I suppose
the most significant thing is the ap-
parent lack of motive. Unless you are
able to find someone who had a good
reason for killing this woman, then 1
would say that it probably is the same
man who killed the other three. The
manner in which he kills them doesn’t
seem to matter too much to him. If
you'll remember, Mrs. Heinemann was
stabbed, but the other two were
strangled. The only thing that seems
uncharacteristic is his leaving before
the victim was dead. I have been as-
suming that his motive in the killings
was a perverse pleasure in watching
the women die. But if he merely
gagged her and then left before she
was dead, that would conflict with my
theory.”

“But did he leave before she was
dead?” said the inspector. He had
been looking at the corpse. “From the
way that that gag is forced into her
mouth, it’s very little different than
if he had put it around her throat.
He must have realized that it would
kill her. Perhaps he merely pro-
longed his pleasure by standing here
and watching her as she died relative-
ly slowly.”

‘That’s very possible, of course,”
said the doctor. (Continued on page 57)

Gertrude Hanek, who survived a terrify-
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The officers fell in a hail of gunfire from the prisoners

who had gotten the jump on them, and the criminals were long

gone before help arrived. But with one lawman dead,

the killers needed a miracle to make good their escape

by citizens of Flint, Michigan—

or anywhere else, for that mat-

ter. The time was a few minutes
past noon on Tuesday, April 6, 1971,
and the scene was the rear of a build-
ing that housed a dental clinic on
East Dewey Street near the intersec-
tion of North Street.

Directly across North Street from
the dental clinic was the playground
of the Parkland School, which ad-
joined it. It was the noon recess pe-
riod and many children had been
cavorting in the playground until
they heard noises that sounded like
gunfire in the dental office.

Now, the children had stopped
playing and were huddled in small
groups, looking across the street at
the building where they had heard

lT WAS A SIGHT seldom seen

the gunfire. They also heard a wom-
an scream.

A man came from the back door of
the dental building and ran across
nearby North Street. He wore the
green coveralls assigned to prisoners
in the Genesee County jail in Flint.

But he wasn’t running to escape. He
ran past the playground toward the
nearest house. He met a man who ap-
parently had been attracted by the
sounds of gunfire and shouted at him:

“Call the police!”

‘But the man disregarded him and
went on across the street towards the
dental office. The prisoner continued
on to the nearest house, where he
was permitted to use the telephone.

He called the office of Genesee
County Sheriff Thomas E. Bell and

identified himself as Jesse Bailey. He
said two deputies had been shot and
two prisoners had escaped. He said
the wounded deputies were at the
dental office of Dr. Wrex Weaver Jr.,
and that the prisoners, Charles
Macklin, 23, a Negro male, and James
E. Chipman, 22 a white male, had last
been seen running on North Street.

Bailey, 30, facing two charges in
connection with a 19-year-old girl—
one of rape, the other of assault with
intent to rob—said he would wait for
the deputies.

Across the street, Dr. Weaver had
telephoned the Flint city police. Al-
most immediately, the wail of sirens
could be heard and in minutes, offi-
cial cars began skidding to stops on
Dewey and North Streets, around the
dental clinic.

Among those arriving at the con-
crete block building were Lieuten-
ants Frank Carey and Harry Arm-
strong and Detective George W.
Boulter of the sheriff’s police; Flint
city police Lieutenant Francis D.
Folaron and Patrolmen Kim Tibbits
and Harvey R. Beaucamp; Lieuten-
ant James Gorman, chief of Flint
homicide detectives, ace Detective
Don Hatchew, and many others.

While a few anxious parents sought
out their children in the playground

~and teachers kept watch over the

other youngsters, a crowd of curios-
ity seekers had begun to gather. Uni-
formed police urged them back across
the street.

Outside the dental building, lean-
ing against the southwest corner, was

Deputy Sheriff Ben Walker said he
thought day shift too quiet ofter
working nights. Several days later
he was slain . . . in broad daylight

O DEPUTIES
DOWN

Deputy Sheriff Harry G. Abbott, 36,
bleeding profusely from a wound in
his chest. An ambulance already had
been summoned and moments later,
attendants rushed the wounded dep-
uty to Hurley Hospital.

Bailey, the prisoner who made no
attempt to escape, told the officers
that the two escapees had run north
on North Street, but they couldn’t
have gone far because such a short
time had elapsed. Lieutenant Gor-
man and others radioed the sheriff’s

" department and the Flint Post of the

Michigan State Police and roadblocks
were set up, effectively blocking off
escape routes from the city.

Then the officers went inside the
building, where they found Dr.
Weaver bending over the prone fig-
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ure of Deputy Sheriff Ben R. Walker,
35, who also had been shot in the
chest. He rested in a pool of his own
blood and he was motionless.

There was no indication that he
was breathing, and after a few stan-
dard tests all proved negative, it be-
came obvious that he was dead.

Walker was married and the father
of three children, ranging in age from
one to nine, and he was known as a
dedicated policeman. The bad news
was conveyed to his wife by another
deputy who had been a close friend
of the slain officer.

At the scene, while technicians
processed the dental office, taking
pictures, making measurements, dust-
ing for fingerprints and taking
blood samples, plans were formu-
lated for an intensive search for the
two fugitives.

The city had been completely
sealed off and it seemed improbable
that the two suspects had managed
to reach the city limits before the
roadblocks were set up.

News of the slaying of Deputy
Walker and the shooting of Deputy
Abbott spread rapidly by word of
mouth and by news flashes on radio
and television. Within half an hour,
more than 100 deputies, state troop-
ers and city police were at the inter-
section, receiving assignments.

They were assigned in teams of
twos and threes, first to check out
the numerous tips that had been
telephoned to police headquarters, to
the sheriff’s office and to the state
police.

While the tips were being checked
out, Dr. Weaver, Jesse Bailey and

other witnesses were questioned
about what had happened. Dr.
Weaver said that he regularly

worked on prisoners from the county
jail. Today, appointments had been
made for three men—Bailey, Chip-
man and Macklin,

Dr. Weaver said that Bailey al-
ready had been treated and had
been taken across the hall to a lab-
oratory room, where the other pris-
oners were held. He said that he
didn’t see the shooting, but that he
heard shots after he had partially
opened the door and called for the
deputies to bring in the next patient.
He said he believed the deputies had
just taken the handcuffs off the two
escapees when the officers were as-
saulted. Dr. Weaver said he heard
sounds of scuffling just before the
shooting and when he looked out,
Deputy Walker lay in the hallway
between the laboratory room and
the treatment room. The two pris-
oners he was to treat fled through
the front door, the screams of the
receptionist ringing in their ears.

When the receptionist was ques-
tioned, she was so excited that she
had to be given a sedative. She had
been in the waiting room and hadn’t
seen the shootings. :

Dr. Weaver said that one of the
prisoners, Chipman, had been there
before, and knew the layout of the

\

Police officials said they learned this man had been the brains behind
attempted escape which he had been planning for more than four weeks

offices, as well as the routine. This
led Lieutenant Gorman to believe
that the escape had been planned
some time before.

Meanwhile, word came over the
police radio that the two men had
been trapped in a garage several
blocks north of the dental office on
North Street. Police cars quickly
converged on the scene and officers
jumped out.

There had been a report that some-
one had heard a call for help from
the garage, which was on North
Street just north of East Stewart
Avenue. Moving cautiously and with
guns drawn, the policemen opened
the garage door and locked inside.
There was very little in it, not even
a car. The escaped prisoners cer-
tainly were not there.

Disappointed, the officers turned
back to their cars to leave, but
turned back when someone shouted
from an upstairs window that the
call for help had come from the
house, not from the garage.

The policemen went to the door of
the house and a woman met them.
“It might have been my kid,” she
said. “I just got done beating him.”

The tearful youngster could be
seen just behind his mother and the
officers decided this was the answer.
They went back to their cars, listen-
ing intently to the police radio for
the next alarm.

Meanwhile, Undersheriff Norman
Harlan, Lieutenant Gorman and other
top brass discussed the possibility
that the fugitives had managed to
leave the city. They decided there
had not been time for the two to get
away. They would have had to steal
a car, but there hadn’t even been
time for this before all the exits
from Genesee County had been
sealed off. Also, the state police had
been alerted and all highways in
Genesee and adjoining Lapeer Coun-
ty were being watched. t

Jesse Bailey was questioned about
what had happened and gave this
account:



Police hustle James Chipman into cruiser. Young Flint native was being held on a murder charge when he attempted to escape

That morning, he said, he got on a
jail elevator with Macklin. Macklin
asked him how he was doing.

“T told him okay,” Bailey said.
Bailey said he also told Macklin that
he thought he would be able to get
out of jail on bond soon.

Then, Bailey said, Macklin bent
over to tie his shoe. This was a de-
vice to talk in a low tone to Bailey
without being overheard. “Me and
my buddy are going to make our
own way,” Macklin said from the
side of his mouth, in a tone that
could not be understood by jail
guards. It meant they planned a
break. .

“Was he inviting you to go along
with them?” asked Lieutenant Gor-
man.

Bailey said he didn’t think so.

“Why didn’t you report the
planned break then?”

Bailey replied that there had been
a lot of talk previously in the jail
about making a break. There was no
reason to believe this would be any

more than just talk, as all the other
occasions had been.

After they got off the elevator,
Bailey said, he was put in a jail bull
pen with Macklin, where Macklin
continued to talk about the break.
He said that Macklin told him if
Bailey’s name was called first, that
Bailey should stall and let Macklin
and others go first.

But Bailey said he didn’t follow
Macklin’s orders. Bailey said that when
a deputy called out: “Dentist,” Bailey
jumped up and went out first.

Bailey told the. officers that he,
Chipman and Bailey were taken to
the dentist’s office together by Dep-
uties Walker and Abbott. He said
that he, Chipman and Macklin were
handcuffed together in the back seat
of the sheriff’s police car and rode
to the back of the building near the
intersection of North Street and East
Dewey Street.

The sheriff’s cruiser was parked in
a space in the rear of the building
and the two deputies and three pris-

oners entered through a back door
leading into a hallway that separated
the reception room and a laboratory
room from the dentist’s treatment
rooms.

For the three prisoners, Bailey
said, the treatment room served as
a reception room. Bailey said he sat
down on a stool and complained that
it was too hot in the room. He said
that Walker went to the back door
and opened it to let more air in.

Walker paused to let the recep-
tionist know that the three prisoners
were there. She went to one of a
number of treatment rooms to inform
Dr. Weaver, then returned to her
desk in the main reception room,
used by the public to wait their
turns.

When Walker returned to the
room, he noticed that the prisoners
appeared to be uncomfortable, Bailey
related. Abbott had been handcuffed
to Bailey and these handcuffs were
removed, he said. But Chipman and




Macklin were still handcuffed to-
gether.

Bailey said it was around noon
when he was taken into one of the
dental operating rooms and treated
by Dr. Weaver. When the dentist had
finished, Bailey said, he was returned
to the laboratory room where Mack-
lin and Chipman were held.

It was then, Bailey said, that Dr.
Weaver called for another patient
from a partially open door across the
hall. Walker had been standing with
Chipman and Macklin in the labora-
tory room, Bailey said.-

When the dentist called for an-
other patient, Bailey related, Walker
removed the handcuffs that had held
Macklin and Chipman together.

Bailey said that Chipman was the
first to act. As soon as the handcuffs
were removed he attacked Walker
and, moments later, Macklin jumped
Deputy Abbott.

Bailey said that he backed out of
the way and watched the scuffle.

He said that Chipman and Deputy
Walker were engaged in what proved
to be a life-and-death struggle,
wrestling to the floor, with Chipman
on top. Bailey said that Chipman
seemed to be trying to take the dep-
uty’s gun, which was in a holster on
his hip. At the same time, Deputy
Walker was trying to get at the gun,
either to hold on to it or to draw it,
Bailey said.

While this was going on, Bailey
related, Macklin pushed Deputy Ab-
bott against the wall and they began
struggling with each other. Bailey
said that Abbott’s pistol was under
his belt and as the two men scuffled,
Abbott seemed to be getting the bet-
ter of Macklin.

Then, Bailey said, Macklin man-
aged to get away from Abbott. Mack-
lin had gained possession of a can of
Mace that the deputy carried. Bailey
said that Macklin squirted the Mace
into Deputy Abbott’s face, then
turned and squeezed the can again,
shooting a stream of the chemical
into Bailey’s face.

The chemical made his eyes water
and smart, Bailey said, and he went
out the back door into the open air,
where he began rubbing his eyes,
trying to rid them of the temporar-~
ily blinding chemical.

He said he had been there only a
few moments when Deputy Abbott,
who had suffered the first shot from
the Mace can, came out the back
door, leaned against the building wall
and began rubbing his eyes.

Then, Bailey claimed, Deputy Ab-
bott spotted him. He said the deputy
pointed the gun at his head and said:
“Don’t move.” :

“T told him I wasn't going any-
where—that if T had wanted to I
could have gone,” Bailey said.

It was at this time that the atten-
tion of both the prisoner and deputy
Abbott was attracted by sounds com-
ing from the dental clinic. Bailey said
he heard a shot that had been fired
inside the office, then a woman, pre-
sumably the receptionist, began to
scream.

Seconds later, Bailey said, he
looked at the back door and saw
Macklin standing there with a .38
caliber revolver in his hand. He said
it looked like the service revolver
that Deputy Walker had carried.

Bailey said that Deputy Abbott
was facing the back door. He said
that Macklin, still holding the gun,

looked from the Deputy to Bailey,
then back again at Abbott.

Next, Bailey related, he heard a
shot and saw Deputy Abbott fall
backwards.

“How many shots were fired?”
asked Undersheriff Harlan.

Bailey replied that he thought that
only two shots had been fired. But
both apparently had been fired point-
blank. The first shot—the one that
struck Deputy Walker—apparently
penetrated his heart.

Word came from Hurley Hospital
that a shot had been fired point blank
at Deputy Abbott, too. He had suf-
fered a through-and-through wound,
the bullet entering his chest just
above his heart and exiting through
his back. Hospital officials said that
Abbott’s condition was regarded as
critical. He was in surgery and the
doctors were hopeful that his life
could be saved.

Meanwhile, a report came over the
police radio that one of the fugitives
had been seen running between
houses on East Gillespie Street.
Within moments, a dozen police cars
were lined up, and the area was sur-
rounded. A resident of the area
pointed to a house in the middle of
the block and said he thought the
man had gone in there. While a
dozen policemen, shielded by their
cars, crouched with loaded shotguns,
rifles and pistols, others ran towards
the house with guns drawn.

Two Flint city patrolmen decided
on the side door of the house and
approached it cautiously. One of the
officers kicked the door open and
slipped inside, his gun ready., While
his partner waited at the side door,
and others kept the house sur-

Sheriff Ron Stanley (I.) and Lt. John Gorman (below) directed intensive search

involving more than 250 officers in hot pursuit of Deputy Walker's killers . . .
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Investigators agreed that even a brave man would balk at sitting in a dentist chair. But they didn’t condone the

fight these two men put up which resulted in one man dead, another seriously wounded and several people in shock

rounded outside, he went through
the small house and searched every
cranny.

Finally, he emerged through the
front door and said nobody was in
the house.

This was the beginning of several
house-to-house searchers. The man
who had been reported running be-
tween the houses still had not been
accounted for. What had happened
to him?

After a huddle, it was decided to
search every house in the block.
While the majority of the officers
stayed at their positions behind their
cars, several other policemen went
to the first house in the block and
asked the occupants to evacuate it to
give them an opportunity to search
for the fugitives.

After all knmown inhabitants had
left the house and waited behind the
police lines, the officers went in and
began a room-by-room search. No-
body was found hiding in the house
and the procedure was repeated at
all the other houses until every room
had been searched.

Then the residents were allowed
to go back into their homes. But they
were advised to keep their doors
locked until the fugitives had been

captured and were safely in custody.

The questioning of Bailey and
other witnesses continued as the
number of men in the search swelled
with each passing minute. Among
those responding to the scene were
off-duty deputies and policemen as
well as many former deputies—some
who had retired, others who had
taken other jobs.

Overhead, a State Trooper rode in
a state police helicopter with binocu-
lars and air-to-ground radio. The
chopper huddled just over rooftops
while the trooper scanned every per-
son who was not undercover.

With police practically flooding the
north side area of offices and apart-
ment buildings, the top brass pieced
together the preceding events in the
hope that the information might turn
up some clue as to where the two
escapees had gone.

Bailey said that after he heard the
shots and saw Deputy Abbott fall
backwards, he ran across nearby
,North Street and shouted to a man
to call the police. But the man was
headed in the direction of the den-
tal building and didn’t stop. Bailey
said he went on to a house, where
he was allowed to use the telephone
to notify the sheriff’s department,

Then he went back across the
street and waited for the arrival of
police and deputies. He said he was
unable to add anything to what he
had already told the officers. Bailey
was taken into custody by deputies
an(li returned to the Genesee County
jail.

Another witness at the scene was
a man who had gone to the dental
clinic for treatment. He said he was
in a dental chair in one of the treat-
ment rooms, waiting for the dentist,
when he heard unusual sounds ema-
nating from what he knew was the
laboratory room.

The patient said he got out of the
dental chair and went to the open
door of the laboratory room down
the hall. He said he saw Chipman
and Deputy Walker wrestling on the
floor.

After standing a few minutes
watching the two struggle, the pa-
tient said that he saw Deputy Ab-
bott begin to scuffle with Chipman.

The patient added that he saw
Macklin then and Macklin had a can.
He used it to squirt something at
Deputy Abbott. The patient said
Chipman and Walker were still
struggling on (Continued on page 74)
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THE NERVY RAPE VICTIM
FINGERED A KILLER

by W. T. BRANNON
Sp;ecial Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

As police investigated the fatal shooting of a clerk in
a store holdup, Technician Joe Peak, shown at right in
photo above and with his back to camera in picture at
left, processed scene for clues, conferred with probers
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He probably thought she so shaken up when he dumped her
after sating his lust that she wouldn‘t remember a thing,
but despite her harrowing ordeal the attractive girl was able
to give Florida investigators remarkably coherent information
which later linked her assailunt to a cold-blooded killing

HE CALL CAME to the New
Port Richey Station of the Pasco
County sheriff’s department from a
man in a pay phone booth in Holiday,
Florida, a new community, small but
growing rapidly, whose limits begin
just a few feet north of the line
between Pinellas and Pasco Coun-
ties.

The caller said that he and two
companions had stopped at the 7-
Eleven store on U.S. Highway 19 in
Holiday to make some purchases, but
found nobody on duty. Then they
went behind the counter and found
the clerk, apparently dead, his head
resting in a pool of blood, on the
floor behind the magazine counter.
It was then a few minutes past 10
on Tuesday evening, March 2, 1971.

“Okay,” said the dispatcher.
“Please stick around and we’ll have
some men out there right away.” .

New Port Richey is a resort city
on the Gulf of Mexico with a normal
population of about 7,000; that was
almost doubled on March 1st, which
was the height of the winter tourist
season. It, too, is on U.S. Highway 19
and is only a few miles from Holiday.

Minutes after the call came in,
Sergeant Robert Samples of the
Pasco County sheriff's department
skidded his car to a stop in front of
the 7-Eleven shop, one of a chain of
several hundred throughout Florida,
all known as convenience stores. The
name is derived from the fact that
all the stores are open from 7 am.
to 11 p.m. They stock beverages, per-
ishables and staples that people are
most likely to need when other stores
are closed.

Like all the 7-Eleven stores, this
one had parking spaces in front as
well as 10-foot paved parking areas
on' both ends. Although Sergeant
Samples was there in less than five
minutes, a crowd had gathered and
now milled around outside.

Sergeant Samples was followed
quickly by other deputies who im-
mediately roped off the front of the
store to keep spectators from spoil-
ing possible evidence. Shortly after-
ward, Sheriff Basil Gaines arrived
from Dade City, the Pasco County
seat.

On arrival, Sergeant Samples had
hurried inside the store and the
three men, one of whom said he had
made the call, pointed to the mag-
azine counter. Behind it, Samples
found a middle-aged man lying face
down on the floor in a pool of what
obviously was his own blood.

Sergeant Samples made a prelim-
inary examination and determined
that the man was dead. Wounds
indicated that he had been shot at
least twice in the back of his head.

Sheriff Gaines arrived and after a
cursory examination, he went to the
phone and called Pasco County
Judge William Seaver and told him
of what had been found. Judge Sea-
ver said he would be there in a few
minutes and would act as coroner in
accordance with Florida law.

Searching the store, the officers
found the cash register drawer open
and all the currency was missing.
Near the telephone was the name of
the manager of the store and his
home phone number. Sheriff Gaines
called him and told him of the trag-
edy. He said he would come at once.

Meanwhile, - Chief  Investigator
Dennis Quilligan and Investigator
George Kern who worked for State
Attorney Jim Russell of Pinellas and
Pasco Counties arrived to assist in
the investigation.

Also at the scene was Technician
Joe Peak of the Pasco County sher-
iff’s identification section. He made
pictures of the exterior of the store,
then went inside and took closeup
pictures of the victim and the scene
behind the counter, as well as the

cash register drawer that gaped open.

Investigator Quilligan examined
the pavement in the parking areas
and found skid marks at the south
end of the store, as if someone in a
car, the killer perhaps, had taken off
at a high rate of speed.

Technician Peak was summoned
and the skid marks were photographed,
measured and sketched. The pictures
and measurements would be compared
with the tires of a car driven by any
suspect the officers might find later.

The 7-Eleven store was located
only about 300 feet from the Pinellas
County line and two veteran homi-
cide investigators of the sheriff’s de-
partment, Detectives Robert Somers
and “Hap” Hazzard, offered their
services.

The Pinellas County detectives as
well as Agents Quilligan and Kern
recalled the case of a stickup pair
they still were investigating. The
prior Saturday night, a white male-
female couple had stuck up two
stores in Pinellas County and escaped
with all the currency in the cash
register in each.

The modus operandi in both cases
was the same: The couple waited
until there were no customers in the
store and one clerk was on duty.
Then they went in and the man, who
had a gun, waved it at the clerk and
ordered him to lie face down behind
one of the counters.

While the woman rifled the cash
register, the man stood over the
clerk with a gun, threatening to kill
him if he moved. As soon as the girl
had all the money, the pair took off,
after telling the *victim that he would
be shot to death unless he stayed on
the floor in the same position for
five minutes.

About 15 minutes before the three
men had walked into the 7-Eleven
store and found the clerk dead be-
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hind the magazine counter, the male-
female team had robbed a conveni-
ence store in New Port Richey and
fled with about $50 from the register.
The New Port Richey city police
were investigating that case when
the call came in to the sheriff’s sta-
tion.

There seemed no doubt that this
was the same couple who had stuck
up the two stores in Pinellas County
on Saturday night. The girl was de-
scribed as about 19 years old, with
long blonde hair. She had attractive
features and blue eyes and was what
even the victims characterized as
stacked: She was about five feet six
inches tall and weighed about 130
pounds.

She had a becoming suntan and
there was only one thing to distract
from her looks: She had a runny
nose.

Her companion was described as
about six feet tall, weighing 160
pounds, with long, dark hair. The
victims estimated he was about 25
years old.

After the Saturday night robber-
ies, Pinellas County sheriff’s detec-
tives had received word that the
male-female combo had first struck
in Fort Myers several days before.
They had followed the Tamiami Trail
northward to Bradenton and Pal-
metto, then apparently had picked up
U.S. Highway 19, crossed Tampa
Bay on the Sunshine Skyway, and
continued north through Pinellas
County. '

Were the blonde and her compan-~
ion responsible for the shooting death
of the clerk in the 7-Eleven store?
It was known that they had robbed
a convenience store in New Port
Richey, about four miles away 15
minutes before.

But there was one difference be-
tween this and all the -others. In the
previous robberies, the couple had
threatened to kill the victim if he
resisted, but there had been no actual
violence.

The police of New Port Richey
reported that the victim had given
the same description of the male-
female robbery team as in the other
cases. On the chance that they had
killed the 7-Eleven clerk, Sheriff
Gaines and Chief Quilligan broad-
cast an alarm to sheriff’s departments
in Pinellas County to the south, Hills-
borough County to the east and Her-
nando County to the north. Known
facts of the murder also were broad-
cast.

The manager of the store arrived
and identified the victim as Daniel
J. DeVries, 43. After Technician
Peak had dusted the cash register
for fingerprints, the manager checked
the tape and said that about $148
was missing.

Judge Seaver, acting as coroner,
arrived and examined the body. As
required by Florida law, he made a
sketch of the area behind the coun-
ter, showing a rough outline of the
body on the floor. Then he author-
ized removal of the body to the
morgue to be held for an autopsy the
next morning.

About this time, a message was
received from the office of Hillsbor-
ough County Sheriff Malcolm Beard.
He reported that a call had just been
received from a girl who said she
was a clerk in a convenience store
on the northwestern outskirts of
Tampa.

The woman said two men had
entered the store about 10:15 p.m,
had taken about $50 from the cash
register, then had kidnaped her. She

Deputies Carter (I.) and Schoenbrun spotted stolen car, a key clue

had been taken to an cbscure section
north of Tampa, where she had been
raped by one of the men. Then she
had been taken to the intersection
of Sligh and North Hines Avenue,
where she had been released.

She had called the sheriff’s office
from the nearest telephone and now
was waiting at Slight and North Hines.
A deputy cruising in the area had been
notified by radio and a detective had
been dispatched from the sheriff’s
office.

Although two men had been in-
volved in this case, Sheriff Gaines
and Chief Quilligan realized they
could have been part of a three-
member gang and that the blonde
could have waited elsewhere while
the pretty young clerk was being
raped.

The Hillsborough County Deputy
who was dispatched to meet the vie-~
tim at Sligh and North Hines Av-
enues was William D. Law. He was
followed shortly by Sheriff’'s Detec-
tive Robert Cole. The attractive
young victim, who said she was 21,
was still shaken and distraught by
her harrowing experience, but she
was remarkably coherent. She told
the officers that the two men had
escaped in a 1971 white over light
blue Pontiac LeMans.

She said the last three digits of the
license number were 449 and that it
was an Arizona license plate. This
information was called in to the dis-
patcher who immediately began broad-
casting an alarm for the Pontiac carry-
ing1 two men and possibly a blonde
girl.

Then the rape victim was taken to
headquarters, where she gave a full
account of what had happened:

The girl clerk was alone in the
store at 10:15 p.m., when one bandit
entered and brandished a gun. He
took about $50 from the cash regis-
ter, then handed it to the girl and
told her to put it in a paper bag. She
did so, and he stuffed the bag in his
pocket.

Then the bandit waved the gun
menacingly again and ordered the
girl to go outside and get in the pas-
senger side of the front seat of the
Pontiac. Another man was behind the
wheel but it was dark and she didn't
get a very good look at him.

“Do you think you can identify
the other man if we find him?” asked

Sergeant Cole.
“Yes, I'm pretty sure I can,” she
replied.

She said that the man with the
gun got in the back seat and kept it
pointed at her as the car began mov-
ing.

“Do you know what kind of gun
the bandit had?” asked Detective
Cole.

“Yes,” the girl replied. “It was just
like yours.”

Detective Cole took his gun out of
its holster. It was a snubnosed blue
steel .38 caliber revolver. He held it
out so the girl could take a good look
at it.



“Was the gun the same color as
this?”
“Yes,” she replied.

“The same general length and
size?”
“Yes, it was.”

The young woman said that as
they rode, the two men told her that
they had stuck up a store near New
Port Richey a few minutes before,
They said the male clerk had been
shot twice in the back of the head
and they didn’t have anything to lose.

“We mean business,” she quoted
the man in the back seat as telling
her. “You better do as we tell you or
we’ll kill you, too.”

They were in a deserted section
outside the city now" and she was
ordered to climb. over into the back
seat. She said the man in the back
seat had the revolver and he threat-
ened to kill her and her children if
she gave him any trouble. She said
he was just guessing that she had
children.

It was then that the man raped
her. Afterward, she was driven to
Sligh and North Hines Avenue. The
men stopped the car and said they
were going to release her. But the
one who had raped her told her he
would shoot her if she tried to get
the license number as the car was
leaving.

Despite the threat, she did try to
get the license number, but had suc-
ceeded only in getting the last three
digits, 449, and noting that it was a
1971 Arizona license plate. Then she
went into the house in which she had
been dropped off and telephoned the
sheriff’s office.

She was unable to describe the
man who was driving except that he
appeared to be tall and muscular
with dark hair. The man who had
assaulted her, she said, also was tall
and muscular with dark hair. She

estimated he weighed about 200
pounds.
However, she said that neither

man had long hair, and that pretty
much ruled both of them out as the
male partner of the man-woman
team that had been robbing stores
from Fort Myers to New Port
Richey, the latest one that very
night.

After she had made her statement,
the girl was taken to a hospital,
where she was examined by a doc-
tor and it was confirmed that she had
been raped. She was treated and
released and the deputies took her
back to the store from which she had
been kidnaped. The cash register and
other likely spots were dusted for
fingerprints. The only ones on the
register were those of the girl her-
self. Others were not immediately
identified,

Then the girl locked up the store,
and the deputies escorted her as she
drove home to see that she arrived
safely.

The following morning, Major John
Salla, chief of the sheriff’s criminal
investigation division, assigned De-

tectives Cole, Buford Knowles and
Norman Bedingfield to the case. An
alert was broadcast for all cruising
patrolmen to watch for a 1971 white-
over-light blue Pontiac Le Mans,
with Arizona license tags bearing the
last three digits, 449.

The following morning in Holiday,
Investigators Quilligan and Kern
were back on the job, assisting Pasco
County Sheriff’'s Detective Jim Me-
Call. Assistant State Attorney James
McClain, who handles most Pasco
County prosecutions, also joined the
detective.

An appeal had been made for wit-
nesses to contact the officers and the
investigators stationed themselves at
the 7-Eleven store to question cus-
tomers who came in. Most of them
said they had not been there the
night before. A few had been in the
store the evening of the slaying, but
the time was from one to three hours
before DeVries was shot.

Meanwhile, Technician Joe Peak
was joined by another Pasco County
technician, Jim Murry, and the two
men dusted all likely spots for prints
that Peak had missed the night before.
Some of the prints were those of the
victim, but others could not be
identified.

After the body of DeVries had
been formally identified by a relative,
Dr. John R. Fegel performed the
autopsy. He reported that two .38
caliber bullets had entered the back
of the victim's head. Both were
removed and turned over to Sheriff
Gaines. They were sent to the Flor-
ida Bureau of Law Enforcement at
Tallahassee, where ballistics special-
ists said they appeared to have been
fired from a Smith & Wesson re-
volver. The slugs were held for bal-
listics comparisons if a suspected
weapon were found.

The questioning of potential wit-
nesses—customers of the 7-Eleven
store—continued, and finally the in-
vestigators found a young couple
who had been in the store about 10
p.m.,, on the night of the murder. The
petite blonde girl, only 15 years old,
said that she had been driven to the
store by her husband.

Both said that as they drove up to
the front of the store, the husband
first stopped at the south end in front
of a blue Pontiac that was in the
parking lot at the south end of the
store, They said the blue Pontiac had
been backed in. While the young
housewife went in the store, the hus-
band moved his car so that the Pon-
tiac could get out if the driver
wanted to leave before they did.

Both told the investigators that
they had noticed that the blue Pon-
tiac had Arizona license plates, but
they hadn’t noticed the number be-
cause there seemed to be no reason
to. It was not unusual to see a car
with an out-of-state license. During
the height of the tourist season, there
are almost as many cars with licenses
from other states as those with Flor-
ida tags.

§ :
Certain leads turned up by top investi-

gators in the case led them to quiz
Kenneth Stringer and Jim Brown (below)

The young wife had gone into the
store to make a 56-~cent purchase,
she said, and besides herself and the
clerk, a man was in the store and
she said he got a “fairly good look”
at him, The description she gave
matched that of the man who had
raped the convenience store clerk in
Tampa about an hour and a half later.
The young housewife said she be-
lieved she could identify him if she
ever had the opportunity.

The couple said the man was still
in the store when they left. The blue
Pontiac was still in the parking area
at the end of the store when they
drove away. They said there might
have been a man behind the wheel,
but it was dark and they hadn’t
bothered to look.(Continued on page 67)
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Trying to track down the ringleader in a series of bank heists

in the Mid-South, FBI agents and local officers had little

to go on except one irritating certainty:

SUCCESSFUL bank robber
~ can afford to be a swinging
dude. And, according to all
accounts, tnat’s what the
* burly mechanic from Joelton, Ten-
nessee was—a real swinger.
He would knock off a bank, go to
Nashville and get him a woman, then
head for the bright lights out west.
And on the way he would spend
money like it was going out of style.
The way one of his female travel-
ing companions put it, “he was
always ready to bust a big bill.”

Such a life style can be habit-
forming. People with habits are pre-
dictable. And indulging in the high
life wasn’t the only regular practice
the big mechanic adopted.

Handcuffed Johnny Pace came un-
der scrutiny by police because he
fit description of “big, fat” bandit
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BANK ROBBER'S
FAVORITE DIET
WAS MONEY

by MALLEY J. BYRD
Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

THE FAT

He developed a modus operandi
for robbing banks that must have
become almost second nature. By the
time he heisted a half dozen, he had
the method down pat, and he was
leaving his trademark on each one.

Not that he left a calling card or
anything so crude, but he went about
each robbery in exactly the same
way. And he couldn’t disguise the
fact he was a big man with a large
pot belly.

Each bank was located in a small
town in Middle Tennessee. Each was
robbed shortly before or after the
noon hour. And each time the holdup
man made customers and employes
lie face down on the floor, stand in
a closet or hug the wall.




There were other similarities. The
big holdup man always used a stolen
car for a getaway vehicle, then aban-
doned it later. And each time he had
an accomplice, but whether it was
the same man remains his secret. He
hasn’t said. -

By the time Federal and state
authorities ended the holdup wave,
it numbered seven. And the total
known loot came to $170,000. There
may have been others. These were
the robberies in which charges were
eventually filed.

The big holdup man’s modus oper-
andi wasn’t so glaring at first, per-
haps because he refined it a bit on
each job until he developed a stan-

dard procedure. The first stickup
came on November 1, 1968, at the
New Johnsonville branch of the
Bank of Waverly.

It was 11:40 a.m. when two bandits
armed with pistols and wearing
gloves walked in and confronted
James Larry Crawford, a teller. One
man, obviously the leader, wore sun~
glasses and a cap pulled low on his
forehead.

Crawford noticed the leader had
“a pot stomach and a heavy beard.”
The other, a slight, nondescript indi-
vidual, had no particularly distin~-
guishing features.

Crawford studied the heavy-set
man closely. Later he would identify
the high-living mechanic from Joel-
ton as that person. So would a female
employe of the bank.

With $11,401 in loot, the two rob-

bers took off, leaving frightened cus-
tomers and employes spread-eagled
against the walls. Several people saw
the getaway car roar out of town,
but it was never found.

On February 17, 1969, two holdup
men walked into the Capital City
Bank of Goodlettsville, a Nashville
suburb, and ordered everybody
there to stand with their faces
against the wall. Then they looted
the tellers’ cages of $10,146 and made
their getaway.

Mrs. Myra Hunter, a teller, said
she couldn’t identify either bandit,
but the general description she gave
of one matched that given by people
who saw the two gunmen in New
Johnsonville. Mrs. Hunter was almost
charitable toward one in that she
called him “a portly gentleman.”

The description had nothing to do
with his manners, only his size. And
again he was reported wearing dark
sunglasses. This time he had a blue
bandanna handkerchief over his face.
His companion’s description was
vague.

Apparently the portly holdup man
was beginning to develop expensive
tastes.

Whereas three months elapsed be-
tween the first two robberies, it was
only a month before he and a com-
panion struck again.

And this time one of the marked
peculiarities of his MO became more
obvious. It involved his method of
reaching and fleeing the robbery
scene.

Leslie C. Owens of Madison, Ten-
nessee decided to go fishing on March
8, 1969. He drove to Cuba Landing
on the Tennessee River, towing his
boat on a small trailer behind the
automobile. Then he launched the
boat and left the car and trailer
parked at the water’s edge.

When he came back the trailer was
sitting where he left it. The car was
gone. Since he had the keys in his
pocket it seemed reasonable to as-
sume the thief had “hot-wired” it.
Bits of insulation stripped from an
electric cord supported this theory.

Next day two robbers, “one a man
with a large frame and a very large
stomach,” strolled into the Northern
Bank of Tennessee at St. Bethlehem
just before noon and ordered all the
employes to stand in a large closet.

Mrs. Betty K. Rone, bank recep-
tionist, made a mental note of the
fact the bigger bandit wore sun-
glasses, a blue and white polka-dot
bandanna over his face, and a slouch
hat pulled down to his eyebrows.
Both wore gloves.

The bank employes stayed in the
closet until silence in the lobby told
them the robbers were gone. Then

' they came out, alerted law enforce-

ment agencies and took inventory.
This time the take was $32,000.

Later in the day the car stolen
from Cuba Landing was found aban-
doned near St. Bethlehem. It had
been damaged in a most unusual
manner.

The lock on the car trunk had
been punched out, and the air filter
removed from the carburetor and
placed inside the trunk. FBI agents
who examined the car speculated on
the reason for such a strange pro-
cedure,

Removing the air filter wouldn’t
have any bearing on “hot-wiring” a
car, which had been done to this one.
Special Agent Don C. Birdwell the-
orized the procedure was intended
to give the car more speed by allow-
ing an increased air flow into the
carburetor.,

The $32,000 loot from the St. Beth-
lehem stickup (Continued on page 82)

Despite handcuffs, Pace shows fast
pace here trying to avoid cameraman



BONUS-LENGTH FEATURE

The irrefutable evidence of murder was still fresh in his car,

but this brash, hardened criminal was so cocky and sure

of himself that, with the opportunity to escape scot-free,

he deliberately tempted fate and virtually dared

the cops to prove he was guilty of anything

THE KILLER
PLAYED GAMES
WITH THE POLICE

by CRAIG CALDANIE
Special Investigator for OFFICIAL DETECTIVE STORIES

8

duced some of the most spectacu-

lar murderers and murder cases

in America, sometimes in such
profusion that they vied with one
another for headlines. In such in-
stances, the one which had broken
first received the major share of
publicity, and another murder,
though equally sensational both in
commission and solution, became a
big story only in the immediate area
of the crime scene.

Sometimes, too, a case was short-
changed by the press because its de-
velopments, while startling in their
own right, did not break fullblown
in one shocking revelation; they came
in piecemeal fashion, an item today,

THE STATE of California has pro-

‘Murder probe was launched when cops

opened the rear trunk of this car and
one said: “It smells like death . . ./
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another a few days later, then noth~
ing for another considerable space of
time. From an editorial standpoint,
interest in a great criminal case must
be sustained from day to day to merit
front-page treatment.

It was something of that nature
which was responsible for the fact
that the case of Michael Timothy
Cavanaugh, although one of the most
remarkable homicide cases in the an-
nals of Western crime, is almost for-
gotten, except among police officials
who wére immediately concerned
with it and remember Cavanaugh as
one of the trickiest criminals ever
encountered in their long careers. It
was a case that forced them to pit all
the intelligence, skill and resources
at their command against one of the
most dangerous lawless types in the

Police bullet struck fleeing Mike Cavanaugh in rear end, but he still put up a fight and had to be handcuffed

book—a hardened criminal and glib
con man so cocky and sure of himself
that, with the opportunity to escape
scot-free after a crime, he deliber-
ately let himself be seen and virtually
dared police to prove he was guilty
of anything.

This was the pattern of the case

“from the very outset. If Tom Black,

the “hit and run victim,” had not
been brought to the emergency room
of Denver’s St. Luke’s Hospital on
that drizzling Wednesday night, July
29, 1953, in all likelihood he would
have been dead before anyone found
him. And though his injuries may
have been regarded as the product
of something more than a vehicular
accident, it is highly unlikely that
any lead would have been found to
his assailant.

What actually happened made it a
different sort of case altogether.

The hands on the white-faced
clock above the reception desk in St.
Luke’s emergency room stood at
11:48 when a husky, curly-haired
six-footer burst through the double
swinging doors and cried, “I got a
guy in my car who’s hurt bad! Picked
him up on the highway—hit and
run, I think. You better send some-
body out here with a stretcher.”

An interne standing within earshot
signaled to a couple of orderlies, who,
without further instructions, picked
up a litter and headed outside to the
parking area. The big man went with
them. He was wearing khaki chino
slacks and a sport shirt—white with
bright red and blue knitted designs.
There was blood on one sleeve.
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Cops examined interior of suspect car looking for clues to identity of owner

As they all went out the emer-
gency room door, the girl at the
desk picked up the phone and called
the Denver police. “This is St. Luke’s
emergency,” she said. “They’re
bringing in a hit and run victim.”

That was all. At headquarters, the
desk sergeant relayed the message
to the radio dispatcher. He checked
his chart, then called an order to a
radio patrol car nearest the hospital.
Manning it were Patrolmen Julian
Bender and Bart Alexander, who
heard the message, “Proceed to St.
Luke’s emergency room. Investigate
hit-and-run victim.”

At the hospital, the orderlies had
removed an injured man from the
car in the parking lot, put him on a

Check with Arizona avthorities

litter, and carried him inside, where
they transferred him to a wheeled
surgical table, then rolled it and its
bloody burden into the examining
room. The nurse at the desk called
the big man who had brought the in-
jured man in.

“We'll need some information from
you,” she said, spreading a form be-
fore her and picking up a pen. “What
is your name, please?”

“What do you need my name for?”
the man asked petulantly. “I'm just
passing through town. I found the
guy on the road and brought him in.
Isn’t that enough?”

A doctor standing nearby inter-
vened. “We’re required to get this
information in a case of this kind,”
he said quietly. “It’s just a formal-

revealed the car had been stolen

ity. The nurse only has a few gques-
tions. I'm sure you won’t mind.”

Mollified, the big man said his
name was Ralph R. Welch, from Tuc-
son, Arizona. “I'm on my way back
East, to Columbia University in New
York. I saw this fellow lying in the
street and thought it was my duty
to pick him up and bring him here.”

He was vague when asked to pin-
point the exact location where he had
found the injured man. When the
nurse had gotten as much informa-
tion out of him as she could, she
asked him to wait around for a little
while.

“What do I have to wait for now?”
he asked belligerently. “I told you
everything I know.”

“The police have been notified,”
the nurse responded. “The law re~
quires it in these cases. They’ll be
here any moment now. They will
want to ask you some questions,

“since you're the only one who knows

anything about it.”

A jaw muscle twitched in the big
guy’s face. His eyes narrowed and
he seemed thoughtful for a moment.
“Okay,” he drawled then. “I'll stick
around.”

Patrolman Bender and Alexander
came through the double doors only
moments later. Welch got up from
his chair and reached the reception
desk only a step behind them. The
nurse was saying, “That's the man
who brought him in. His name—" she
paused to look at the form she had
filled out—“is Ralph R. Welch.” She
handed Bender a carbon copy of the
report.

The big man didn’t give him time
to read it. “Say, officers, can’t I leave
now?” he demanded. “I just brought
this fellow here. I found him in the
street. They told me I had to wait,
but I don’t know a thing more about
him than I told the girl, and T've got
to get away. I'm in a hurry.”

The two officers locked him over.
They saw a tall, sturdily built man
with a strong, roundish face topped
by dark blond curly hair. The blood
spots on his shirt held their attention
for a moment. They noted his air of-
impatience.

“You'll have to wait a few min-
utes more, Mr. Welch,” Officer Alex-
ander said. “We’ll have to get your
story for our report. We won’t take
long.”

“But I just gave her all the infor-
mation I know,” Welch protested ir-
ritably. “You can get it all from her.”

“Can’t do it that way, sorry,” Alex-
ander replied easily. “We have to get
it first-hand. Just wait here a min-
ute. I'll be right back.”

With a barely perceptible nod to
his partner, Alexander walked into
the examining room to look at the
injured man. Patrolman Bender kept
a watchful but unobtrusive eye on
Welch.

In the examining room a doctor
was working rapidly over the man on
the table. “How’s it look, Doc?” the
officer asked.



Dr. Robert J. Shearer looked up
briefly.

“This man may die without regain-
ing consciousness,” he said. “I don’t
like the looks of him. Besides, this
isn’t a case for a private hospital.
This is for General, and for you fel-
lows.

“We don’t know anything about
this man, or the circumstances. The
only thing we found on him was that
identification card.” He nodded to-
ward a chair, where an ID card
rested atop a heap of bloody clothes.

Officer Alexander walked over and
picked up the card. “Tom Black,” he
read aloud. There was no address.
Alexander picked up the trousers.
“His pants pockets are turned inside
out. Is that the way he was brought
in?”

“That’s right,” Dr. Shearer said.
“No wallet, no money, nothing but
this card. And there’s another thing
you might note. . . . Look at this V-
mark cut into the flesh where his left
hand is broken. As though he was
hit with a steel bar of some kind,
maybe a jack handle. This doesn’t
look like a hit-run case to me. Looks
more like he was beaten, then maybe
thrown from a car.”

The patrolman picked up the tele-
phone and called Denver General
Hospital, requesting an ambulance
immediately to transfer the patient
to the city hospital. Then he returned
to the reception room where the big
man was waiting, with obvious im-
patience, under the watchful eye of
Patrolman Bender.

“All right,” Alexander said, “let’s
start from the beginning. Tell us all
about this.”

“My name is Ralph Welch, Ralph
R. Welch,” the big man began with
manifest annoyance. “I'm from Tuc-
son, Arizona. I'm on my way to New
York. I'm going to Columbia Uni-
versity there. I saw this guy lying in
the street. He was hurt. I picked him
up, put him in my car, and brought
him here. I'm a good Samaritan.”

“What street? Where did you find
him?”

“How the hell would I know what
street? I'm a stranger in town. I
thought the guy might be dying, so I
figured I better get him to a hospital
fast. I maybe broke your speed lim-
its getting him here. I didn’t stop to
look at street signs. The guy was
was bleeding like a pig all over my
car, and look at my shirt here—see
that blood? It’s ruined.”

“How did you happen to find this
hospital?” Patrolman  Alexander
asked.

The question seemed to catch the
. big man offguard. He stammered
“Why—why—there was a little boy
passing by—I asked him where the
nearest hospital was. He directed me
here.”

The officers exchanged quick
glances. Up to this point, Welch’s
story was credible, even if vague.
The vague points might have been
explained by the man’s unfamiliarity

with the city, however. But his story
about a little boy wandering around
the streets at midnight on a stormy
night—that was hard to swallow.
Alexander immediately thought of
the victim’s turned-out pockets. Rob-
ery? It was a distinct possibility.

“Let’s see your identification,” he
said brusquely.

“Sure,” the burly character replied
surlily. He fumbled for a moment in
the hip pocket of his trousers. Then
produced a wallet. More fumbling in
the identification pockets, and then
he handed over an automobile in-
surance card bearing the name of
Ralph Robert Welch, with an ad-
dress on West Alturas Street in Tuc-
son, Arizona. Next he handed them
an automobile registration card,
made out for a 1961 Ford convertible,
issued to the same name.

“Do you have a driver’s license?”
Alexander asked him as Patrolman
Bender copied down the information
from the first two credentials offered,
and into his notebook.

Welch flared belligerently. ‘“Say,
what is this?” he demanded angrily.
“Here I try to be a good guy and
help out someone who’s hurt, and
you fellows treat me like I'm a
damned criminal! I haven’t got all
night to—"

The interruption was caused by
the arrival of the ambulance from
General Hospital. The officers sus-
pended the questioning briefly while
they watched the injured man loaded
aboard. When the city ambulance
drove away, they returned to Welch.

“Let’s go take a look at your car,”
Officer Bender said.

Again the big blond man exploded
angrily. “What kind of a deal are you
guys trying to pull?” I'm no cheap
crook. I—"

“Take it easy, fella,” Bender said.
“We'd just like to take a look at it—
for the record. What's wrong with
that? You've got nothing to hide,
right?”

Flanked by the two officers, Welch
started out the double doors, but as
they reached the loading platform
outside, he suddenly wheeled and
started to walk away. Officer Bender
reached out and grabbed him by the
arm. §

“What’s coming off here?” Welch
protested. “Are you guys arresting
me? And what for?”

Bender clutched his arm firmly
and said evenly, “Stop being a tough
guy, Welch. We just want you to
stick around for a while. The detec-
tives might want to question you.
Now, let’s go look at your car.”

The light green convertible, bear-
ing Arizona license plates, stood
gleaming in the rain, front wheels to
curb. Its top was up. Patrolman
Alexander opened the front door and
turned a flashlight on the interior. At
that instant, the muscular suspect
suddenly wrenched himself free of
Officer Bender’s grasp.

“To hell with you guys!” he yelled.

Master Sergeant Ralph Welch was
murdered and his body stuffed into
trunk of his own car by the killer

“I'm not sticking around while you
snoop in my car!”’

The words were hardly out of his
mouth when he was sprinting down
the street, with the two officers in
hot pursuit, shouting for him to stop
as they drew their service pistols.
They were hampered by their bulky
raincoats, however, and it looked
like they would lose the man as he
disappeared around the corner and
headed up Twentieth Avenue. They
saw him pull out his wallet as he
ran.

“Stop or we’ll shoot!” both officers
warned.

Screams suddenly filled the air as
the chase swept by a group of young
nurses just coming off duty.

Now the fleeing man darted reck-
lessly across the street and brakes
screeched as oncoming cars narrowly
averted running him down. He dis~
appeared around another corner, but
the officers caught sight of him again
as they followed him down the new
street. He was nearly half a block
ahead of them, but the gap was wid-
ening. Again they yelled a warning
to stop or they would shoot. Welch
ignored the warning.

Each officer fired a shot in the air
over the fugitive’s head. He kept run-
ning. Then they took aim at his legs
and fired again. Welch went down,
tumbling forward under the momen-
tum of his own flight,

When Bender and Alexander
reached him, he was cursing and
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struggling to rise and continue his
attempt to escape. One bullet had
struck him in the right buttock. The
wallet was still clutched firmly in his
hand, and he continued struggling so
violently that they had to put hand-
cuffs on him.

While trying to determine the ex-
tent of his injury as they awaited
an ambulance, they found that the
bullet which had hit him had passed
right through a folded checkbook in
his hip pocket. The checks in it were
imprinted with the name, Tom Black.

“Looks like he had good reason to
run,” Officer Alexander observed
grimly, still panting from the exer-
tion of the chase. “Either he beat and
robbed that guy he brought in, or he
rolled him while he was lying there.”

Moments later the area was filled
with police vehicles, as radio cruis-
ers and detectives, alerted by the
hospital staff when the chase began,
responded to the alarm from head-
quarters. Even handcuffs did not
deter the muscular fugitive from
struggling and it required the efforts
of four men to load him into the
General Hospital ambulance.

Patrolmen Bender and Alexander
filled in the detectives on what had
transpired thus far, and the group of
officers returned to the hospital park-
ing lot to examine Welch’s converti-
ble. They noted immediately that the
chrome grille work on its front end
was newly damaged; it looked like it
had run into a car which stopped
ahead of it.

They found a profusion of blood
on the front floor mat and on the
leather covers of the right front seat,
obviously where Black, the injured
man, had been placed for his journey
to the hospital.

On the floor of the rear seat they
found a bumper jack, the handle of
which ended in a V-shape. Detec-
tives put the jack and its handle in
their car for delivery to the crime
lab, where it would be examined in
detail. Patrolman C. E. Myers then
was assigned to drive the converti-
ble to headquarters. The other police
vehicles followed him in.

Before they reached the station,
however, the convertible became
mired in a mudhole, and the other
officers stopped to help Myers free
the car. Myers went back to the
trunk, to see if it might contain a
shovel, but he had hardly opened it
when he recoiled. A nauseating odor
rose from the trunk compartment.

Later Myers said, “When we op-
ened that trunk, we smelled death
right off.”

Another detective who was pres-
ent added, “And in view of what had
happened, it smelled like murder.”

The veteran officers had no doubt
about the nature of the sickly-sweet
stench in the trunk. It could only
have been caused by one thing—
decomposing flesh. There was no
body in the compartment now, but
there must have been one there not
long since. At the moment, all they

could see was a wealth of caked and
dried stains in the bottom and sides.
It would require laboratory analysis
to make it official, but they were
sure it was blood. There also was a
scattering of leaves and gravel litter-
ing the trunk compartment.

Obviously, of course, the dried
bloodstains could not have been
made by Black, the “hit-run” victim
brought to the hospital that night.
The same question therefore, was in
the minds of every officer on the
scene: Had there been another at-
tack, ending in murder?

Chief of Detectives Captain Wil-
liam E. Flor was called at home and

awakened to be filled in on the de-
tails. “Looks like we've got hold of a
big one,” one of his men concluded.
Flor dressed hurriedly and came to
headquarters, where he found Lieu-
tenant James E. Shumate, head of
the crime laboratory, examining the
blood~stained convertible in the
police garage.

While awaiting the results of this
examination, Catpain Flor dispatched
a fingerprint team to the hospital.
The team found its work cut out for
it; Welch, still full of fight, had to
be strapped down and subdued with
a sedative before they could get his
fingerprints. They had less trouble

Gas chamber of San Quentin prison’s Death Row loomed for the murderer



with Black, the “hit-run” victim.

Both sets of prints were run
through the Denver Police Depart-
ment’s identification division, with
negative results. The files contained
nothing on either man. Captain Flor
ordered copies of their prints rushed
to the FBI in Washington for com-
parison against the federal bureau’s
master files. He also ordered “a
make” on the convertible’s license
plate number through Arizona State
Police headquarters in Phoenix.

“Let's see what Welch had on
him,” Flor said next. He was handed
the bullet-pierced checkbook belong-
ing to Tom Black, and the wallet be-

longing to Welch. In the latter, he
found $180 in cash, as well as a
United States Marine Corps certifi-
cate stating that Master Sergeant
Ralph Robert Welch was honorably
discharged on May 18, 1953. That was
only a few days more than two
months earlier.

An Arizona driver’s license and
other papers all bore Welch’s identi-
fication. Captain Flor shook his head
sadly. “Just out of the Marines and
going haywire like that. He's got a
wife and kid, too—pictures of ’em
here.” He held out a few snapshots
showing a pretty blonde woman
holding an infant.

Cavanaugh readily agreed to take “truth serum” test proposed by police

Captain Flor picked up the tele-
phone and asked the operator to get
him Tucson police headquarters,
where he was connected with Cap-
tain James D. Allaire. Allaire copied
down all the information Flor could

- give him about Welch and promised

to run an immediate check on the
man at the West Alturas Street ad-
dress.

By the time Flor had finished talk-
ing to Tucson, Lieutenant Shumate
was ready with his report on his ex-
amination of the Ford convertible.
He had done a meticulously thorough
job, assembling specimens for analy-
sis, compiling copious notes, and tak-
ing both black and white and color
pictures of the trunk interior and
other parts of the car.

“There’s no doubt that a decom-
posing body was carried in that car,
and not too long ago,” Shumate in-
formed Captain Flor. “I've collected
samples of dried blood, hair, and
shreds of tissue. There’s fresh blood
on the jack handle—also hair, but
that probably came from Tom Black.
These other traces are older.

“And I found these in the back
seat.”

Shumate dropped a couple of ob-
jects on the captain’s desk—a pair of
sun glasses, with blood-encrusted
frames and cracked green lenses; and
a broken piece of removable gold
dental bridgework.

“How do you figure it?” the cap-
tain asked.

Lieutenant Shumate shrugged. “It
looks to me like someone was killed
in the back seat, then put in the
trunk, carried for some days—no
telling how long—and later thrown
out. I've taken samples of the gravel
and leaves—they’re from some sort
of evergreen tree, and not very old.

“They might give us a lead to
where it happened. I'm sending all
the samples and data back to the
FBI lab. Do we have any idea who
the victim might have been?”

Captain Flor shook his head nega-
tively. “As yet, we've got very little
to go on. Both fellows are still un~
conscious—we had to knock out the
big guy with a shot to get his prints.”

“But if Welch’s story is true—that
he drove up here from Tucson and
was just passing through—the mur-
der could have been committed al-
most anywhere in Arizona, Utah, or
Colorado—maybe even in Mexico.

“And as for the victim, it could be
he came from any one of those places
—or none of them.” He pointed to a
thick sheaf of missing persons circu-
lars on his desk. We might get a lead
when we hear from Tucson, or when
we can talk to Black and the big
guy.n

A call to Denver General elicited
the information that Tom Black’s
condition was critical. He had a seri-
ous skull fracture, and his left hand
was broken, possibly suffered as he
attempted to ward off blows from his
assailant. Black was at that very
moment  (Continued on page 92)
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Maryland’s Case
of Pre-Marital Murder

Three hours before she was to become the bride of a ““confirmed

bachelor,”” Mary Finn was savagely beaten to death. Money and

jewels were stolen, but if robbery had been the only motive for

the slaying of the gentle lady, it was clearly a case of overkill

NLIKE most of the guys who

worked the night shift with

him at the Baltimore steel

plant, John K. Zigler was not

much of a drinking man.
Only rarely did he stop in at the tav-
ern near the plant when they quit
around 7:30 every morning. But that
Saturday morning of July 1st was a
rare occasion, and this time it was
John who had suggested to a couple
of his closest friends that they join
him for a few drinks before they
went home.

“I'm buying,” he announced. “After
all, it’s a special occasion.”

It was indeed. It was Zigler’s wed-
ding day. His pals knew about that,
of course, and when they reached
the tavern, Ziggie came in for a lot
of good-natured kidding, as might be
expected. For John Zigler was no
ordinary prospective bridegroom; he
had been a bachelor all his life, and
only now, at the age of 64, had he
decided to take a wife.

Ziggie was a good sport. He took the
ribbing well, and he bought a couple
rounds of drinks for several other fel-
lows at the bar who worked at the fac-
tory. Ziggie could afford it. Everyone
knew that. He was no miser, but his
friends knew that he was prudent with

by CHARLES CARROLL

Special Investigator for ACTUAL DETECTIVE STORIES

money and had salted away a tidy
amount in the years of his bachelorhood.
He stayed at the bar with his friends for
a little over an hour and left amid a pro-
fusion of congratulatory handshakes.
Then he walked the short distance to
his second-floor apartment where the
woman who would become his wife
three hours from now was waiting
for him.

“Mary!” he called eagerly as he
opened the door of his flat and
stepped in. “Mary—"

The sound suddenly froze in his
throat. Mary Finn, his fiancee, scant-
ily attired in her nightclothes, was
sprawled beside the living room
divan. One clutching hand outflung
across the sofa partly raised her side
off the floor. Her hair, streaming
down over the left side of her face,
was grotesquely matted with blood,
more of which had streamed down
over her back and shoulder.

John Zigler'’s screams brought
neighbors on the run, one of whom
ran to a phone and called the police.
Within a matter of minutes, the
street in front of the two-story row
house on North Castle Street was
clogged with official cars, not to men-
tion a steadily swelling crowd of peo-
ple attracted by the police activity.

Captain Oscar Koch, Lieutenant
Christian Butt and Sergeant Ed
Even had to force their way through.

Just outside the murder apart-
ment, they passed Zigler, mumbling
over and over, in a state of apparent
shock, “She’s dead! She’s dead!”

Some of his neighbors were trying
to comfort him.

Captain Koch took one look at the
body and commented that the woman
appeared to have been dead for sev-
eral hours. Sergeant Even, who had
knelt beside the corpse to examine
it, said, “She was beaten on the head.
Hit again and again till she died.
Looks like her skull was fractured.”

The officers noted a trail of blood
spots leading to the door, which sug-
gested she had tried to get to the
door to call for help. They also found
a good deal of blood in the kitchen.
A shutter in a window overlooking
a rear porch had been jimmied and
the screen forced open. This, then,
was how the killer got in. He could
have left the same way, or by either
the front or rear door.

Next they found ransacked draw-
ers. An empty billfold and a wom-
an’s handbag, their contents scat-
tered, lay atop a buffet. .
The officers who had first arrived



at the scene were now joined by the
Baltimore homicide chief, Captain Wil-
liam C. Feehley, Captain of Detectives
Henry L. Kriss, Lieutenant Stewart W.
. Deal, Detective Sergeant George Bryan
and Detective Joseph Mahrer. The
deputy coroner came in with them.
Captain Feehley assumed command
of the investigation as soon as Koch
had briefed him on what they had
learned thus far. Feehley then
turned to Zigler and asked him who
the victim was.

“My tiancee,” Ziggie said broken-
ly. “We were going to. be married
today, at noon.” He added that the
wedding originally had been set for
the previous Thursday, but they had
postponed it. “Now it’s postponed
forever,” he concluded with a sob.

The victim was Mary M. Finn,
Zigler said. She was in her late fif-
ties. “I had a feeling something was
going to happen,” he added.

Asked to explain, he said that until
quite recently, he had been sharing
his apartment with Preston and
Agnes Beck, who moved out because
of his impending marriage. Since
then, the place had been empty at
night and he had noticed marks on
the door lock, as though someone
had been trying to break in. He said
this had happened twice.

Inasmuch as he kept valuables in
the house—defense bonds, stocks,
and a considerable amount of cash—
Zigler said he thought it would keep
the burglars away if the rooms were
occupied. He had asked Mary Finn
to move in. He never dreamed it
would be dangerous for her.

At Captain Feehley’s request, the
grieving steel worker checked the
apartment to determine what might
be missing. His cache of valuables,
he reported shortly—bonds, stocks
and cash-—was intact. But something
else was gone.

“I gave Mary $600 in cash last
night,” Zigler said. “She put it in a
wallet in her pocketbook. Both the
money and her diamond engagement
ring are missing.”

“Anything else?” the
asked. :

Zigler made another search of the
entire flat, then reported, “It’s not
important, but I had a glass jar filled
with dimes. I kept it on a shelf here
—but now the jar is empty.”

Feehley told the technicians to
check the jar carefully for finger-
prints.

The deputy coroner’s report was
brief. He said the victim had been
bludgeoned to death with a blunt in-
strument. Rigor mortis had set in,
and he estimated the time of death
to be somewhere between 5:30 and
6:30 that morning.

Reports now began to come in from
detectives Captain Koch had pre-
viously assigned to canvass the
apartment house and the surround-
ing neighborhood. They found sev-
eral neighbors who said they thought
they had heard screams around 5:30.
Some said they seemed to come from
the Zigler apartment, but they had

captain

discounted this because they thought
Ziggie was away at work and the
place was empty; they didn't know
his fiancee had moved in.

Captain Feehley now assigned a
detective team to locate the couple
who had shared Zigler’s apartment
with him till recently. They hadn’t
left a forwarding address, but Zigler
gave the officer the names of some
neighbors with whom they had been
friendly. In the meantime, Ziggie’s
story had been checked out and the
captain eliminated him from suspi-
cion.

The Becks, Zigler’s recent tenants,
were located in Essex. Questioned
about visitors who had called on
them while they resided with Mr.
Zigler, they named several and pro-
vided their addresses.

Two fingerprints had been found
at the murder scene, but they were
not very promising. There was some
doubt whether they would be good
enough even for comparison pur-
poses. The glass jar which had held
Ziggie’s collection of dimes bore no
prints at all.

Of more interest, though, was the
report that two distinet blood types
had been found, Type AB and Type
O. Mary Finn, the victim, had Type
AB. This posed the possibility that
the killer had Type O, and had been
wounded in the struggle with his vic-
tim, who had probably inflicted a
deep scratch on her assailant. Fin-
gernail scrapings taken from the
dead woman seemed to confirm this
theory.

Late that afternoon came another
development. A late model sedan was
found abandoned near the railroad
depot, and in a routine check on its
ownership, the owner was found to
be a car rental agency at Essex. The
agency said the car had been rented
by Donald H. Brooks. An alert desk
sergeant spotted the report and
passed it along to Captain Kriss.

Donald H. Brooks was a relative
of the Beck couple who used to live
with Zigler, and was one of those
persons named by them as an occa-
sional visitor there. A hasty check
of the files showed that Brooks had
served a five-year term for burgla-
ry. From his parole officer, probers
learned he had married after leav-
ing prison. He supplied names and
addresses of his relatives.

“His record doesn’t make Brooks a
murderer, any more than Fontana’s
injured hand makes him guilty,”
Captain Feehley observed. “But I'd
like to know if Mr. Brooks has Type
O blood. Let’s find him.”

This proved to be easier said than
done. Brooks’ wife had left him.
None of his relatives knew much
about him, although it was learned
the ex-con had recently sold his
wife’s furniture for $215.

This information caused Lieuten-
ant Butts to speculate, “If Brooks
had that much money, it doesn’t fig-
ure that he’d pull a heist so soon.”

In the meantime, Captain Feehley

had been advised by John Zigler
that his slain fiancee’s diamond en-
gagement ring had not been stolen
by the murderer after all. He had
found it in a hiding spot, along with
some other valuables, which Mary
Finn apparently had used to protect
her jewelry.

The search for Brooks continued,
with little progress. He seemed to
have vanished from all his known
haunts. No one had seen him. Feeh-
ley ordered re-questioning of all his
contacts, and out of this came the
previously unknown information that
he had been dating a girl whose first
name was thought to be Martha, and
who was believed to reside on South
Ponca Street in Baltimore.

It was pretty vague, but it was all
they had to work with, so Captain
Feehley and Lieutenant Deal began
ringing doorbells on South Ponca
Street. Five hours later, at the very
last house on the street, they found
a householder who said his daugh-
ter’s name was Martha.

“Could we talk to her?” asked the
lieutenant.

“Well, you could if she was here,”
the home owner said, “but she’s not.
She’s probably at work now, but this
evening you might find her at her
place around the corner. She and her
husband have been living there ever
since they were married a few
months ago.”

It looked like a forlorn hope, but
Feehley and Deal didn’t rule it out.
That night they called on Martha.
She had never heard of Donald
Brooks, she insisted. They believed
her. She didn’t even come close to
resembling the description of Brooks’
girl friend.

Now they went back to their in-
formant. At their request, she ac-
companied them back to South Ponca
Street to help them find “Martha’s”
house, which she had seen once when
she was with Brooks as he drove the
girl home. She pointed out the house.

The landlady said she had no
Martha living there, but she’d been
thinking since the officers’ last visit.
Could the girl they wanted be named
“Marjorie?”

“I've got a Marjorie Coyne living
here,” she volunteered.

“That’s it!” the informant . ex-
claimed. “I remember now—I made
a mistake. Her name is Marjorie, not
Martha.”

Then came news of another mis-
take. The landlady, too, had made a
slip of the tongue. She no longer had
Miss Coyne as a roomer; Marjorie
had moved out this very day.

“A man rang the bell shortly after
six this morning,” she related, “and
said he wanted to see her. She came
down and spoke to him, then hur-
ried to her room and dressed, She
left with him, and around nine
o’clock they came back in a car. She
was carrying a brand new blue suit-
case. She went to her room, packed
the bag, and her own, and left. Said
she was going to New York, ’cause
her sister was sick and needed help.”
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Asked ‘to describe her roomer’s
male companion, the landlady gave
a description that fitted Donald
Brooks like the proverbial glove.
Captain Feehley and Lieutenant Deal
hurried back to headquarters and
turned a dozen men loose on Brooks’
trail. Inside of three hours, they had
found the luggage’ shop in Essex
where Brooks had purchased a blue
suitcase that morning. They also
found a ticket agent at the railroad
station who had sold a train ticket
to New York City to a man fitting
Brooks’ description. The  agent
seemed pretty certain Brooks was
alone, however. He had not seen any
woman with him.

“So they split up,” Captain Feeh-
ley mused. “We can’t be sure of his
reason, but Brooks and this Marjorie
gal are traveling separately, one by
train, the other by bus, probably.”

He called New York City police,
filled them in on his problem, and
asked for any help they could pro-
vide.

On the heels of this development,
came news that put the first sus-
pect, Augie Fontana, in the clear.
Detectives had found a bartender
who told them about Augie getting
a cut on his hand during a recent
fight in his ginmill. Captain Feehley,
left now with Brooks as his only
suspect, ordered his men to concen-
trate on this angle with renewed in-
tensity.

They did so, with fruitful results.
For one thing, associates of Brooks
expressed the opinion that the ex-
con had gone through the $200 he
got for his wife’s furniture before he
left for New York. He must have
financed that trip for his girl friend
and himself some other way.

“Don always went through money
fast,” the informant said. “He loves
to take gals out and buy fancy
clothes for them, and for himself. I
know he bought an expensive wrist
watch after he sold the furniture, but
the last time he was here he was
broke and didn't even have the
watsh. He borrowed half a buck from
me.

Feehley considered this informa-
tion of vital significance. If Brooks,
just a couple of days before the mur-
der of Mary Finn, had been so hard
up he had to borrow a measly half
dollar, where had he. come into the
money with which he’d rented a car,
bought a new suitcase, and railroad
and bus tickets for New York?

The captain had a strong suspi-
cion, but he still needed proof. He
sent men out to get it. Within the
hour, a detective called in to say he
had found the jewelry store where
Don Brooks had bought the wrist
watch on June 10th.

An hour later, another detective
called in. Working the pawn shop
detail, he had located the establish-
ment where Brooks had pawned the
watch on June 21st.

“He came in and redeemed it on
the morning of July 1st,” the detec-
tive added.

“That’s the day Mary Finn was
murdered,” Captain Feehley ob-

served grimly. “An interesting coin-
cidence.”

The captain now issued a new bul-
letin for the benefit of New York
City police, including in it a few de-
tails learned since the last one about
places in the northern city which
Brooks might be likely to frequent.
At the same time, every beat cop and
detective in Baltimore and environs
had been supplied with a mug shot
of the elusive suspect. But three
weeks passed with no sign of the
paroled burglar.

Then, shortly after noontime on
July 27th, Lieutenant Edward Dunn
and Sergeant Charles Marks, on a
routine patrol along Philadelphia
Road, approached a trucking com-
pany depot. Dunn had arrested Don-
ald Brooks once before and knew
the man well. He had been convers-
ing idly with Sergeant Marks when
suddenly he paused abruptly.

“Stop the car, Charlie!” he ex-
claimed.

Dunn leaped out of the cruiser
before it stopped rolling and sprinted
toward a tall, husky man walking
into the truck depot. He grabbed the
man by the arm and swung him
around.

“Hello, Brooks,” he said. “We've
been looking all over for you.”

“What for?” Brooks demanded.

Dunn didn’t bother to reply. He
quickly frisked the suspect, and his
hand touched an object which turned
out to be a heavily-taped blackjack.

“Pretty little toy,” the lieutenant
observed dryly. “What do you need
that for?”

“I've been working on the trucks,”
Brooks replied easily. “I keep that
for protection.”

At headquarters, Assistant Dis-
trict Attorney John H. Weiss, and
Captains Feehley and Kriss interro-
gated Don Brook about the Mary
Finn murder.

Brooks reacted with an air of ag-
grieved innocence. “Who would mur-
der that poor woman?” he exclaimed.

“We think you may have,” Captain
Feehley replied levelly. “Or at least
you know something about it.”

The fall ex-con vigorously denied
the accusation. Now his attitude
changed to what at first glance ap-
peared to be a spirit of cooperation.
He talked freely, and at length. It
did not escape his questioners, how-
ever, that his gabbiness stopped short
of anything specific which might link
him to a crime, any crime.

Brooks freely admitted he had
gone to New York, but he insisted it
wasn’t with Marjorie Coyne. He said
he had stayed there only a few days.
He claimed he had financed the trip
with money he had won in a crap
game with a bunch of servicemen—
he thought they were stationed at
Fort Meade—and some professional
gamblers.

Where did this game take place?

Brooks gave the approximate loca-
tion, but only approximate. How
much had he won?

“Around three hundred and fifty
bucks,” Brooks answered. “I was

really hot that day.”

It was an interesting story indeed,
but there was scarcely a line of it
which could be verified, a significant
fact which was not lost upon his in-
terrogators. At the moment, Brooks
had only a small amount of change
in his pockets, less than $2. He didn’t
even have the watch he had re-
deemed on the day of Mary Finn’s
murder.

In the meantime, examination of
Brooks’ prison records had disclosed
that his blood was Type O, the same
type as that presumed to have been
left at the murder scene by Mary
Finn's slayer. His blackjack was
carefully analyzed, but no trace of
blood was found on this lethal in-

strument.
“It could still be the murder
weapon, though,” Captain Feehley

observed. “He could have peeled off
the old tape and wound new stuff
around it.” '

However, intensive questioning
failed to shake Brooks’s story. He
told it, over and over again, like a
schoolboy’s well-rehearsed recitation.
The investigators were keenly aware
of the fact that they could not prove
a murder case against the ex-con. The
only thing they actually had on him
wals{ a charge for possession of a black-
ack.

: Captain Feehley booked him for
this, and he was tried for the charge .
before Judge J. C. Smith, who found
him guilty and sentenced Brooks to
90 days in jail.

This, at least, allowed the Balti-
more probers a breathing space dur-
ing which they could seek to accu-
mulate more specific evidence against
Brooks in the murder of Mary Finn.

Meanwhile, Captain Feehley re-
quested New York City police to try
to find a pawnshop where Brooks
may have pawned his watch. The
assignment occupied Manhattan de-
tectives of the pawnshop detail a lit-
tle less than 24 hours, and their
information proved that Brooks had
lied when he claimed he had stayed
in New York only “a few days.” The
fact was that he had borrowed $10
on his watch from a Manhattan hock
shop on July 25th, just two days
before he was finally arrested in Bal-
timore.

But that lie didn’t prove he was a
murderer. Captain Feehley became
convinced that he needed Marjorie
Covne before he could hope to prove
his case. Brooks had lied about the
length of his stay in New York City.
He also, in all probability, had lied
when he said he hadn’t gone there
with Marjorie. Feehley now pressed
the search for the elusive Miss
Coyne.

The captain finally got a lead on
this young lady when her former
landlady called him to report the
receipt of a letter from Marjorie,
dated August 22nd and mailed from
New York City, asking that any mail
which might have come for her be
forwarded to an address in the Bronx.

Again Feehley called New York
police and detectives of that city,

(Continued on page 92)



The Sex Deviate . . . (from page 35)

It hadn’t occurred to me before that
he might have remained here until
she was dead. Actually, that would
have been a much more logical thing
for him to do. If she wasn’t dead, and
someone found her in time, she could
have identified him.”

“About how long do you think it
would have taken for the gag to have
killed her?” said the inspector.

The doctor shrugged his shoulders.
“Not very long,” he said. “particular-
ly if she was unconscious at the time.
Ten minutes, fifteen minutes, it’s
very hard to say. She wasn’t a young
woman of course, and she was rather
corpulent. I'd say not more than fif-
teen minutes at the most.”

“Did you turn her skirts up like
that or was she found that way?”
asked the inspector. “Our sex wolf
has never shown any interest in the
genitals of his victims up to now.”

“The skirts were turned up that way
when she was found,” said the doctor,
“but it’s impossible to tell whether the
murderer turned them up or whether
she kicked them up herself in her
death struggle. He didn’t remove her
underwear because she apparently
wasn’'t wearing any. There are no
marks on the genitals and there was
no attempt at penetration.”

“Probably accidental, then,” said
the inspector. “Well, at least we have
a few clues this time. I don’t know
how we’re going to trace ether or ad-
hesive plaster or a baby jacket, but
we’ll try. Did the technicians find any
fingerprints, Leo?”

“Hundreds of them,” said Sergeant
Rademacher. “There have been, ap-
parently, a great many people down
here in this coal cellar. As I under-
stand it, Mrs. Hermann was too old
to carry the coal up herself and she
let the customers come down and get
it. They've left their fingerprints ev-
erywhere and, of course, there’s no
way of knowing if any of the prints
are those of the murderer.”

“Perhaps I'm being pessimistic,”
said the inspector, “but I have a feel-
ing that the fellow has given us the
slip again. See to it that the news-
papers are informed. They’re going to
crucify us, but our first duty is to
see that the public is kept on the
alert as much as possible. It’s also
possible that someone may report in
with information which will help us in
the investigation.”

As the inspector had anticipated,
the police were attacked by the press.
It was pointed out that four elderly
women had now been brutally mur-
dered in Vienna in less than a year
and that the police had made not the
slightest progress in solving any of
the cases. There was a great deal of
speculation as to the identity of the
sex wolf, ranging from prominent
members of Viennese society down
to street sweepers. Several persons
wrote in to the newspaper claiming
to be the sex wolf themselves. Their
claims were investigated and it was
found that they were not.

At the same time, the wide public-

ity given to the murders brought a
veritable flood of information into
police headquarters. Some of it was
from persons as obviously deranged
as the sex wolf himself and who be-~
lieved that God was punishing Vienna
for its sins or that the Martians had
landed and were systematically wiping
out the population, presumably be-
ginning with the older women. These
reports made interesting reading for
the junior members of the Criminal
Investigations Department, but they
were not very helpful.

Some of the information was, how-
ever, of a more serious nature. As
Inspector Konrad was aware, there
are a great many cases of attacks on
women which go unreported. If the
woman is unharmed, she is often em-
barrassed about going to the police
and she sees no point in getting her-
self involved in a criminal investiga-
tion which might take up a good deal
of her time and result in publicity
and no personal benefit.

T hese unreported cases of attacks
on women now began to pour into the
headquarters of the criminal police.
Even the inspector was astonished at
the vast number. Within a period of
approximately one year, over 120
women had been subjected to some
kind of assault in the city of Vienna.
Some of them had suffered compar-
atively serious injuries, but the mat-
ter had never been reported to the
police.

“It's only when something like this
happens that you realize how danger-
ous it is for a woman living in a big
city,” remarked the inspector. “The
impression we get here at the station
is that the sex wolf never fails be-
cause the only time we are called in
is when he has killed his victim. In
actual fact, it could very well be that
a great many of these attacks were
carried out by this same man, but
that he didn’t succeed as he did in
the cases where the woman was mur-
dered. I trust that you're processing
all of these reports carefully?”

“Carefully and as quickly as possi-
ble,” said the sergeant. “I'm sending
out teams of interrogators in every
case where the informant has given
their address or where we have any
means of locating them. I'm in hopes
that we can establish a pattern, pos-
sibly even a district in which the sex
wolf prefers to operate. We're also
making up composite pictures from
the descriptions of the women who
were attacked. It will have to be more
than one picture because in some
cases the descriptions are so much at
variance that it could hardly be the
same man.”

“I don’t think you'll get very far
with the district,” said the inspector.
“If you'll remember, the four women
who were murdered were in very
widely separated parts of town. I
don’t think that our sex wolf is par-
ticularly attached to any one district.
He seems to rove all over Vienna at
will. The pictures are a good idea,

though. If we can get a good enough
composite photograph, we’ll have cir-
culars printed and distribute them
throughout the city.”

The task which now faced the ser-
geant was one of those endless exer-
cises in detail work which, although
far from glamorous, make up a very
large part of criminal investigation
and which result in the solution of far

more cases than the spectacular ex--

ploits of the Fearless Fosdick types
in fictional crime stories. All of the
hundreds of possible leads had to be
individually investigated, reports had
to be made by the interrogators and
the contents of these reports had to
be analyzed and correlated. Physical
descriptions of the assailants were
sorted out and turned over to the
police artist who attempted to build
up a composite picture from them.
Obviously the large number of at-
tacks could not possibly have been
carried out by a single man within the
space of a year and, as a result, the
sergeant ended up with not one com-
posite picture but more than a dozen.

“A dozen pictures are worth no
more than none at all as far as the
sex wolf murders go,” said the inspec-
tor. “Have you been able to develop
any patterns at all in the attacks that
would permit tying certain groups to
any one certain picture?”

“We've tried to do that,” said the
sergeant,
sorted out according to which compos-
ite picture they come under, but the
whole thing is very vague. It’s obvious
that there’s a certain amount of
overlapping and in many cases we
have either no description of the as-
sailant at all or only one so imprecise
as to be nearly worthless.”

“And if you had to make a choice,”
said the inspector, “which composite
picture and which set of files would
you say could be best ascribed to our
so-called sex wolf?”

“This one here,” said the sergeant,
holding out an artist’s drawing. It was
that of a young, rather full-faced
man with heavy sideburns and his
hair parted on the left side. “This is
the one who fits best to the descrip-
tions in all those cases where there
was not apparent motive. In most of
the others, the women were either
robbed or raped or the assailant at
least attempted one of the two. With
this fellow here, there was never any
motive that we could trace, and since
that was the way it was with the four
murders, I would pick him.”

“But of course you don’t know who
he is or where he is?” said the in-
spector. “If that is our sex wolf, he
may have cleared out of Vienna alto-
gather. You notice that its been near-
ly 10 months now and we haven’t had
another murder that really fits the
pattern.”

The sergeant was well aware that
there had been no further reports of
murders that corresponded to those
of Eleonore Heinemann, Maria Lech-
ner, Angela Simon and Francisca
Hermann. Throughout the entire
year of 1970, the police had been on
the alert, but, although there had
been murders, they had been of a

“and the files have been’
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different nature with a clear-cut mo-
tive and, in most cases, the criminals
had been brought to justice. On sev-
eral occasions, the press had set up
a cry that the Sex Wolf of Vienna
had finally been captured, but the
police knew that the man who had
been taken into custody was not the
one they were seeking.

“Perhaps he has left Vienna,” said
the sergeant. “What with all of the
publicity in the newspapers and the
fact that we have been very much on
the alert this year, he could have be-
come frightened and decided to try
his luck somewhere else. Have there
been any reports of a series similar
to this starting up somewhere in
Austria?”

The inspector shook his head. “I
thought of that, too,” he said. “When
six months had passed after the Her-
mann case and we hadn’'t had any
new reports, I sent out a nationwide
circular to all police chiefs, warning
them that they might expect an un-
welcome visitor from Vienna. So far,
there’s been no response. The other
possibilities would be that he has left
Austria altogether or that something
has happened to him. It’s always
possible, of course, that he’s been ac-
cidentally killed, say in a traffic ac-
cident.”

“I sincerely hope so,” said the ser-
geant fervently. “It’s only another
month until Christmas and, if he
doesn’t show up by then, I'll begin
to feel that we are in the clear. We're
still pushing the investigation of the
reports that came in, but, to tell the
truth, there doesn’t seem to be a
sound lead in the lot.”

On December 1, 1970, Mrs. Ottilie
Fluger was found dead in her coal
cellar at 7 Burg Lane. The 59-year-
old woman had been killed with 16
separate stab wounds by a very large
knife.

“Well, I see you didn’t make it un-
til Christmas, Leo,” said the inspec-
tor, coming down the basement stairs
to where Sergeant Rademacher was
directing the activities of a team of
technicians and Dr. Bronski was car-

rying out an examination of the

corpse on the spot.

“No, I'm afraid not,” said Rade-
macher worriedly. This one seems to
fit the pattern perfectly. There are
no clues and there’s no indication
that the fellow was in any part of the
house except the coal cellar. It defin-
itely wasn’t robbery. Mrs. Fluger
wasn’t as poor as the previous victims.
There are quite a number of things
in the house worth taking, but we can’t
find anything that has been touched.
She was, however, a widow the same
as the others.”

“And what is your opinion, Doc-
tor?” said the inspector, walking over
to where Dr. Bronski was kneeling be-
side the body. “Is it part of the pat-
tern?”

The doctor locked up. “I'm afraid
s0,” he said. “The woman wasn’t mol-
ested sexually, although she is still
quite an attractive woman, and the
only difference that I can see in this
from the other cases is that she ap-
parently put up quite a struggle.

. Sergeant Rademacher.

The whole place is covered with blood.
The murderer must have chased her
around the basement stabbing her
with the knife until she finally
dropped. I can’t say whether it was
deliberate or not, but few of the stab
wounds are in vital organs. She died,
more or less, from loss of blood.”

“It would seem to me that she
would have screamed her head off)”
said the inspector, tuning back to
“Have you
checked with the neighbors to see.if
anyone heard anything?”

“We checked,”s said the sergeant,
“but this cellar is-fairly deep and the
nearest neighbor is on the second
floor. We tested it out. I had one of
the technicians stand down here in
the basement and yell as loud as he
could while I stood up in the entrance
hall. I could just barely hear him and
I probably wouldn’t have noticed it if
I hadn’t known that he was yelling
down there. I think maybe that our
sex wolf picks coal cellars for that
reason.”

“Well, give it the full treatment,”
said the inspector. “Check all her
connections to see if there was any-
one who might have wanted her dead.
Check to see who inherits whatever
she owns. Go over the whole place
with a finetooth comb. The fellow has
to leave a clue somewhere sooner or
later.”

“I don’t think so,” said the sergeant
discouragedly. “I think that he doesn’t
leave any clues because he comes for
just that one purpose, to kill a woman,
and he does that and then goes away.
He’s probably been sick or something
and now the whole business is going
to start all over again.”

T he sergeant’s words were prophet-
ic. No clues were discovered at the
scene of the murder of Ottilie Flu-
ger. No one could be found who
benefited in any way from her death
and the heirs to her modest estate
did not even live in Vienna but in
Salzburg at the other end of the
country. The sergeant even checked
to see if they had been in Salzburg
on the day of the murder. They had
been,

Ten days later, on December 11th,
the Sex Wolf of Vienna struck again.
The choice of place was stunning in
its audacity. Mrs. Ingrid Fraundor-
fer had been stabbed to death in the
basement of the house at 3 Kardinal-
Nagl Square, the same house in which
Maria Lechner had been killed in her
own kitchen. Mrs. Fraundorfer was
32 years old and her husband had
been at work at the time of the mur-
der. There was no evidence to indi-
cate that the killer had made any at-
temot to enter the apartment.

“Our sex wolf appears to be a man
with decided preferences in women,”
said Dr. Bronski to the inspector and
Sergeant Rademacher who were stand-
ing with him beside the corpse. “This
is the first time that the victim has
been comparatively young and pretty
and this is the first time that he’s
taken the trouble to strip her naked.
The stripping was done after she was
killed, however, and there is no in-

dication that he actually attempted
any sexual act on her. I don’t think
that this had anything to do with his
basic compulsion to kill women. I im-
agine it was an act of simple curiosity.
The woman was young, attractive and
dead, so he stripped her to see what
she looked like. A very interesting
case, this fellow. If you ever catch
him, I expect he’ll make it into a good
many textbooks on criminal psychol-
ogy.”

“If we ever catch him,” said the in-
spector, “he’ll make it into some place
other than that.” He turned to Rade-
macher. “No clues, I suppose?”’

The sergeant made a noncommittal
gesture. “We're looking,” he said. “So
far, there’s nothing.”

“I simply don’t wunderstand it,”
said the inspector. “Here the whole
city is up in arms, the press is full
of all kinds of horror stories and
this fellow calmly walks into a build-
ing where he has already killed one
woman and kills another. No one sees
him, there are no clues, there is no
motive—it’s as if the city was com-
pletely without a police force.”

“He’s got to make a mistake sooner
or later,” said the sergeant doggedly,
but he didn’t sound very convincing.

As it turned out, the Sex Wolf of
Vienna had not made any mistakes
in the murder of Mrs. Fraundorfer.
There were no more leads than there
had been in the other cases. Exactly
one week later, on December 18, 1970,
the mysterious killer made his first
mistake. It was, however, not immedi-
ately fatal.

Forty-eight-year-old Gertrude
Hanek survived. Finding it neces-
sary to get something from the base-
ment, she wasn’t enthusiastic about
the trip and he was vastly relieved
to meet on her way down two elderly
ladies from the apartment building
coming up.

“Don’t worry, Mrs. Hanek,” called
one of the old ladies. “It’s quite safe.
We've switched on all the lights and
looked everywhere and there was no
one down there.”

The old ladies had mot looked ev-
erywhere.

Mrs. Hanek completed the task she
had come down to do in her section
of the basement and came out, closing
the door behind her. She had just
locked it and was beginning to turn
around when she saw the man stand-
ing silently looking at her and real-
ifzed that she was looking death in the

ace.

“Who are you?” said Mrs. Hanek
sharply. “What do you want down
here?”

The man smiled, a wet smile of hor-
rid anticipation and stepped forward.

Mrs. Hanek acted quickly. There
was a large, empty cardboard carton
standing on the floor nearby and she
scooped it up and threw it in the di-
rection of the man’s legs. The man
merely laughed, vaulted easily over
the carton and the next moment his
hands closed on her throat.

With the desperate strength of a
woman who knew she was only min-
utes away from death, Mrs. Gertrude
Hanek brought up the heavy bunch
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(Continued from page 58)

of keys that she was holding in her
right hand and began to hammer the
man’s face and eyes with them. For-
tunately, many of ‘the keys were of
the large, old-fashioned, house-key
type. The strangler released his grip
on Mrs. Hanek’s throat and staggered
back, clutching at his eyes. In that in-
stant, Mrs. Hanek seized her chance
and ran for her life up the basement
stairs. She did not stop running until
she reached her own apartment and
locked herself inside. Even then, she
was so badly shaken that she could
barely make herself understood to
the police switchboard operator over
the telephone.

The switchboard operator was,
however, able to understand enough
to realize that the call concerned the
dreaded sex wolf of Vienna and it was
immediately switched to the office of
Inspector Konrad.

It took the inspector and Sergeant
Rademacher less than 12 minutes to
reach the house on Moenchhof Street,
but the sex wolf had long since de-
parted, leaving only a few drops of
his blood on the basement floor as
evidence that he had ever been
there.

“That doesn’t matter,” said the in-
spector. “I hardly expected that he
would wait for us to arrive. The im-
portant thing is, that he’s failed in
one of his attempts and the victim
will be able to give us an exact de-
seription of him. If we ever catch him,
she should be able to give us a posi-
tive identification.” -

Mrs. Hanek was indeed able to pro-
vide a remarkably accurate descrip-
tion. “He was a young fellow,” she
said, “very young; I doubt that he
was twenty. He was very strongly
built, though, and he had a soft,
rather boyish face. Heavy sideburns
and he wore his hair parted on the
left side. He was very neatly dressed
and if you saw him on the street
you'd take him for a perfectly nor-
mal, nice boy. T'll never forget that
face though, when he came at me. He
was insane, I could tell that he was
insane.”

Mrs. Hanek was taken to police
headquarters where she was shown
the composite pictures that had been
produced by the police artist. She
immediately chose the same picture
that Sergeant Rademacher had sug-
gested might be that of the sex wolf.
“That’s the man!” she said. “It’s a
very good likeness.”

“Well, I don’t doubt for a moment
that that was the sex wolf,” said the
inspector after Mrs. Hanek had gone
home. “Now, we know what he looks
like, but we still don’t know who he
is or where we can lay our hands on
him. That will have to be our next
step.”

“How do you propose to go about
it?” the sergeant asked.

“First of all,” said the inspector,
“I want to get our circulars bearing
this picture and see to it that there
is one in every police station and in
every post office and railway station
anywhere near Vienna. Secondly, I
want you to have copies of the picture

made and distributed to every police
officer in Vienna, They're to carry it
in their pockets and look at it at fre-
quent intervals until we have this
fellow safely behind bars.”

The circulars were printed and dis-
tributed and every policeman in Vi-
enna carried in his pocket a picture
believed to represent the sex wolf of
Vienna. They did not have much time
to familiarize themselves with them
because on December 23rd, the Mon-
day before Christmas, an attack took
place which was in no way typical of
the mysterious killer. It was, in fact,
so untypical that at first it was not
connected with the sex wolf at all.

Seventeen-year-old Angela Taub- °

laender had been sent on the morn-
ing of the 23rd of December to the
bank by her employer, the owner of
a clothing store specializing in Aus-
trian national costumes. Angela was
to bring back the payroll in cash in
order that the employes of the store
could be paid before Christmas.

On the way back to the store, with
more than four thousand dollars in
an old battered briefcase, Angela
crossed the Kardinal-Nagl Square,
the scene of two of the sex wolf’s
murders. Suddenly, a stocky figure
shot out of the arched opening to a
courtyard, snatched at the brief case
with one hand and began to strangle
Angela with the other.

T he strangler must have been
over-confident, for his grip on the
girl’s throat was not effective enough
to prevent her giving vent to several
piercing screams. Immediately, there
were shouts in reply from passersby
in the square, and releasing his grip
on the girl’s throat, the strangler tore
the briefcase from her hand and fled.
He was pursued by several men and
seen to go into a house. The men were
not willing to follow him inside how-
ever, and, a short time later, the po-
lice arrived.

* The first officer at the scene as-
sumed the crime to be simple rob-
bery, but when he heard the girl’s
description of her assailant, he was
immediately reminded of something
and he fumbled the composite pic-
ture of the sex wolf of Vienna out of
his pocket.

“That’s the man!” said Angela
Taublaender. “I'd swear it was the
same man.”

The patrolman immediately noti~
fied the switchboard at police head-
quarters, but the by time the inspec-

tor and Sergeant Rademacher ar- -

rived at the scene more than a half
an hour had already passed since the
attack. The men who had pursued the
assailant were, however, still guard-
ing the entrance of the house into
which he had disappeared.

“Let’s just hope there’s not a back
entrance that let him get straight
through and away,” said the inspec-
tor. “I want this whole district blocked
off as fast as you can get it done. I'm
going after him.”

The inspector, who was well aware
that he was probably dealing with a
multiple murderer, went through the
house with drawn pistol and with the

greatest caution. He was greatly re-
lieved to learn that there was no back
entrance except one which opened on
a blind courtyard. If the man had
gone- into the house as the witnesses
claimed, he was still there.

Whether he was there or not, the
inspector was unable to find him.
Many of the doors to the apartments
in the building were closed and
locked and no one answered the in-
spector’s knock. It was only a half
hour later when reinforcements be-
gan to pour in from headquarters
that a locksmith was found and the
doors were opened systematically, one
after the other. In a two-room apart-
ment on the second floor, a young
man was found sleeping—but he had
chosen to sleep in his street clothes
and with even his shoes on under-
neath the covers. The police artist
had done a very good job. The like-
ness was remarkable.

The young man gave his name as
Alois Gruenstaeudl and his age as
18. He was taken to central police
headquarters where he was intensely
grilled and denied all connection with
any attacks on women, including the
one on Angela Taublaender. In the
meantime, however, the brief case
containing the payroll from the store
had been found in his apartment and
Miss Taublaender picked him out of
a line-up two hours later. The pro-
cess was repeated by Mrs. Gertrude
Hanek who was also able to identify
Gruenstaeudl as the man who at-
tacked her in the basement.

Gruenstaeudl now became more
cooperative and admitted to the at-
tack on Angela Taublaender and
Gertrude Hanek, but he continued to
deny that he was the Sex Wolf of
Vienna. The grilling continued
throughout the night and, by morn-
ing, Gruenstaeudl had also confessed
to the murders of Maria Lechner and
Ingrid Fraundorfer, both in the house
at number 3, Kardinal-Nagl Square.
He now no longer denied the other
murders, but said that he couldn’t
remember exactly what had hap-
pened.

Gruenstaeudl was taken before the
examining judge who serves in Aus-
tria in the place of a grand jury and
formally indicted on two counts of
murder, four more counts of assault,
two counts of attempted rape and one
count of robbery. He is now await-
ing trial and has, in the meantime,
been transferred to an institution for
psychiatric examination to determine
whether he was legally responsible for
his acts or not. In the event that he
is found to be insane, he will prob-
ably be confined to an institution for
the rest of his life. Kk

Eprror’s NOTE:

In order to comply with Austrian
police regulations, the following
names, as used in the forgoing story,
are fictitious: Inspector Johann
Konrad, Detective Sergeant Leo
Rademacher and Dr. Carlo Bronski.
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The K|"er I.ay in Wait . . . (from page 29)

effects. Detective Dave Morgan sat
just a few short - yards from
the intersection of Highway 16
and Sydney Road, the artery leading
from Port Orchard to the main high-
way. He was talking to fellow officer
Gary Wernet and discussing the
murder. “I'd give anything right now
to get that important break,” stated
Morgan. “Doesn’t look too good,
though,” remarked the other officer.
“Time is against us now. In ten min-
utes this road will be bumper to
bumper with cars, then we'’re dead.”

The realization of the shortage of
time was very much on the officers’
minds when Detective Morgan
looked up and saw a dark green-
bottomed car coming in his direction.
His curiosity prompted him to scruti-
nize the car until it neared his posi-
tion. The first thing he noticed was
that there was a young woman driv-
ing, and a young man sitting in the
front seat as a passenger. As the car
neared him he noticed that the top
of the car was white. He was mo-
mentarily distracted as the car pulled
even with him, when the driver waved
to him and kept going toward Port
Orchard.

“T know her,” Morgan remarked to
his fellow officer. “She used to be my
babysitter.” He had barely gotten
the words out of his mouth when he
looked in his mirror and watched the
car pull away from him. He then
noticed a toy white cat, sitting up-
right in the back window.

“Tll be back,” Morgan said to his
fellow officer. “I just want to talk to
them for a minute.” With that, he
turned his patrol car and within a
short distance pulled up behind the
green and white car. He had just
turned on his red light when the
other vehicle pulled off the road to
the left and parked in a church lot.
Morgan eased up behind the car and
slowly got out. The woman driver got
out of her car, left the door open
and walked back to the police vehi-
cle.

“Hi, Dave,” she said.
seen you for a long time.” Officer
Morgan then exchanged greetings
with her and after a few moments
asked her whose car it was she was
driving.

“It's mine,” replied the young girl.
“Who’s the man with you in the car?”
Morgan inquired. “That’s my hus-
band,” she answered. “We just got
married last month.”

As they were talking, Officer Mor-
gan noticed that the man was still in
the car and hadn’t turned to lock in
his direction. He gave the appear-
ance of not wanting to look.

“Why did you stop me, Dave?”
the young girl asked. “We're inves-
tigating a homicide that took place
last night,” said Morgan. “We're just
trying to find a car that we had rea-
son to believe was at the scene of
the murder. By the way, where was
your car last night?” “Don had it,”
said the girl, pointing to the man still
sitting in the car.

“I haven't .

“Where was he?” asked Morgan.
“Well, he said he was down in the
Olalla area,” she replied, and added,
“He was sure shook up when he got
home last night, some time around
nine o'clock.” “How come?” asked
the’detective. “Why was he shook

47 b

“Well, he was perspiring and
awfully excited. He said that he had
picked up a hitchhiker and had got-
ten into a fight with him after an
exchange of words.” The girl con-
tinued: “I know something happened
because he was covered with blood
when he walked into the house.” The
words of the girl struck Officer Mor-
gan like a hammer. He could feel the
excitement slowly rising inside his
body as he forced his voice to re-
main calm.

“Do you mind if I meet your new
husband?”’

“Certainly not,” she replied, as she
led the way up to the driver’s side of
the car. The driver’s door was still
standing ajar. “Dave, I'd like you to
meet my husband, Don Stephenson,”
said the girl as they bent over to
look into the car.

As Detective Morgan straightened
up his mind was rapidly telling him
things. First, this was the man who
had reported finding the dead girl,
Karen Brown. Secondly, he fit the
description perfectly as the attacker
who had choked the two women in
Pierce County. He stood quietly sift-
ing these things through his mind
when his eyes fell on some stacked
newspapers lying on the back floor
of the car. There was blood on the
papers—not only that, Morgan could
easily see that there were long
strands of blonde hair mixed in with
the spatterings of blood.

Morgan quietly informed the girl
that he would like her to wait a mo-
ment, then he slowly walked back to
his car, so as not to appear excited.
When he got the mike in his hand
he stated briefly to the dispatcher:
“Get me some help up here and
make it quick; I may have hit pay
dirt.” He then walked back to the car
in front of his police cruiser and
walked to the passenger side. He
opened the door and stepped back.
“Would you get out for a moment
so I can talk to you?”

“Sure,” Stephenson said, and eased
out of the car. “Now listen closely,”
said Morgan, “I want you to just
stand there, don’t say anything, just
stand there until I tell you to move.
You understand?” “Yeah, I guess so,”
anwered the suspect, casually lean-
ing up against the car.

The call made by Morgan over the
radio had spurred action within sec-
onds at the sheriff’s office, just a
matter of blocks away. Morgan’s
voice had been urgent. The enfire
detective staff was quickly enroute
from all parts of the area around
Port Orchard on his first call. Within
short minutes, Morgan was sur-
rounded by fellow officers. He quick-
ly explained his suspicions. It was

decided that the suspect would be
taken to the sheriff’s office for ques-
tioning and his car impounded imme-
diately.

“We want to talk to you at the
office, Don,” one detective stated to
the suspect. “Would you accompany
us there?” “Certainly,” answered the
suspect. “I've got nothing to hide; I
told you all I know this morning.”

Meanwhile, other officers were
contacting the newly-elected prose-
cutor, John C. Merkel, and he imme-
diately left his home to join the in-
vestigators at the county courthouse.
His quick arrival almost coincided
with that of the detective staff and
their suspect. He was quickly filled
in on details and immediately rushed
to his office to prepare search war-
rants for the suspect’s residence.

At 5 p.m,, exactly nine hours after
the discovery of the slain girl in the
wooded section of Kitsap County,
Donald Stephenson was sitting in the
sheriff’s office and being advised of
his rights. After the suspect signed
that he understood, Detectives Clif-
ton and Berg immediately repeated
his rights on a tape recorder, making
sure that he understood them per-
fectly. Questioning then began about
the activities of the suspect on the
evening of the murder. He at first
repeated the same story he had told
his wife, the fight he had had with
the hitchhiker accounted for the
blood on his clothing. The persistent
questions soon revealed, however,
that parts of the story told by Steph-
enson were contradictory. He was
soon confused about the many ver-
sions he was telling, and at exactly
the hour of 5:40 p.m. he broke down
and started crying. The experienced
officers sat quietly as deep, racking
sobs coursed through his body. He
finally looked up when he settled
down.

“Don,” Clifton asked quietly, “did
you kill Karen Brown?”

“Yes,” he answered without hesi-
tation. “Yes, I killed her.” He then
bent over in the chair and continued
his sobbing. He was allowed a few
minutes to regain his composure and
the detectives immediately started to
take a written statement. Shortly
after the questioning had begun, at
5:08 p.m., the sheriff’s dispatcher re-
ceived a call. It was from a citizen
living only a few blocks from the
courthouse.

“My young son just came home a
minute ago,” he reported, “and he
tells me there’s a large rock lying in
the ditch on our street. I thought
T'd better report it, because he says
it's covered with blood and hair.”
ID. Officer Cline sped to the scene
and was shown the rock. There was
no doubt that it was covered with
blood and fragments of blond hair.
He carefully preserved it and rushed
back to the office. He reported to
Clifton. “This is crazy,” he said, “this
rock is only about five hundred feet
from Stephenson’s house. Can it be
possible he used it at the murder
scene, over three miles away, and
then carried it almost home?”

“It's not only possible,” Clifton



replied, “it’s true. I just left the room
where he’s giving the statement and
he says that he used a rock to mur-
der the girl and gave directions to
where he dropped it out of his car.
The directions are right where you
discovered it.”

Other detectives had obtained a

search warrant and shortly arrived
back at the busy office. Their search
had turned up a pair of men’s shorts,
men’s pants, a blue shirt and a coat.
All the items had Dbloodstains on
them. They were all carefully put in
evidence bags for further study.
. At the end of the statement, the
suspect was taken before Superior
Court Judge Robert J. Bryan, and
arraigned.

Later, details in Donald Stephen-
son’s statement were released. He
had also admitted that he was the
man who had stopped the two women
in Pierce County and tried to choke
them. When asked how he made the
women stop for him, he stated that
his car was equipped with four-way
flashers and he had merely turned
them on behind the women’s cars
and they pulled off the road. He
went on to state how he had come to
murder Karen Brown.

“It was about 8:30 p.m. and I was
parked near the intersection of the
main highway and Mullenix Road
when I saw her drive by. I got in be-
hind her and when we reached the
lonely stretch I turned on my blink-
ers. She pulled right over. I intended
to open her car door and grab her
purse and run. When I opened the
door, she recognized me so I hit her
and knocked her to the seat I
jumped inside and hit her some more
times, but I don’t know how many.
I ducked down in the seat as a cou-
ple of cars passed us.

“I then got her out of the car and
drug her across the road and laid
her down on the ground. I ran to her
car, drove it down the road and into
the brush. I searched her .purse but
found no money. I then ran back to
my car and was about to get in and
drive away when I heard her moan-
ing. T then got panicky and picked
up a large rock from the ditch and
went where she was and hit her. I
don’t know how many times.” Steph-
enson then said that he left there
and drove to a gas station in the quiet
little town of Port Orchard where he
made an attempt to wipe the blood
from his clothing, but was mostly
unsuccessful.

The entire murder episode had
started and ended, even without
most of the residents of Kitsap

County knowing it had taken place.
The public was understandably
stunned by the grisly homicide, but
were at least solaced somewhat that
the murderer was locked behind
steel bars.

The morning of May 10, 1971, op-
ened with sunny skies and just a
whisper of wind coming off the
waters of Puget Sound. The only
difference in the Kitsap County
Courthouse was the hustle and bus-
tle of people outside the courtroom

. FOLD IN HALF ... SEAL ALL SIDES (Staple or Tape) AND MAIL

' ' CUT ALONG DOTTED LINE ..

.
1

M

Coupon- Envelope. Cut out

train at home for a

HIGH PAY JOB IN
DRAFTING!

USH POSTPAID COUPON
BELOW!

when you train with North
; American

entire Business Reply Envelope
(both panels) NO POSTAGE

r--------

STAMP 1S NECESSARY

Now! Learn
Drafting
at Home

FREE BOOKLET TELLS HOW!

DRAFTSMEN

needed in next
10 years” reports
U. S. Labor

Dept. ————GTURE N

YOUR FUY

YES...Send FREE 20-Page F-nNG
DRAFTING CAREER FACT BOOK Dept. 1156A ’D_E_A_._—-—/
7 o
“?R““D\ NAME AGE
8
GQ;? ’ ADDRESS
\lﬂg}w-"“ eIy STATE zip
s/ Accredited Member, National Home Study Council

SEAL ALL SIDES (STAPLE OR TAPE) AND MAIL

FOLD IN HALF HERE

Postage No
Postage Stamp

Wl]l be Pald Necessary

by If Mailed in the
Addressee United States

POSTAGE WILL BE PAID BY

NORTH AMERICAN SCHOOL OF DRAFTING

4500 Campus Drive, University Plaza
Newport Beach, California 92663



64

of the popular and experienced trial
judge, Oluf Johnsen. The Olympic
mountains stood outlined in the dis-

- tance as the prospective jurors and

onlookers crowded the courtroom as
the hour of 9:30 a.m. neared, signal-
ing the start of the trial. The newly-
elected prosecutor, John C. Merkel,
entered the courtroom, followed by
the defense attorney, veteran lawyer
James Munro. A hush of voices sig-
naled the entrance of the defendant,
Donald J. Stephenson, escorted by
Chief of Detectives Bill Clifton and
Detective Barton Bush. A scurrying
of chairs signaled the entrance of
Judge Johnsen, and the trial began.

The defendant, Donald Stephenson,
sat impassive as the selection of the
jury began amid the heat that was
slowly rising in the crowded court-
room. The slow process of impanel-
ing the prospective jurors was to
take until 3:55 p.m. the first day due
to the careful questioning of the
panel regarding the possibility of the
death penalty being enforced. The
temperature was pushing 74 degrees
and the heat waves were clearly de-
fined on the nearby roofs. The first
day in the courtroom found Prose-
cutor John C. Merkel calling only
two witnesses before Judge Johnsen
ordered a recess until the following
morning.

May 11th opened for the court at

8:30 a.m. for arguments concerning
the admissibility of statements taken
from the suspect. Arguments were
heard as was the testimony of the
officers. At 9:30 am., the jury was
returned to the courtroom and the
trial resumed. Witness after witness
was called to the stand as Prosecu-
tor Merkel carefully laid the ground-
work for his first major case in Su-
perior Court. The remainder of the
day was taken with testimony from
some 26 witnesses for the State of
Washington, as Merkel carefully pa-
raded his case to its conclusion. The
end of the second day found the
State’s case near its completion as
Judge Johnsen called a recess until
the following morning.

During the second .day, the only
change of demeanor in the suspect
came when Merkel stood in front of
the jammed courtroom and read out
loud the five-page statement taken
from Stephenson concerning the
death of Karen Brown. It was then,
and only then, that the suspect broke
down and showed emotion as he
lowered his head and sobbed as the
details of the actual murder were
read aloud.

. The third day of the trial started
with a cool breeze blowing in the
courtroom as the weather changed
drastically. The last three witnesses
for the State were three FBI agents

from the laboratories in Washington,
D.C. One agent testified as to the
hairs found on the murder weapon,
the rock; another testified as to the
type of blood; and the third testified
as to a single fingerprint found in-
side the victim’s car by Officer Les
Cline of the Kitsap County Sheriff’s
office. This testimony given described
this single print as belonging to the
defendant, Donald Stephenson.

The suddenness of this testimony
closed the case for Prosecutor Mer-
kel as he rested his case at 10:10
am., the third day of the trial. In
all, Merkel had called 26 witnesses
and displayed 48 exhibits in an effort
to show that Don Stephenson had
killed Karen Brown. Defense Coun-
sel Munro then called the defendant
to the stand and asked him questions
about his schooling and service rec-
ord, and then retired his case. Mer-
kel asked no questions and suddenly
the case was ended at 10:15 am. on
the third day of the trial.

Judge Johnsen then read his in-
structions to the jury, both Merkel
and Munro gave their closing argu-
ments and at 11:37 a.m. the case was
presented to the jury.

At 1:15 p.m. the panel returned a
verdict of murder in the first degree
against Donald Stephenson and he
was sentenced to the penitentiary
for the remainder of his life. * Kk ok

“Murderous Blonde Sexpot”

She showed no more emotion at the
verdict than she had during the trial.
She maintained an appearance of bore-
dom throughout, even during the
testimony of the victim’s husband when
he described his relationship with her.

On January 9, 1962, Sharon went
on trial on the second indictment
against her, the one alleging that she
murdered her husband.

This time the County Attorney
unveiled a surprise witness. He was
the young man, a former high school
classmate of Sharon’s, who was with
her in Lover’s Lane when the body
of Patricia Jones was discovered. He
told the jury that he had a date with
Sharon about two weeks before
James Kinne was shot. During the
evening, he said, James Kinne was a
topic of conversation.

“We were talking about her hus-
band. She told me that she had prob-
lems. Then she said, ‘Would you kill
my husband for $1,000?’ I said, ‘Hell,
no!” Then she asked if I knew any-
one who would do the job for that
price,” he testified.

“Do you have a feeling that she
was serious?” the prosecutor asked.

“I believe so now,” the witness re-
plied.

On January 11, 1962, after five and
a half hours of deliberation, the jury
found Sharon Kinne guilty of mur-
dering her husband and assessed her
punishment at life imprisonment.
But, that was hardly the end. Actu-
ally, as it turned out, it was only the
beginning for Sharon.

Fourteen months later the Su-

(from page 17)

preme Court of Missouri reversed
the conviction and ordered a new
trial. Sharon was released from
prison on a $25,000 bond.

On March 23, 1964, the third mur-
der trial began. But, that was as far
as it went. After the jury was select-
ed, Lawrence F. Gepford, County
Attorney, told the court that he was

afraid a mistrial should be declared.

He had just learned that one of the
jurors had once been a client of one
of the partners in the law firm with
which he was associated.

Although he felt there was no in-
tentional wrongdoing, Judge Paul E.
Carver declared a mistrial, adding
that he did not want to waste time
on a trial which might later be
reversed because of one juror.

Thus, on June 29, 1964, Sharon
Kinne went to trial for the fourth
time. This time, the state produced
another surprise witness. She was
Sharon’s former cellmate at the
prison where Sharon was held before
the Supreme Court ordered a new
trial for her. Her testimony was,
if the

indeed, incriminating, jury
believed it.
“Sharon told me that she hated

her husband. She said he was always
running to his mother about every-
thing. She said that they’d had an
awful quarrel a few days before his
death.”

“What else did she say?” the pros-
ecutor asked.

“She said that on the day of the
murder they quarrelled again. When
her husband took a nap she was so

angry she got the gun and shot him.”

“Did she mention the baby?”

“Yes. She said the reason she’d
said the baby did it was because the
police wouldn’t do anything to a
child,” she answered.

“Did she give any reason for these
family quarrels?”

“Yes, I don’t know how to say it
except plain out. She said her hus-
band never satisfied her sexually,”
the woman said.

The witness’ testimony was at-
tacked mercilessly on cross-exam-
ination. It was brought out that the
woman had three prior convictions.
But, perhaps more damaging to the
credibility of her statement was an
indication that she might be testify-
ing against Sharon because of a lov-
ers’ quarrel the two women had
when Sharon was released from
prison. This introduced the aspect of
Lesbianism into Sharon’s extremely
active sex life.

Apparently, the jury was not con-
vinced by the former cellmate’s tes-
timony. After 24 hours of deliber-
ation they reported to the judge that
they were unable to reach a verdict.
The jury was released and Sharon
Kinne, a slight smile on her lips,
walked out of the courtroom free on
$25,000 bail.

The fifth trial for the sexy young
widow was scheduled for the f{fall
term of court. But it was not held,
and the events that followed indi-
cated that Sharon Kinne might not
soon go to trial again for the murder
of her husband.

On September 18, 1964, instead of
being in Jackson County, Missouri,
preparing for her trial in accordance



WOULD YOU LIKE TO

GET A PAIR OF SHOES
FREE—worth 39.95 at retail—

—as a bonus for just giving friends an
opportunity to buy these and other
shoes at half the prices charged in
stores for equal quality?

By Gordon King

Yes, I'll give you these
shoes as a bonus—but
what’s even more impor-
tant 1I'll show you how to
make a lot of extra money
just writing up orders for
the famous Hanover Shoe.

‘ y I’ve shown hundreds of
. . men how to make from

$7.00 to $15.00 an hour in
spare time—evenings, week-ends, or even dur
ing coffee breaks at work.

And, right now, if you’ll mail your name on
the coupen below, I'll tell you how and why
I send you my complete money making kits
entirely free. No charge, not even a deposit.
Just one obligatien. You agree to show the
Hanover catalog to just ten friends, neighbors,
relatives, or co-workers. You don’t sell. You
just show. Because when other men SEE how
much they can save, you can’t prevent them
from wanting to give you an order.

These are not ‘‘claims.” These are facts.
Look in the store windows at Nationally
advertised shoes selling at $39.95. Hanover
offers the identical styles—the identical qual-
ity of leather—the identical workmanship at
$22.95. Would your friends “love” to save
$17.00? Check the comparison shown in the
column at the right.

Here’s another surprise for you: Right now,
today, almost all Hanover Shoes that are sold
direct to the user are sold by men like your-
self who have regular jobs, regular salaries,
but who want extra money for spare-time.
Most of these men have no sales experience
whatever. Hanover quality alone and Hanover
price does the selling. And, once worn the
Hanover shoe is so great that your customers
thank you for telling them about this great
value.

Don’t take my word for it. Read the actual
words of men who have tried taking orders for
Hanover Shoes as a spare time way to add
needed extra income for family budgets:

D.M. of Maryland: “I’ve made as much as
$210.00 in one month as a sideline.”

H.J. of Ilinois: “I made $225.00 my first
month——just in spare time.”

M.A. of California: “Today I sold ten pairs
in four hours.”

.

As a spare time Hanover salesman, in addi-
tion to $25, $35 or as high as $50 a week, you
will get Life Insurance—Sick Pay Insurance
- —QGifts— Free shoes for yourself—Other
Beneiits. .

1 am ready now to give this money making
opportunity to a few more men. Just your
name on the coupon is all I need. No money.
No deposit. Not a penny of cost to you. It
costs my company more than $10.00 to put
this money making sales kit in your hands.
It is for that reason that we want your prom-

ise you will show the catalog to at least ten
men. That’s your only obligation. No selling.
No sales talk. No pressure. No asking for an
order. Just show the catalog. If you don’t
make at least $15.00 proiit for yourself the
first ten times you hand the catalog to another
man, mail it back to me and forget the whole
thing.

FREE SHOES FOR YOU IN A WEEK
But, you see, I KNOW what will happen.
Within a week you will have sent at least ten
orders. And, when you do I give you a pair of
Hanover Shoes entirely free as a bonus. You
take your pick of any pair at any price up to
$22.95 (the $39.95 value) and that pair is
yours, free, as my way of marking the day
when your tenth order was received.

Many men who “‘couldn’t sell” have found
spare time profits with Hanover so good that
they’ve “gone full time.” And, some.of these
men have been o successful that we’ve pro-
moted them to Selling Managers with income
potential of $1,000.00 a month or more.

You decide how far you want to go. But,
right now, send your name on the coupon.
Everything I send you is free. Your only
obligation is to just “show” the Hanover
catalog to ten men. Then, if you’re not excited
over the money making possibilities, mail it
back to me and you will not be under the
slightest obligation.

4
Vice President /7

THE HANOVER SHOE, INC.
793 Carlisle St., Hanover, Pa. 17331

Make this sensational comparison
with your own free bonus shoes!

This shoe, made by one of the most
_ famous manufacturers in the U.S.
A retails in stores at $39.95. The
Hanover Shoe of identical
style, identical quality
and, in two ways,
superior, sells for
just $22.95. And
this is the shoe
you can have
as a free
bonus.

COMPARE
THESE FEATURES

1. Upper Leather. Both uppers are Barreft's Al-
pine full grain calfskin.

2. Linings. Both shoes are fully leather lined.

3. Outsoles. Both shoes have full grained oak
tanned leather outsoles of the same quality
and thickness.

4. Heels. Both shoes have leather heels with
steel V Plate for extra wear.

5. Innersoles. Both shoes feature genuine leather
innersoles but only the Hanover has a cush-
jon between the outsole and the innersole
for added comfort.

6. Steel Arch Support. Both shoes have a steel

shank but only the Hanover Shoe has a fongi-
tudinal arch cushion as part of its famous
Comfort Arch construction.

7. Leather Storm Welt. Both shoes have a leather
reverse storm welt running completely around
the shoe.

8. Laces. Better looking, longer wearing Cordo-
Hyde laces are in both shoes.

9. Fit. Both shoes are made over identical wood-
en lasts purchased from the same last manu-
facturer.

r--—-----—---—_-----------—---1

Gordon King, Vice President
The Hanover Shoe, Inc.
793 Carlisle St., Hanover, Pa. 17331

Dear Mr, King:

Send on your sales kit free and postage pre-
paid. My only obligation is to SHOW the
Hanover Catalog to ten men. If the orders they
give me voluntarily show that | can make good
money in spare time, | will keep the catalog
and sales kit and continue showing. If | am not
enthusiastic about the profits to be made | will
return the sales kit by mail and will owe you
nothing.

It is also understood that | will have my
choice of a pair of Hanover Shoes—at anyprice
up to $22.95-—(the $39.95 value) when | have
sent in orders for only ten pair of shoes which
have been accepted by my customers.

L-------------‘-------—--------

Name

Address

City

State Zip
| have a car. Year.

My home phone number is

[J 1 have never sold shoes before.
7] 1 have sold shoes for
[ 1 will work spare time
[T riicarry as a sidetine
D My present occupation is

i
1
i
1
|
I
|
1
1
i
|
|
i
|
|
4
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(Continued from page 64)
with the terms of her bond, the
shapely Sharon suddenly was back
in the headlines, this time in Mexico
City. And, as usual, there was a man
involved in Sharon’s unexpected ap-
pearance outside the United States.

That night she went alone to a bar
in the Mexican capital. There she
met Francisco Paredes Ordonez, a
35-year-old native Mexican who had
been naturalized as an American cit-
izen and was a bilingual radio an-
nouncer. As was the customary pat-
tern for Sharon and an attractive
man, they found they had something
in common. So much in common, in
fact, that at 9:30 o’clock the couple
went to Ordonez’ motel room. This,
in itself, was no surprise, but what
followed was at least unexpected, so
far as Ordonez was concerned.

About 30 minutes after Enrique
Rueda, the motel proprietor, ob-
served Sharon and Ordonez stroll
arm in arm through the motel lobby,
he was startled by the sound of two
gunshots. As he rushed toward the
direction of the shots he bumped into
Sharon, who had a pistol in one hand
and Ordonez’s car keys in the other.
When Rueda attempted to intercept
her, Sharon leveled the weapon at
him. As Rueda whirled to get away,
she shot him in the back.

She started to run, but Rueda,
although bleeding profusely from the
gunshot wound, brought her down
with a flying tackle and yelled for
help. When police arrived, Sharon
was still attempting to break away
and flee.

While the woman was being sub-
dued, other officers were directed to
Ordonez’s room by the wounded
motel proprietor. Ordonez was lying
on the bed with two bullet holes in
his chest. He was dead.

When Mexican police began inter-
rogating Sharon about the slaying
they found her with a ready expla-
nation of how she was forced to
defend her honor with a firearm. She
told them through an interpreter
that she had gone into the bar for a
drink of water because she felt ill.
She switched to brandy because the
water did not taste good.

“This man came in and sat down
next to me. Maybe you don’t under-
stand this, but he was the only man
there who spoke English. He said he
was sorry I was sick and said he
would drive me to my hotel.

“Well, I don’t know why, but I
believed him. I was dizzy and had
bad chills. But when he stopped his
car we were at his motel.

“I didn’t want to go there at all.
I wanted to go home. But I was so
sick I couldn’t think. All I wanted to
do was lie down,” Sharon stated.

When she lay down on the bed
Ordonez joined her and, she said,
attempted to make love to her. She
fought desperately to fend him off.
When he continued the attack, she
asserted, she drew a pistol from her
purse and shot him.

She explained the necessity for
shooting Ordonez and Rueda with
remarkable simplicity:

“I couldn’t understand what they
were saying. They were speaking
Spanish.”

The detectives shook their heads.
It hardly seemed an adequate excuse
for killing one man and gunning
down another. But, then, the Mex-
ican dewectives had not yet become
as well acquainted with Sharon as
their American counterparts.

As the questioning continued, the
officers got around to asking Sharon
what she was doing in Mexico City.
That, in itself, was a pretty inter-
esting story.

Seems that after her fourth mur-
der trial ended in June, Sharon bex
came acquainted with a suave, hand-
some young hairdresser who was a
well-established ladies man. Their
friendship blossomed, and in Sep-
tember they decided to go to Mexico
City and be married. It was while
her current boyfriend was out of the
room briefly that Sharon decided to
go to the bar for a drink of water.

When the officers went to the cou-
ple’s room they found the slick-
haired young man. When he was in-
formed of the “incident” in which
Sharon was involved, he was quite
ready to leave Mexico and return to
the United States. The officers
searched Sharon’s belongings and
found two pistols and a quantity of
ammunition. Her erstwhile boy-
friend insisted he knew nothing
about the weapons. It was decided
not to prosecute him, merely to send
him back to the United States.

Meanwhile, the Mexican author-
ities yielded to the insistence of the
press and permitted Sharon to ap-
pear for an interview. First, though,
she insisted on having her hair fixed.

Sharon was , calm and charming
during the interview but veteran
Mexican officers were not fooled.
One commented:

“She smiles nicely for the cameras
but she is a very cold woman.”

A .22 caliber revolver found in
Sharon’s room was sent back to Kan-
sas City for a laboratory analysis by
authorities there. The results of bal-
listics comparison tests proved con-
clusively that the weapon was one
which had fired the bullets that
killed Patricia Jones!

But, that information was too late
to be of any benefit to the Jackson
County authorities. Sharon had been
tried and acquitted in the murder of
Mrs. Jones, and under the double
jeopardy rule, she could not be tried
again for this specific offense! On
‘;his murder, therefore, she was home
Tee.

In October, 1965, Sharon was found
guilty of Ordonez’s murder and sen-
tenced to 10 years in prison. She
made the mistake of appealing the
decision and on May 16, 1966, a 3-
judge Mexican Superior Court, after
reviewing the trial record, added
another three years, making a total
sentence of 13 years.

And still waiting for Sharon in
Kansas City was yet another trial
for her husband’s murder. As of De-
cember 7, 1969, however, it appeared

that the State of Missouri would
have to wait a while before it had
another go at the deadly blonde.

The news of Sharon’s escape from
the Mexican prison triggered an im-
mediate reaction in Kansas City.
Once again, the name of Sharon
Kinne was {ront page news, and
more than one reader shook his head
in amazement at the story of this
petite, demure—but lethal—young
woman. The big question now was,
where was she and with whom?

James R. Browning, the detective
from the Jackson County sheriff’s
office who had investigated the
deaths of James Kinne and Patricia
Jones, had his own thoughts on the
matter.

“I believe that she has been able
to hole up some place where she
probably won’t be found quickly.”

In referring to Sharon’s family,
Browning added: “I would bet that
she doesn’t care enough about them
to come back here and face that
murder charge.”

James Menaugh, another detective,
felt pretty much the same way. He
didn’t expect Mrs. Kinne to “head
this way.”

“She may be kind of crazy but
she isn’t that crazy. I would guess
that she went to some country where
she cannot be extradited. I think she
had connections ready in Mexico to
get her out of that country quickly,
but not back to the United States.”

“We have little doubt that she had
an accomplice, but we would rather
not say any more about him. We
have asked the Guatemala police to
look for them,” a spokesman for the
Mexico City police said a month after
her escape.

“She got away clean. As a matter of
fact the authorities are grabbing at
straws for clues,” he said with a
shrug.

His statement pretty well summed
it up. As these words are written,
Sharon has not been seen since 5
o'clock on the afternoon of Decem-
ber 7, 1969. Various theories continue
to be offered about her whereabouts.
Some think she might still be in
Mexico; others think she is in Gua-
temala, and a few think she might
have gone to South America.

But in the final analysis, there is
one unchallenged fact: She left no
trail behind her, and no one has seen
her since she left the prison.

There is one more fact that all
those who have known the trim,
vivacious blonde will agree upon:
Wherever Sharon Kinne is, she is not
alone; she will have a companion.
Whether she chooses a male or a
female may depend upon the mood
she is in at that moment.

If her current companion is not
aware of her homicidal background,
a deadly surprise could be awaiting
him—or her. If he or she is, it could
well make him or her stop and pon-
der whether the pleasure of the
moment with Sharon Kinne is worth
the finality it could ultimately b:ing.

* *



“The Nervy Rape Victim . . . (from page 47)

This was the principal evidence
found in almost three weeks follow-
ing the murder and rape, although
detectives in the three counties con-
tinued to run down leads.

The first break came on Saturday
night, March 20th, in Tampa, when
Deputies William E. Carter and
Terry Schoenborn who, like all cruis-
ing deputies, had been watching for
the Arizona license tag, spotted one
with the number, 1.ZL.-449.

They took a closer look and noted
that the car was a 1971 white-over-
blue Pontiac Le Mans. They radioed
headquarters and had an answer
back in two minutes through the
Hillsborough County sheriff’'s hook-
up with the National Crime Infor-
mation Center. The car had been
stolen in Arizona.

As they were writing the informa-
tion in their notebooks, the officers
saw a man and woman come out of a
tavern and get into the Pontiac. As
they drove away, the two deputies
followed closely. At Nebraska and
Sword Avenues, the deputies put on
their blue flasher and motioned for
the driver of the Pontiac to pull over
to the curb.

He did so and the two deputies
approached cautiously. They asked
the man and woman to get out of the
car and identify themselves. The man
said he was John Sylvester Brown,
24. The woman said she was Deb-
orah Jean Duval.

Asked where she got the car, Miss
Duval said she had borrowed it from
her nephew, Kenneth Stringer, 24.
The couple were advised of their
constitutional rights and both agreed
to be questioned. Police believed the
car almost certainly was the one in
which the young clerk had been kid-
naped and raped. Both were charged
with possession of stolen property
and booked into the County Jail.

Assistant State Attorney Jim Yon
was notified and obtained a warrant
charging Kenneth Stringer with
armed robbery, kidnaping and rape.
Stringer was arrested on Monday,
March 22nd, in Tampa.

Stringer refused to talk after he
was advised of his rights and was
booked on the robbery, kidnaping
and rape charges. It was learned
from Arizona officials that he had
been released from an Arizona pris-
on about a month before. The car
was stolen the day he was released.

Deputies Bedingfield, Capaz, An-
thony Marchetta and S. J. Horman
talked to one of Stringer’s relatives
who lived in a trailer north of Tampa
and he directed them to a house next
door, where they found a Smith &
Wesson revolver. The house was
vacant.

Three chambers in the gun were
loaded. It was turned over to Pasco
County Sheriff’s Detective McCall,
who dispatched it to the Florida
Bureau of Law Enforcement in Talla-
hassee. Ballistics specialists at the
state crime lab reported that it def-
initely was the gun that fired the two

fatal shots into the head of Daniel
DeVries. ’

A lineup was staged at the Hills-
borough County sheriff's office and
Stringer was positively identified by
the girl clerk as the man who had
robbed and raped her. The young
wife who had been at the 7-Eleven
store in Holiday shortly before Dan-
iel DeVries was found dead, also
tentatively identified him as the man
she had seen there when she made a
56-cent purchase from DeVries.

Kenneth Stringer was turned over
to Detective McCall, who returned
him to Pasco County. He was held
in the county jail in Dade City with-
out bail and Prosecutor McClain
presented the evidence to the grand
jury. On Thursday, March 25th, Ken-
neth Lamar Stringer was indicted on
a charge of first degree murder in
the slaying of Daniel DeVries.

On Friday, March 26th, Stringer
was arraigned before Pasco County
Circuit Court Judge Richard Kelly,
after deputies brought him from the
Hillsborough County jail.

Public Defender James L. De
Moully pleaded Stringer not guilty
and moved for a preliminary hear-
ing. But after Prosecutor MecClain
said the state would agree to bail of
$50,000, the motion was withdrawn.

Judge Kelly scheduled the trial to
begin on Monday, April 19th and

Stringer was returned to the Hills-

borough County jail.

The trial of Kenneth Stringer
began as scheduled on Monday, April
19th. A jury of eight men and four
women was selected during the first
six hours, leaving little time for wit-
nesses. The men who found the body
testified, as did the first deputies on
the scene.

The star witness the following day
was the 15-year-old married girl
who had entered the 7-Eleven store
about 10 p.m. She said that Stringer
was in the other side of the store
near the magazine counter and she
got a good look at him.

“Have you seen this man at any
time since you saw him in the 7-
Eleven store?” Prosecutor McClain
asked.

“Yes—right now,” the blonde wit-
ness replied. “He’s the man with the
yvellow shirt and black tie.” Then she
pointed to Stringer.

Another damaging witness was
Stringer’s father, who said Kenneth
had been staying with him in his
trailer north of Tampa. He testified
that his son gave him a .38 caliber
Smith & Wesson revolver which he
wrapped in an old piece of curtain
and hid under the steps leading to
the front porch of the house next
door. He said that when deputies
came to see him after his son’s
arrest, he showed them where the
gun was.

The gun was introduced in ev-
idence and Technician Don Cham-
pagne, a ballistics specialist with the
Florida Bureau of Law Enforcement,
was called to the witness stand.
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Champagne testified that he had
made ballistics comparisons of bul-
lets fired from the Smith & Wesson
and the two removed from the head
of the victim, Daniel DeVries, and
he was satisfied that the gun had
fired the fatal slugs.

The following day, Wednesday,
April 21st, the beginning of the trial
was delayed until about 11 a.m. At
that time, the Public Defender told
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the judge that Siringer wanted to
change his plea to guilty.

“Did you shoot him?” Judge Kelly
asked.

“No, sir,” Stringer replied.

Judge Kelly accepted the plea
after Stringer had given a sworn
statement to Prosecutor McClain,
who declined to give details of the
statement. However, McClain said:
“A  warrant has been issued by
County Judge William H. Seaver for
John Sylvester Brown for murder in
the first degree.”

Although McClain declined to say
so, it was assumed that Stringer had
named Brown as his accomplice in
the murder of DeVries. In his state-
ment to Judge Kelly, Stringer ad-
mitted being in the T7-Eleven store
but denied that he had killed De-
Vries.

“Did the other man kill DeVries?”
Judge Kelly asked. ‘

“I" was outside,” Stringer replied.
“I didn’t hear the shots and I didn’t
actually see him. He told me he shot
him.”

“Dealing in reality . . . the realities
are that the prospect of this defen-
dant going to the electric chair in the
reasonable future are remote,” Judge
Kelly said in sentencing Stringer to
life imprisonment instead of impos-
ing the death penalty. “To have done
it for forty-three dollars and three
cents was just some kind of madness
we live with.”

John Sylvester Brown, who had
been arrested with Deborah Jean
Duval in the stolen car, was still in
the Hillsborough County jail, where
the warrant was served. It had been
determined that Miss Duval had not
been involved in any of the crimes
and she had been released.

Judge Kelly summoned another
grand jury in Pasco County and it
was empaneled on April 30th. The
same day, a first degree murder
indictment was returned against
John Sylvester Brown.

Meanwhile, on Wednesday, May
12th, Kenneth Stringer, who was to
go on trial on an armed robbery charge,
was being taken to the courthouse
with a number of other prisoners, all
of them handcuffed together.

Stringer was on one end and as
the guards were momentarily dis-
tracted, he slipped out of his hand-
cuffs and ran. Guards could not shoot
because of the danger of wounding
or killing innocent bystanders. By
the time a deputy was free to go
after Stringer, he had disappeared.

As word spread by radio and TV
that the lifer, who was considered
dangerous, had escaped, terror
spread with it. Many deputies and
police officers surrounded an area
around the court house, but a care-
ful search failed to turn up any trace
of Stringer.

Twenty-five deputies and 25 city
policemen spread out and began
combing Tampa, while the alarm was
spread to St. Petersburg, just a few
miles across the bay. There were
numerous stories of Stringer being
spotted, but they all were false.

There also were many stories about
how he had managed to unlock the
double locked handcuff.

The search went on throughout
Wednesday night and Thursday.
Sligh Avenue seemed to be a favor-
ite street for criminals and deputies
were posted at the Sligh Avenue
bridge across the Hillsborough River.

Stringer didn’t know they were
there and they nabbed him late
Thursday night as he started across
the bridge. He told the four deputies
who grabbed him that he had not
eaten since his escape. He said he
had hidden in a church graveyard
before trying to slip across the Sligh
Avenue bridge.

The story about his picking the
locks on the handecuffs was soon dis-
pelled when it was revealed that
Stringer’s left wrist was smaller than
his right wrist, a fact he had man-
aged to conceal when he was
arrested. When he considered the
time right, he was able to slip out of
the handcuffs because the opening
was bigger than his wrists and hands.

Smaller handcuffs were obtained
for Stringer’s benefit in the future.
A new date was set for the robbery
trial and Stringer was taken back to
a cell in the Hillsborough County jail.

A hearing on the murder charge in
Pasco County was held on May 21st.
Kenneth Stringer said he would not
have made a statement implicating
Brown if he could have pleaded
guilty without facing the death pen-
alty. He said he believed that he
avoided the death sentence by mak-
ing the statement.

He claimed the public defender
told him the prosecution wanted him
to make a statement about Brown.
“They want you to make a statement
about him and they’ll save your life,”
Stringer quoted the public defender
as saying.

During the hearing, Brown plead-
ed not guilty and his court-appointed
attorney was given 15 days to file
motions. He is presumed to be inno-
cent.

At a hearing on June 1st, Brown’s
attorney moved to suppress String-
er’s statement. Judge Kelly took the
motion under advisement and said
he would rule later. The trial orig-
inally had been scheduled for
August, but the prosecutor said he
would take an appeal if Judge Kelly
rules to suppress. If he lets the state-
ment stand, the defense will appeal,
so as this was written, it was not
known when Brown would go to
trial. Both Brown and Stringer were
held in the Hillsborough County jail
and various charges—including that
of rape in Stringer's case—were
pending against them as this was
written. ok

Eprtor’s NoTE:

Deborah Jean Duval is not the
real name of the person so named
‘in the foregoing. story. Because there
is no reason for public interest in
the identity of this person, a ficti-
tious name has been used.




.. . the Dismembered Gambler (from page 21)

with the slaying of Dallas Tolson.

State Detective Sergeant Allen
said during the torso investigation
that after reviewing the case reports
on the slayings of Tolson and Thi-
beault he tentatively ruled out pos-
sible links among the three cases.

“Since both of the other victims
were known to be cross-country
hitchhikers,” he told reporters, “we
felt the murderers probably weren’t
even in the state during most of the
investigation.”

When state policemen Jewett and
Swider returned from the Smithson-
ian Institution it was revealed that
the anthropologists determined that
the victim was in his mid-thirties,
was between five feet, eight inches
and five feet, 10 inches tall and
weighed between 180 and 190 pounds.

On March 24th, State Police Super-

intendent Robert K. Konkle hinted to -

Indianapolis newsmen that his crime
laboratory personnel, under Captain
Ray H. Thompson, were ‘getting
close” to identifying the victim. But
he declined to elaborate on the sub-
ject.

: “There are a lot of relatives of
missing persons waiting fearfully for
our report,” Superintendent Konkle
said, “and it would be a cruel mistake
to release a name prematurely and
then discover we were wrong.” He
emphasized that what he meant by
saying that his men were “getting
close” was that laboratory techni-
cians had narrowed the missing per-
sons reports down to less than a half-
dozen men whose general physical
descriptions appeared to fit the torso
found along the highway.

The investigation had - continued
for another 10 days when Sergeant
Allen got a call from Morgan County
Sheriff Paul Mason about 7 p.m. on
April 4th saying the left rib cage of a
white man had just been found about
a quarter of a mile south of Moores-
ville, located on Indiana 67, about 20
miles southwest of Indianapolis. And
like the first chunk of human body
found, the second piece was also dis-
covered by a man and his teenage
son. When Sergeant Allen and Sher-
iff McKinney arrived on the scene,
about 80 road-miles northwest of
Columbus, they learned of other sim-
ilarities between the two incidents.

“The rib cage section was on the
east side of the highway and near a
bridge which crossed White Lick
Creek, very similar to the spot where
the other part was found along Little
Sand,” Sergeant Allen said later.

But that was only the beginning of
the gruesome similarities between
the two incidents. According to Allen
and Sheriff McKinney, the left chest
portion of the human anatomy had
been drained of blood and apparent-
ly washed clean of gore, as was the
first section found. The lawmen said
that since there was practically no
dirt on the piece of flesh and bones,
it appeared that somebody had laid
it carefully on the creek bank. The
officers’ theory was strengthened fur-

ther by the fact that there was prac-
tically no indentation under the ev-
idence, despite the fact that it was
lying on very soft ground.

The state investigator said the rib
cage contained a lung and other vital
organs but the arm had been neatly
severed just below the shoulder joint.
Allen was advised later that the bone
had been cut with “some type of
large-toothed saw.”

After searching the banks of White
Lick in vain for nearly a mile in both
directions from where the rib cage
was found, Sheriff McKinney, an ex-
pert scuba diver, and two state
troopers donned wet suits and
plunged into the murky water in
search of other parts of the human
body. Because of the strong current,
the lawmen soon discovered they had
a formidable task on their hands.

“Spring rains had the stream near-
ly out of its banks,” the scuba diving
sheriff said later, “and we had to be
lashed to linemen ashore in order to
stay in ane spot long enough to
search the bottom.”

When it became evident that no
portion of a human body could re-
main in one place long in the raging
waters, the divers came out of the
muddy creek and laid plans to con-
tinue their search along the banks
further downstream the following
day. When darkness fell over the
scene, State Police Sergeant Allen
and Sheriff McKinney took the new-
ly-found piece of body to the state
crime laboratory at Indianapolis.

After examining the remains of the
unidentified man, lab chief Thompson
determined that the rib cage had
been separated from the rest of the
body with “some type of large-
toothed saw.” Police said later that
the most significant bit of evidence
found in the chest portion was a small
piece of metal, believed to be a part
of a saw tooth.

The next day, Captain Thompson
reported that analysis showed that
both sections of the human anatomy
found along the creek banks had
definitely come from the same victim.

“It was somewhat of a relief to
know that we were working on the
same case, and not two different
murders,” Allen said later.

Since the latest discovery indi-
cated there was a pattern in disposing
of the body parts, Sheriff McKinney
dispatched a message to law enforce-
ment authorities in 14 southern coun-
ties, requesting them to search
around bridge approaches in their re-
spective areas for parts of a human
body.

In the meantime, lab technicians
continued with the gruesome task of
attempting to link up the two pieces
of human jigsaw puzzle with one of
the numerous men who had been re-
ported missing in the last couple of
months. Because of conflicting blood
types, birth marks, scars and other
identifiable characteristics, the possi-
bility of the two torso sections being
linked with the missing persons was

THIS MAN
CAN HELP YOU

GET A STEADY
PAY CHECK

for the rest of your life

EXCITEMENT
SECURITY
GOOD PAY

T. DICKERSON COOKE |
. Director i T
Institute of Applied Science

Train at Home in Scientific

CRIME INVESTIGATION ano
FINGER PRINT IDENTIFICATION

There’s a thrill in helping to bring a
crook to justice through Scientific
Crime Detection or Finger Print
Identification. With crime figures ris-
ing, men and women trained in this
exciting work are needed everywhere.
The pay is good . . . the security un-
matched and opportunity for ad-
vancement is assured. We have taught
thousands of men and women to step
into this important, profitable, excit-
ing profession. Let us teach you at
home in spare time to fill a responsi-
ble, rewarding, well-paid position.
Low cost, easy terms. Learn Investi-
gation, Finger Print Identification,
Firearms Identification, Police Pho-
tography, Handwriting Identifica-
tion. Our graduates are employed
world-wide by hundreds of leading
bureaus and private firms. Cash in on
the need for trained experts.

G.l. BILL APPROVED

= FREE!

pitiimpestl) The famous BLUE
BOOK of CRIME

1AS Graduates

Packed with thrills and money
making information about this
important job opportunity.
Reveals startling “behind the
scenes” facts of actual crimi-
nal cases. Tells how trained
investigators sofved them
through the same methods
you learn at IAS. Explains
exactly how you can get started
in this thriiling work, easily,
quickly. Don't wait . . . it's
“REE . . . mail coupon today.

INSTITUTE OF APPLIED SCIENCE
(A Correspondence School Since 19716)
Dept. 7849, 1920 Sunnyside Avenue,
Chicago, lllinois 60640

CLIP AND MAIL COUPON NOW

Institute of Applied Science
1920 Sunnyside Avenue, Dept. 7849
Chicago, Illinois 60640

Without obligation, rush me the Blue Book of Crime
and list identification bureaus employing your stu-
dents or graduates. Include all information on IAS
training and easy terms offer. (No salesman will call.)

Name Age.

Address.




70

ruled unlikely.

Although none of the some half-
dozen prospective victims were com-
pletely ruled out of the case, police
concentrated their investigation into
the mysterious disappearance of Fe-
lix Eugene “Gino” Robinson, a 36-
year-old Indianapolis gambler and
reputed professional card dealer.

Police said later that Robinson’s
name was among the more than two
score of missing persons reported to
authorities shortly after the first sec-
tion of human anatomy was discov-
ered along Little Sand Creek on
March 16th. Investigators said Rob-
inson became a prime suspected vic-
tim after the second portion was
found and the anthropologists had
determined by a “mock-up” what the
man may have looked like when he
was alive.

Homicide cops working on the tor-
so case said that Robinson’s family
reported the man missing on March
17th and that when he had not been
located by the 19th they retained the
services of Private Detective John
Lineham, a former chief investigator
for the Marion County Sheriff’s De-
partment who had resigned and
opened the Indiana Research Agency
in 1963 at Indianapolis.

The private eye said later in a
newspaper interview that after he
ran down the missing man’s back-
ground, physical description and
movements up to the night of March
13th, he took the information to state
police and told them that there was
a good possibility that the section of
body found along Sand Creek came
from Gino Robinson. Assigned to that
phase of the investigation was State
Police Sergeant Robert Burcham,
who coordinated his efforts with the
probester who for nearly 13 years
headed up the sheriff’'s department
detective division.

According to information which
Private Detective Lineham had
gathered before going to state police,
Gino Robinson had not been seen
since the night of March 13th, at
which time he was with his ex-wife
at the Goldfinger Tavern, 3203 Eng-
lish Avenue, in Indianapolis. The
woman was identified as Mrs. Bev-
erly Jean Landers, a 40-year-old
olive-skinned waitress who at the
time was employed at Indianapolis’
Hideaway Lounge. '

During the course of checking out
the backgrounds of Mrs. Landers and
Robinson, police learned that the
couple was married in July of 1970
during a beer party at a small fac-
tory where Robinson worked. The
wedding bliss lasted less than seven
months and the pair was divorced
January 20, 1971. For Mrs. Landers,
police said, it was the sixth time she
had exchanged wedding vows which
lasted anywhere from a few months
to several years.

Beverly Jean lived the longest
with Jack Landers, who fathered
several of her children before dying
of a heart attack at age 44 in Novem-
ber of 1969, and she re-assumed his
name after her divorce from Robin-
son.

Sergeant Burcham and Detec-
tive Lineham questioned numerous
friends, relatives and casual ac-
quaintances of the  missing man
before approaching the woman from
whom he had recently been divorced.

“We wanted to find out as much
as possible about the recent activities
of Robinson and his ex-wife so we
could better judge whether or not
she was telling us the truth,” Line-
ham said later.

One of Robinson’s relatives told
Burcham and Lineham that he
couldn’t locate Gino at his residence
on Sunday, March 14th, and that he
became gravely concerned about the
missing man when he learned that
Robinson failed to show up for work
the next day at the Elliott-Williams
Company, 2900 North Richards
Street. Police said the relative told
them that he then went to Beverly
Jean’s home and was advised that she
had not seen him.

The next day, the missing man’s
kinfolk found Gino’s maroon 1964
Chevrolet abandoned on a parking
lot in the 3200 block of English Av-
enue. The witness said he waited
about 24 hours before moving the
car to Robinson’s residence at 1409
Spann Avenue. The witness said he
went immediately to police after see-
ing a blazing, eight-column headline
in the Indianapolis Star proclaiming
that “Torso Of Man Is Found In
Ditch.” .

Investigators Burcham and Line-
ham spent more than two weeks
tracing the movements of Robinson
before they decided it was time to
talk to Mrs. Landers, the missing
man’s former wife. The quiz took
place on April 6th, two days after
the second portion of a human male
body was discovered on the banks of
White Lick Creek. Police said that
although they had no physical ev-
idence at the time to link Mrs. Lan-
ders with Robinson’s disappearance,
they were interested in hearing why
she had told the missing man’s rel-
ative that she had not seen Gino re-
cently, even though employes at the
Goldfinger Tavern said the couple
was drinking together there on the
night of March 13th. The investiga-
tors had also taken note that Rob-
inson’s abandoned Chevy was found
within two blocks of the nightspot.

Confronted with the information
gleaned from the tavern employes,
Mrs. Landers changed her tune and
admitted being in the bar “for a lit-
tle while” with her ex-husbhand. She
reportedly told police she lied to
Robinson’s relative  because “it
wasn’t none of his damn business”
whether or not she had seen the man.

According to police, Robinson and
Beverly Jean broke up their mar-
riage because of his heavy gambling
and because of reports that he had
been stepping out on her.

“There were also some stories
going around that I was cheating on
Gino,” Mrs. Landers said, adding that
“there wasn’t no truth to it.”

“How did you happen to be with

Mr. Robinson on the night of March
13th?” the waitress was asked.

“He called me and said he wanted
to meet me at the Goldfinger that
evening,” she replied.

“What time was that?” Burcham
asked.

“It was early in the afternoon
when he called . . . he wanted to
meet me at six-thirty,” the raven-
haired woman replied.

Police said the woman told them
that the pair had a few drinks to-
gether and discussed the possibility
of getting married again. The witness
said she told him that she didn’t
think it would work because ‘“he was
so damn jealous.” Mrs. Landers said
she fought with Robinson almost
constantly while they were married
but “we started getting along better
together after the divorce.”

The woman said that after the cou-
ple spent about an hour at the Gold-
finger they visited several other
night spots before going to her neat
five-room bungalow at 1365 North
Gale Street. She told police that
although Robinson was displeased
because she didn’t have any coffee
in the house, they did not argue “to
any extent,”

“What did you do?” police asked.

“We just talked . . . mostly about
his gambling and our chances of get-
ting married again,” the woman said.
“And then all of a sudden he just
got up and walked out of the house.”

“Without an explanation?” the cop
asked.

“Yes. I supposed he was going
after something to eat,” Mrs. Lan-
ders said.

“Did you say he was walking?” the
state policeman asked.

“Yes,” the waitress replied.

“Where was his car?”

“] guess back at the Goldfinger,”
Mrs. Landers said, “We left there in
mine and used it all evening.”

The former wife of the missing
man said that she took some of
Gino’s clothes to his house the next
day and left them with one of his
relatives. She said she presumed her
ex-husband was there at the time,

“although I didn’t see him.”
“Did you see his car?”’ police
asked.

“No,” she replied.

After obtaining a lengthy list of
Robinson’s gambling buddies and
associates, police released the wom-
an but advised her to not leave town.
Police said later that the advice was
prompted by information from an
informant who said that Beverly
Jean told a friend of his on March
16th (the day the first section of
body was found) that if he still
planned on going to Tennessee she'd
like to go with him.

During the next 10 days police
continued checking out Mrs. Lan-
ders’ alibi and talking to numerous
persons who had seen her and Gino
Robinson together on the night of
March 13th. Although police declined
to relate exactly what they learned
from the witnesses, they later said
that parts of her story were con-
flicting and that she was asked to
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(Continued from page 70)
take a lie detector test.

“She agreed to take it without
hesitation,” State Police Sergeant
Allen said.

It was scheduled for April 15th,
but Mrs. Landers didn’t show up.
Contacted by police, the woman said
she had to get her hair fixed and
couldn’t make the appointment. The
test was reset for the following day.
Again she didn’t make the date with
police. When a detective was sent to
her residence to find out why, Mrs.
Landers indicated she’d changed her
mind.

“I don’t believe I want to take it
after all,” police quoted her as say-
ing.

“Why not?” she was asked.

“I just don’t want to be bothered
with -it. Tell ’em I don’t know any-
thing about Gino or where he’s at
and that I don’t want them to come
around here any more,” Mrs. Lan-
ders said.

But she was visited again two days
later by Sergeants Allen and Bur-
cham, who said they wanted to talk
to her. According to the officers, they
were ordered off her front porch
with a warning to “not come around
here anymore, and quit bothering me
at work.”

Police said that they were in-
formed the next day that Beverly
Jean had told one of her fellow em-
ployes that she was going to get an
attorney and that “it looks like I
might have to go to jail.”

Already working 12 and 16-hour
days in their attempt to identify the
pieces of human body, state Sergeant
Allen, Private Detective Lineham and
Sheriff McKinney pressed even
harder to expedite the probe, hoping
all along for one major break in the
mystery.

“What we needed most at the
time,” Sergeant Allen said later,
“was a part of the body which could
be identified as belonging to some-
body. Even though we suspected the
two parts on hand belonged to Eu-
gene Robinson, we couldn’t prove it.
We needed a head or a finger before
we could make positive identifica-
tion.”

Police got what they hoped was
their major break on Saturday, May
1st, when two fishermen found a
human head on the bank of White
River in Morgan County, about 20
miles southwest of Indianapolis. Like
the other two hunks of human flesh,
the head was discovered near a
bridge which crosses White River on
County Road 144. The site was near
the road’s intersection with Indiana
37 and about five miles southeast of
Mooresville, where the unidentified
victim’s left rib cage was found
almost exactly a month before.

Police said the skull contained two
small-caliber bullet holes. One was
below the left ear and the other
above the left eyebrow.

Because of the badly decomposed
condition of the head, lab technician
Captain Thompson surmised that the
cranium was disposed of about the
same time as the other two pieces.

Police said that although there were
no ears on the head they could not
tell whether they had been sliced off
or just rotted away. Sergeant Allen
said there was evidence that the
skull had been moved from its first
resting place shortly before it was
found by the startled fishermen.

“The head fits perfectly in a three-
inch-deep impression in the mud
nearby, and when the two men
swore they hadn’t moved it, we the-
orized it had been removed from its
res;cling place by an animal,” Allen
said.

While several state police detec-
tives and sheriff’s deputies searched
the area for other pieces of human
flesh and bone, Sergeant Allen, Sher-
iff McKinney, Private Detective
Lineham and Captain Thompson left
the scene in possession of the skull
Within the hour they and their grisly
evidence were aboard a state police
airplane, enroute to an undisclosed
Kentucky town, where they hoped to
link up the dismembered head to an
Indianapolis man—namely, Felix Eu-
gene “Gino” Robinson.,

Although the investigators declined
at the time to say why they went to
Kentucky, they later said it was to
have the head X-rayed by a dentist

who reportedly did most of the work

for Robinson’s family. But as had
happened so many times before in
the bizarre, complicated investiga-
tion, the lawmen’s attempt to get the
dismembered corpse identified failed.

The following day, Sergeant Allen,
Captain Thompson, Sheriff McKin-
ney and Detective Lineham flew to
Kettering, Ohio, with the human
skull to consult with another dentist
who reportedly had done extensive
dental work on Eugene Robinson
following an auto accident in 1964.
When the lawmen returned to Indi-
ana they had with them an affidavit
stating that according to the dental
technician’s X-ray records the head
found on the banks of White River
belonged to Robinson.

Since police already had a lengthy
and detailed dossier on the victim
and his ex-wife Beverly Jean, along
with numerous statements from ac-
quaintances and relatives of both
persons, the investigation moved
ahead with unprecedented speed
during the next two days.

State and county police returned
from Ohio with positive identifica-
tion on May 5th, the paper work on
the case was completed on May 6th
and the evidence was presented to a
lé\lflarion County grand jury the next

ay.

Included in the evidence were the
statements of witnesses and inform-
ants whom police credited with
breaking one of the most bizarre and
blood-chilling killings ever investi-
gated in the Hoosier state.

Investigators said that one of their
key witnesses was a man who in-
formed them that Mrs. Landers
rented a chain saw on March 15th,
the day before the first part of Gino
Robinson’s body was found. The
power saw was impounded by police

but they have declined to say what
the crime lab examination of the in-
strument revealed. Although inves-
tigators confirmed reports that Mrs.
Landers was in the company of a
man when she rented the suspected
dismemberment tool, they refused to
confirm or deny a theory that the
male subject was the informant who
tipped police off about the saw. Nei-
ther would police say whether or not
the small piece of metal found in a
section of Robinson’s cut-up body
came from the impounded power
saw.

Following the questioning of Bev-
erly Jean Landers, police said they
had statements from several persons
who had either overheard the sus-
pect say outright that she intended
to shoot Gino Robinson or hint that
she would cut his body up in the
event that she ever “had” to shoot
him.

A hanger-on at the night club
where Mrs. Landers worked told
police that Beverly Jean once bran-
dished a .22 caliber pistol in the pub
and said, “This is for Gino and if he
bothers me again I'll blow his brains
out!”

The same informant, police said,
told investigators that Mrs. Landers
tried to sell him the pistol about
three months before Robinson disap-
peared. Then a few days after the
man came up missing, the informant
was quoted as saying the suspect
asked the man to “forget that I ever
offered to sell you that gun.” The
tipster said Beverly Jean told him
that she had already sold the gun
and that “it’s not worth discussing
anymore.”’ :

Police said that in checking out
Mrs. Landers’ background several
acquaintances indicated that the
plump, dark-haired waitress had “a
terrible temper.” According to police,
one witness told them that Mrs, Lan-
ders once approached him and said,
“If you ever want to get rid of a
body, let me know. I'll take care of
it and no one will ever know.”

“What would you do with it, burn
it?” the tipster was quoted as asking.

“No,” Beverly Jean is reputed to
have replied, “they’d find it all right.”

“Well, what would you do with it,
cut it up?” the witness asked.

“I'm not saying,” the woman was
quoted by the informant as replying,
“but if you ever need to get rid of
somebody, just let me know.”

But Mrs. Landers was more spe-
ciﬁ(ci: with another informant, police
said.

They said that they talked to a
man who told them that in early
March, Beverly Jean approached him
and said, “If Gene was to break into
my house and I shot him, would you
help me cut up the body and get
rid of it?”

The witness said that although he
told her no, Mrs. Landers repeated
the request for help a few days later.
Again, the witness told police, he re-
fused to grant her request.

When a team of eight detectives
searched Mrs. Landers’ residence,
on a warrant issued by Municipal
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Court Judge James E. Bath, they
reportedly impounded the -contents
of a trash barrel, along with several
boxes of other items which they
declined to identify “until it is en-
tered as trial evidence.”

Although Captain Ray H. Thomp-
son, head of the state police crime
laboratory, admitted that samples
were taken from the sewage drain
pipes at the accused’s home, he de-
clined to say what his technicians
learned when the specimens were
analyzed.

Investigators told newsmen, how-
ever, that they believed Robinson
was shot to death in Mrs. Landers’
bathroom and that the corpse was
drained of blood in the bathtub
overnight before it was cut up with
a power saw. The detectives also said
blood samples were taken from the
suspect’s home but they declined to
reveal the blood type or whether or
not they suspected it to be from the
victim. They indicated that the pistol
used to slay Robinson had not been
recovered at this writing.

State Police Sergeant Allen, who
headed the macabre investigation
from beginning to end, evaded news-
men’s questions about possible ev-
idence found in Beverly Jean’s car,
stating that “anything we'd release
in that connection would tend to be
prejudicial.” -

After the Marion County Grand
Jury heard the state’s evidence in
the case on May 7, 1971, the jurors
returned a true bill of particulars,
charging Mrs, Beverly Jean Landers
with the first-degree murder of her
former husband, Felix Eugene
“Gino” Robinson. According to the
indictment, the waitress committed
the crime “on or about the 14th day
of March, 1971.”

Shortly before 3 o'clock on the
afternoon of the grand jury’s ruling,
State Police Sergeants Allen and
Burcham entered the Hideaway
Lounge where the accused was em-
ployed and called her aside.

“T thought I told you guys not to
bother me anymore when I'm work-
ing,” said the black-haired suspect
who had previously ordered the offi-
cers off her front porch.

The state cops apologized for the
intrusion, telling the suspect that
they would not be bothering her
anymore at the nightclub. Mrs. Lan-
ders was then read an arrest war-
rant charging her with first degree
murder and she was accompanied out
of the night spot by the two lawmen.

Minutes later, the woman accused
of killing and butchering her ex-
husband was fingerprinted and pro-
cessed by Sheriffs Deputy Mrs.
Renee S. Bastien.

At this writing Mrs. Landers is still
incarcerated in the Marion County
Jail, held without bond and waiting
for a trial date to be set. In the
meantime, lawmen in 14 southern
Indiana counties are keeping an eye
out for the rest of Gino Robinson’s
body, believed to be scattered along
the banks of some remote river or
stream. *okk
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Two Deputies Gunned Down . . . (from page 41)

the floor and he promptly jumped
over them and ran to the back door.

Just outside the back door, he said,
he found Deputy Abbott, who had
his gun out. The patient said he
turned and went back towards the
door of the laboratory room. He said
that Deputy Walker was on the floor
ﬁnd he saw Macklin take a gun from

im.

The patient said he backed away
and after he was out of sight, he
heard the sound of a shot. He said
he heard what he thought were two
more shots. He said that Walker
staggered through the doorway and
into the hall, where he collapsed.

As he dropped, he said, “Oh, my
God!”

“What happened to Chipman?”

The patient said that after Mack-
lin had taken the deputy’s gun,
Walker and Chipman got up off the
floor but they were still struggling.
That was when the patient backed
away. Only seconds later, he heard
the shots. ’

“Did you see Chipman take a gun
from Walker?” he was asked.

The patient replied that he did not.

When Deputy Abbott had been
found bleeding near the southwest
corner of the building, his gun was
gone, too. Undersheriff Harlan looked
in the police car and discovered that
a shotgun and ammunition were
missing. This meant that the two
fugitives were heavily armed.

One of them, James Chipman, was
known to Lieutenant Gorman be-
cause of a prior brush with the law
that was the reason he was being
held in the county jail.

Chipman was a native of Flint and
had attended Whittier Junior High
School. Then his family had moved
to Miami and he had gone with them.
In Miami, he had jobs as a boat
builder and a carpet layer.

He was married in Florida and be-
came the father of two young chil-
dren. In May, 1970, he was back in
Flint, where his mother now lives.
She is a widow, her husband—
James’ father—having died in 1959.

On May 10, 1970, according to
police records, two youths, Anthony
Gardner, 17, and Ronald Hastings, 20,
were driving in Flint when their car
was forced to the curb on Stockton
Street near West Sixth Street by an-
other car.

A young man got out of the car
and fired several times at them with
a .22 caliber riflee Both were
wounded, Gardner fatally and Hast-
ings critically, by bullets that struck
them in the head. Young Gardner
died at Hurley Hospital, but Hast-
ings recovered.

According to the police, Hastings
said that the young man told them
he was ‘“going to fix” them. It was
said that there was some trouble
over a woman. When he was able to
look at mug shots, Hastings identi-
fied a picture of Chipman as the
young man who fired the shots from
the rifle.

A search for Chipman was begun,
but he couldn’t be found in Flint and
acquaintances said he had gone back
to Florida. Lieutenant Gorman ob-
tained a warrant accusing Chipman
of the murder of young Gardner.
When it appeared that he had left
town and probably the state, a fed-
eral warrant charging him with un-
lawful flight to avoid prosecution for
murder was issued and the FBI en-
tered the case.

Chipman couldn’'t be found in Mi-
ami, but sources there said he had
gone to Gainesville, where there are
many young people about the same
age as Chipman because the Univer-
sity of Florida is located there.

W. M. Alexander, Special Agent in
charge of the Jacksonville office of
the FBI enlisted the aid of Alachua
County sheriff’'s police. Major Ron
Stanley, chief of the sheriff’s detec-
tives and Special Investigator John-
ny L. Yarbrough began looking for
Chipman.

He was finally located at a Gaines-
ville filling station where he had
been working as an dttendant on
Thursday, November 19th and the
FBI was notified. Agents arrested
him at the filling station and the fol-
lowing morning he was taken before
the United States Commissioner on
the federal warrant. The Commis-
sioner ordered him held under $50,-
000 bond for conveying back to
Michigan,

He was returned to Flint and after
a hearing was bound over for trial.
He was being held without bail in
the Genesee County jail on the mur-
der charge when he escaped. His
trial on the murder charge had been
scheduled for Thursday, April 8th.
However, Chipman had not con-
ferred with his court appointed at-
torney and the trial had been post-
poned to July. Apparently, Chipman
was unaware of this when he made
the break.

In another part of the city, Mrs.
Ben Walker who had lost her hus-
band when the two men escaped, also
was talking., She said her husband
had dreamed of being a policeman.
He had worked for the Western
Electric Company, but had worked
part time for the-sheriff’s marine di-
vision as a skindiver, doing mostly
rescue work, But he had been anx-
ious to work on criminal cases and
when there was an opening, he re-
signed from Western Electric and
became a full time deputy sheriff on
January 8, 1968.

According to his fellow officers, he
loved the work and never com-
plained when he had to change
shifts.

“He was going to college two
nights a week,” his wife said. “He
was taking police administration
courses at the college. On those days,

‘he would leave about five-thirty in

the evening, go to school and then
directly to the job. :
“Ben just went on days about four

weeks ago. He said he wanted to go
back on nights because nothing hap-
pened on days.”

Meanwhile, after the search had
gone on for about three hours, a
group of about a dozen police squads
who were north of the shooting scene
on North Street, got word that the
fugitives were in a little red house
about half a block from the dental
clinic.

The officers were then driving
north on North, which is a one-way
street. But it was important for them
to get back to the red house. The
cavalcade made a. U-turn and bucked
oncoming traffic for several blocks.

They arrived at the red frame
house, which neighbors told the
police was known as “the pill house,”
and one of the officers kicked in the
front door when nobody responded
to his knock. There were three wom-
en and a man in the house, but a
search revealed no trace of the fugi-
tives and the officers left.

About 45 minutes later, there was
another call from the same anony-
mous person, who insisted that the
two escapees were in the red house.
Again the officers made a search
and failed to find the fugitives.

But the caller was persistent and
telephoned again. This time he sug-
gested that the officers look for a
trap door in a closet that led to the
attic.

Lieutenant Folaron, Patrolmen
Tibbits and Beaucamp had just fin-
ished searching a house on Leith
Street when the third call came over
the police radio. They hurried to the
little red house and went in. -~

In a closet in a back bedroom, the
officers found a neat row of clothes
on hangers. But Patrolman Tibbets
took a closer look and discovered a
trap door. It had been missed on
other searches because it was painted
the same color as the interior of the
closet and because the neatly hang-
ing clothes appeared not to have
been disturbed.

“Give me a boost,” said Tibbits. “I
think this is it.”

The taller Beaucamp lifted Tib-
bits so that he could push open the
trap door. When it was pushed up-
ward and had dropped onto the attic
floor, Patrolman Tibbits stuck his
head into the opening. He looked to
the front of the attic room, then to
the back.

Then he saw what looked like a
pile of clothing and he knew that he
had discovered the fugitives. He was
boosted a little higher to where he
coluld point his gun at the clothes
pile.

“Okay, you guys. Freeze!” he or-
dered. Then: “Slide your guns to me
along the floor.”

Obediently, the men complied. The
guns they had taken from the depu-
ties came sliding on the floor towards
the officer who stood halfway into the
opening., Then Tibbits climbed into
the attic and was followed by Beau-
camp. The officers put handcuffs on
the now meek prisoners and helped
them out of the attic into the waiting
arms of Lieutenant Folaron and oth-



ers who had joined him.

Both men were taken to the detec-
tive bureau at Flint police headquar-
ters, where Lieutenant Gorman ad-
vised them of their -constitutional
rights. Chipman refused to answer
questions. But Macklin did talk, ac-
cording to Lieutenant Gorman, giv-
ing substantially the same account of
what had happened as Bailey had
given.

Lieutenant Gorman said that
Macklin admitted that he shot both
Abbott and Walker. After Abbott
had been shot and had staggered out
of the building, Macklin took his gun,
according to Lieutenant Gorman. He
gave one of the guns to Chipman
and both fled to the north, doubling
back to the little red house.

According to Lieutenant Gorman,
Macklin denied that they had
planned to hide out in the red house.
He also denied that there had been
any plan to shoot the deputies, unless
they had to. But Macklin admitted,
Gorman said, that the escape attempt
had been planned since March 5th,
when Chipman and Macklin were in
the same cell block; at that time,
Chipman had mentioned the dental
clinic and they decided that was as
good as any place to make a break.

Chipman was charged with an ad-
ditional count of murder and assault
with intent to commit murder. The
same charges were filed against
Macklin. In an appearance before
District Judge Basil F. Baker, both
men demanded a pretrial examina-
tion, which was scheduled for Thurs-
day, April 15th. Macklin and Chip-
maln were returned to the county
jail.

Meanwhile, during the four hours
he was in surgery, ten pints of blood
were given to Deputy Abbott. Five
pints were given to him afterward
and doctors said his condition was
satisfactory. Twelve pints of the
blood were donated by the Genesee-
Lapeer chapter of the American Red
Cross. Other blood was contributed
by fellow officers.

A clinical pathologist, Dr. Frank V.
Hodges, performed an autopsy on
Deputy Walker and reported that he
had died of a gunshot wound to the
chest.

The hearing opened as scheduled
on April 15th. Dr. Hodges, Jesse
Bailey, Lieutenant Gorman and other
witnesses testified. At the conclusion
of the hearing on April 21st, Judge
Baker ordered Chipman and Mack-
lin bound over for trial.

On Monday, May 10th, the two
men were arraigned before Circuit
Court Judge Donald R. Freeman and
both stood mute when the charges
were read. Judge Freeman entered
pleas of not guilty for them and
scheduled a jury trial to begin on
August 11th.

As this was written, Chipman and
Macklin were held without bond in
the Genesee County jail in Flint
while authorities made arrangements
for the trial which has been moved
away from Flint, after a change of

venue request was granted. *ok ok
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The Law Couldn’t Hurt Hlm « « «» (from page 32)

The young men, both 19, had gone on
an errand to a nearby grocery store.

But suddenly the wooden hali-
door of the radio room was kicked
open and a dark-haired young man
Mrs. Simpson recognized as Bobby
Garcia stood in the opening, bran-
dishing a long-barreled shotgun.

“Put the phone down and get
back!” the gun-wielder ordered the
woman police employe.

The startled Mary Simpson real-
ized someone was with Garcia, but,
as she related in a later statement,
“lI had my eyes focused on Garcia
and the gun and at that time did not
realize it was Steve and Ralph with
him.” (Steve Grau and Ralph Mur-
ray said later they had just returned
from the grocery store and entered
the first floor of City Hall by a side
door, where they were met by Gar-
cia, waving a shotgun and threaten-
ing to “kill everybody up there” if
they didn’t accompany him upstairs
to the police desk.)

Garcia herded the two youths into
the radio room and, keeping the
shotgun levelled, shouted to them to
release his brother, who had been
arrested on an assault charge. For a
few seconds the shocked group stood
transfixed. Suddenly, Garcia fired a
blast from the shotgun, shouting,
“Move!”

The gunshot ripped a large hole
in a calendar on the wall.

Sergeant Wignall, who was stand-
ing at the desk, turned from Garcia
and reached for the jail key, which
was kept in the desk drawer. With-
out warning Garcia pulled the trig-
ger again. The shot struck Wignall
in the lower back and the impact
drove him forward into a slump over
the desk. The police sergeant then
fell backward to the floor.

The stunned group in the radio
room started forward to help the
gravely wounded officer, but Garcia
snarled, “Stay back!”

The gunman turned toward Mrs.
Simpson and added, “You get my
brother out.”

Fighting to control her rising ter-
ror before the frenzied gunman who
had cold-bloodedly gunned down the
57-year-old police sergeant, Mrs.
Simpson got the key and unlocked
the cellblock door. Murray and Grau,
meanwhile, were ordered by Garcia
to kneel in the hall.

Mrs. Simpson asked Garcia the
name of his brother. When he told
her, she remembered the brother
had been transferred to the Quay
County jail just before noon that
day. Even as she related this, she
wondered if the news would bring
another deadly blast of shotgun fire.

“You're going with me over there
to get him out!” the gunman snapped.
Grabbing Mrs. Simpson by the
shoulder, he shoved her toward the
stairway. Grau and Murray told the
trigger-happy breaker-into-jails that
they were. going to call an ambu-
lance for Wignall. Garcia replied
that would be all right, but ordered

them not to summon other police
units or he would kill his hostage,
Mrs. Simpson.

He ordered the woman police clerk
to walk down the side stairs to a
door opening onto an alley. Mrs.
Simpson asked if she could remove
her high-heeled shoes, saying they
could go faster.

She feared that an accidental fall
might raise the shotgun-armed thug’s
wrath. He told her she could take
off the shoes. ,

As they emerged from the door on
the west side of the building, Garcia
asked if the keys were in a patrol
car that was parked in the police
driveway.

“I don’t know for sure, but we can
look and see,” Mrs. Simpson replied.

‘;iYou better look good,” her abductor
said.

Mrs. Simpson, doing everything in
her power to avert another squeeze
of the shotgun trigger, invited Gar-
cia to help her look “so that we can
be sure.”

The keys were in the ignition, and
Mrs. Simpson and the kidnaper got
into the vehicle, Garcia behind the
steering wheel. He started the car
and in the process of putting it into
reverse, the motor died.

Back at the small house where
Josie Baker lay dead on the floor,
meanwhile, Patrolman Crespin, puz-
zled over receiving no answer from
headquarters, started to call again.
But before he could, a frantic mes-
sage came from the patrol car radio:
“All available units . . . Hurry to the
station . . . Jerry Wignall has been
shot!”

Crespin sped to the police build-
ing. Turning into the parking lot, he
saw a patrol car with Mary Simpson
and another person, whom he at first
thought was Grau, in it. Getting out
of his car and walking toward the
other unit, Patrolman Crespin saw
the man behind the wheel turn. He
recognized Bobby Garcia.

“Let her go!” Crespin shouted.

“He has a shotgun!” the spunky
police clerk cried.

As Crespin ran toward the alley
for cover, Garcia whirled around
with the shotgun and fired through
the back window of the police car
in which he sat. The pellets struck
Crespin on the right side of the face
and chest. A second blast from the
shotgun wounded the patrolman in
the left leg. Gaining the cover of a
building, the bleeding officer saw
that Garcia was out of the car on the
right side, holding the woman in
front of him. Realizing he had to
have help, Crespin painfully made
his way east to Adams, where he
encountered three men who put him
in a car and rushed him to the hos-
pital.

Grabbing hold of the back of Mrs.
Simpson’s blouse and sweater, Gar-
cia marched her toward the street,
walking west on the north side of

Center Street. Mrs. Simpson saw a
police car approaching from the west.

In the car were Captain Edwards
and Patrolman Morris. Twice Ed-
wards yelled at Garcia to release his
hostage.

“Go on! Or I'll kill her!” the gun-
man shouted back.

Fearing for the safety of the
woman, Edwards pulled slowly away.

The police captain drove on, made
a U-turn and followed the pair at a
distance. Garcia and his prisoner
walked across a parking lot and
headed north on Second Street.

“Where are we going? Why aren’t
we going to the county jail?” Mrs.
Simpson asked, aware that their
route was not in the direction of the
courthouse.

“We're going to hole up!” Garcia
answered, keeping his grip on the
woman’s sweater.

In the middle of the 100 block of
South Second, Garcia guided Mary
Simpson across the street to the west
side and continued north until he
came to the east door of the Sands-
Dorsey Drug. He pushed his hostage
through the door, pointing the shot-
gun ahead at him at the employes
and customers in the drug store.

“Stand back, all of you, or Ill
shoot her!” Garcia yelled at the
shocked onlookers.

He ordered Mrs.
them to stay away.”

“Do what he says! He means it!
He’s already shot some other peo-
ple!”, the police employe cried. -

Still holding Mrs. Simpson by the
collar and the shotgun in the other
hand, Garcia ordered the employes
to the rear of the store. He went to
the back left corner with his hos-
tage.

As a 22-year-old woman clerk in
the drug store recalled later to news-
men: “He kept his finger on the trig-
ger all of the time.”

Meanwhile, city, county and state
officers were converging on the drug
store. Entering through two doors—
front and side—were Captain Ed-
wards, Patrolman Morris, Tucumcari
Police Chief J. Bronson Moore and
New Mexico State Policeman James
Kelly.

Quay County Sheriff Claude Mon-
cus (National Police Officer of the
Month, Master Detective, Septem-
ber, 1965) had been on his way to
the first shooting scene on East Tur-
ner when word was flashed over the
police radio that Sergeant Wignall
had been shot. He headed toward the
police building, then overheard an-
other police message that Garcia and
his hostage had entered the Sands-
Dorsey Drug Store. Moncus wheeled
his car around and sped to the phar-
macy. He parked his cruiser on the
wrong side of the street and walked
into the drug store just behind State
Patrolman Kelly.

Captain Edwards, meanwhile, had
been told of a stairway that.came
out near where Garcia stood, and he
started for the staircase, hoping to
descend on the gunman from that
point,

Simpson, “Tell



“Drop your gun, Bobby!” Officer
Kelly told the gunman.

“Stay back, or T'll kill you!” Gar-
cia snarled.

Sheriff Moncus walked around
Kelly and continued slowly toward
Garcia and the woman police clerk.
Garcia levelled the shotgun at him,
but when Moncus was about ten feet
away, the suspect suddenly blurted,
“Sheriff, you can take me.”

Garcia lowered the gun and Mon-
cus moved in quickly and took it
from him. The sobbing Mrs. Simpson
clung to State Policeman Kelly for
support as Garcia was placed in
handcuffs. Besides the 12 gauge shot-
gun, officers took a .25 caliber semi-
automatic pistol and a black cloth
bag containing eight rounds of
ammunition, which the suspect was
wearing around his neck.

Less than one-half hour after it
had begun, the one-man rampage of
terror that left a woman dead, two
policemen wounded and the woman
police clerk in shock, was over. Mrs.
Simpson was treated for shock at
the Trigg Memorial Hospital. At the
same hospital, Sergeant Wignall was
reported in critical condition and
Patrolman Crespin in “fair” condi-
tion.

However, at 5:45 am. on Friday,
November 11, 1966, Sergeant Wignall
died as a result of the gaping wound
in his back. The attending physician
said later that the two-inch diam-
eter, “rat hole” size wound shattered
the lawman’s liver and caused mas-
sive infection of the stomach. He said
all of the holes left by the shotgun
pellets could not be sewed up, since
the shot hit a rib and scattered
within the body.

Patrolman Crespin later recovered
from his wounds.

An open charge of murder was
lodged against Garcia on Thursday
morning, November 10, 1966. Even
before the shooting rampage, the
suspect had been a familiar figure
to Tucumcari authorities. His police
record included arrests for breaking
and entering, assault, resisting arrest,
carrying a deadly weapon and un-
lawfully taking a vehicle without the
owner’s consent. A friend said of
Garcia that he “could be the nicest
guy in the world or a real terror.”

On Wednesday, November 16th,
after he was arraigned on the mur-
der charge and ordered bound over
to 10th District Court for trial, Gar-
cia continued his streak of violence.
This time he slashed both of his
wrists with a razor blade given to
him for shaving. The wounds were
not serious and he didn't require
hospitalization. However, a prelim-
inary hearing slated for November
18th was postponed until November
29th. -

Meanwhile, it was disclosed by
authorities that the shotgun and .25
caliber semi-automatic pistol taken
from Garcia after his arrest were
among weapons that had been taken
in a burglary of a Tucumcari store
on November 8th, the night before
the series of shootings. A large quan-
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tity of ammunition also was taken
in the break-in.

On Sunday, April 16, 1967, while
awaiting trial on the murder charges,
Garcia made a desperate bid for
freedom and an attempt on the life
of then Quay County Sheriff Dub
Smith, who had replaced Claude
Moncus when his term of office
ended. About 9 p.m. as Sheriff Smith
was cleaning a jail cell, he was
jumped by Garcia, who had armed
himself with a sharpened bolt and
pointed rod. He stabbed at the sher-
iff repeatedly with the instruments
as they scuffled for twenty minutes
before the prisoner was subdued.
Smith sustained stab wounds in his
back, chest and left side but was not
seriously hurt.

Garcia went to trial for the slaying
of Police Sergeant Wignall on Wed-
nesday, June 21, 1967, in 10th Dis-
trict Court in Tucumcari. The de-
fense raised the issue of sanity, but
a state’s witness, Dr. Rudolf Bram-
anti, chief of forensic psychiatry at
the state mental hospital at Las
Vegas, New Mexico, told the jury
that Garcia “was not mentally sick at
the time of the crime and in my
opinion he is now and was sane.”
Witnesses related the series of tragic
events at the police station that cost
the life of the police sergeant.
Other testimony brought out that
Garcia’'s hobby was collecting guns
and knives and that he sometimes
experimented with making bombs,
mostly from dynamite.

On Thursday, June 22nd, after six
hours of deliberation, the jury
returned a verdict of guilty and
assessed his punishment at life in
prison,

Garcia was taken to the state
prison at Santa Fe, and on Wednes-
day, September 6, 1967, he made his
first—although futile—escape after
packing pillows in his bunk to look
like a human form and sawing a
small opening in his cell bars. He
forced a service station attendant to
accompany him in a stolen car to
Albuquerque, sixty miles to the
south. The attendant managed to
elude the escaped con and notified
police. Garcia was recaptured only
three hours later at the Albuquer-
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que bus station. He offered no resis-
tance. But, as subsequent events
would show, that was only the be-
ginning. .

~ Garcia went to trial again—this
time for the slaying of his sister-in-
law, Mrs. Josie Baker, on January
10, 1968. Again the scene was the
same 10th District Court in Tucum-
cari. Testifying in this trial, Garcia,
after tellihng of the encounter with
his sister-in-law, said in a loud, emo-
tional voice: “I do not like to be
called a son of a bitch by nobody.
When she told me my wife was not
coming with me, I did it.”

“And you would do it again?” the
district attorney asked.

“I would do it again.”

Stepping down from the witness
stand, Garcia turned toward the D.A.
and added: “I have no remorse
whatsoever. That’s what you wanted
to hear and that's what you heard.
Nobody meddles in my business!”

On January 12, 1968, the jury
returned with a verdict after only
one hour of deliberation. Bobby
Gene Garcia was guilty of murder
in the first degree and his punish-
ment was set at death. After Judge
J. V. Gallegos sentenced Garcia to
die in the gas chamber on March 27,
1968, he asked if the defendant had
anything to say. Garcia reiterated
that he had no remorse.

Garcia’s attorneys filed an appeal in
the case and Garcia again was returned
to the state prison. On March 5, 1968,
he made another bid for freedom. He
made his dash in full view of guards
during an exercise break after lunch.
He managed to get over the first fence
but was pulled from the second one by
pursuing guards. Garcia was returned
to Tucumecari for re-sentencing to a
life term in the death of Josie Baker in
August, 1969, after state law had
abolished the death penalty. And,
once again the convicted killer’s
violent streak came to the surface.

After the judge had pronounced
sentence, an officer touched Garcia’s
arm and said, “Come on, it's over.”
The double killer bolted, jumped the
railing in front of the spectator’s
section and ran toward the double
doors leading from the courtroom.
Four deputies managed to subdue
him, but not before he shouted at
District Judge Gallegos, “You better
pray I die, 'm coming back! As long
as there’s breath in my body, I'm
coming back!”

Garcia continued to be bad trouble
in the state pen. Because of “disci-
plinary problems,” arrangements were
made to transfer the two-time kill-
er to the federal maximum security
prison at Marion, Illinois in October,
1969. However, he was returned to the
New Mexico state prison in February,
1971, because of the high cost in-
volved in keeping him in the Illinois
institution, officials said.

Thus, the stage was set for Bobby
Gene Garcia to become the only
inmate in the history of the New
Mexico penitentiary to make two suc-
cessful breaks from its walls. He
became the record holder when he

“hit the street” early that morning
of May 10, 1971, setting off a massive
manhunt.

As the manhunters swarmed
around the Santa Fe area, a tip late
Monday indicated the desperate es-
capee might have slipped across the
border into neighboring Texas. Ama-
rillo police pressed an intensive
search in that city, 105 miles east of
Tucumcari, when a report was re-
ceived that a man matching Garcia’s
description had been seen driving a
blue foreign car with New Mexico
license plates on the east side of the
city. However, the driver or car were
not located, and New Mexico author-
ities, including Prison Warden Felix
Rodriguez, still believed the fugitive
was in New Mexico.

On Tuesday, the hunt spread to
two different sites. An estimated 35
State Policemen, prison security offi-
cers and Santa Fe County deputies
searched the old mining town of Cer-
rillos, 13 miles south of Santa Fe,
after a dog was shot and killed there
—apparently by a prowler. Officers
also combed the Cochiti Indian
Pueblo, near Cochiti Dam, after a
woman reported seeing a man fitting
the description of the escaped con.
But both searches proved futile.

Wednesday passed without devel-
opments, but the next day, the trail
became hotter. A cowboy on a ranch
near Golden, a near-deserted ghost
town about 15 miles south of Cerril-
los, positively identified a photograph
of Garcia as the man the ranch hand
fed sausage and beans when the
stranger wandered onto the ranch on
Tuesday—about 36 hours after the
escape.

Acting on this information sixty
State Police officers and prison au-
thorities searched ramshackle build-
ings in the Golden area. A State
Police spotter plane and a state
Game and Fish department helicop-
ter aided in the search, but the fugi-
tive seemed to have left no trace
behind him.

As a growing number of officers
pressed the search in cars and on
horseback, Warden Rodriguez told
newsmen:

“I have no reason to believe that
Bobby Gene Garcia is anywhere
except in this area, between Golden
on New Mexico 14 and Santo
Domingo Pueblo near 1-25.”

He said mounted patrol units from
Espanola, Santa Fe, Bernalillo, and
Albuquerque had joined State Po-
lice and penitentiary officers in the
manhunt,

Asked by reporters if he consid-
ered the escaped killer-con danger-
ous, the warden answered, “I don’t
think he’ll allow himself ‘to be taken
alive.”

Early Sunday afternoon, May 16,
1971, the dispatcher for the Berna-
lilo County Sheriff’'s Department at
Albuquerque, received an anon-
ymous tip. The informant said a man

-who looked like Garcia was in the

South Valley area of the city.
Following up the «call, Sheriff’s
Department Detective Dan Lundy

and Volunteer State Ranger Dan
Milbourn, riding in separate cars,
approached the area from different
directions.

Detective Lundy spotted a man in
brown slacks and brown and white
striped shirt emerging from a drive-
in restaurant at the intersection of
Rio Bravo and Isleta, SW.

Noting that Ranger Milbourn was
closest to the drive-in, Lundy ra-
dioed him to check out the man.

Milbourn pulled up to the suspect.
He didn’t seem to resemble the pic-

‘ture of Bobby Gene Garcia printed

in the newspapers, the Ranger noted.
Asked his name, the man answered,
“Robert Sandoval.”

Persisting, Milbourn asked for
identification.
The man searched his pockets

without coming up with identifica-
tion, and at that point, Ranger Mil-
bourn pulled his revolver. As he did
the man lunged at him through the
car window. Milbourn, still seated
behind the wheel, was handicapped
from that position but he struggled
vigorously to retrieve the gun
snatched away by the suspect. Mil-
bourn grabbed the gun barrel with
both hands and fought to get the
weapon back.

Detective Lundy, who had pulled
up nearby, jumped from his car and
ran to aid the fighting Milbourn.
Lundy put his service revolver
against the suspect’s head and com-
manded, “Don’t move!”

“I'm not,” the man answered, ceas-
ing his struggle.

Detective Lundy knew he had the
right man when he saw the shark
tattoo on the man’s forearm.

Milbourn later told reporters, “It’s
a good thing the gun had a six and a
half inch barrel. I grabbed it with
both hands and tried to get it back.
I almost had it under control when
Lundy came up to help me. I was
never so happy to see anybody.”

The suspect in custody was quickly
identified as the much-sought killer-
con, whose freedom had spanned
only a six-day period. Taken to the
Bernalillo County jail, Garcia was
placed in solitary confinement until
prison authorities could arrive to
take him back.

To Garcia, talking later with offi-
cers and reporters, it was all a lark.

“If they (prison officials) don’t
give ‘me a vacation every once in a
while, I have to take one,” Garcia
laughed. “I just wanted to be free.
TI've had a nice vacation. I've met a
lot of interesting people.”

Concerning the escape, Garcia said
he would do it all over again. “If you
lock up a man in a seven by eleven
foot cell, he can figure all sorts of
ways to get out. He has 24 hours to
think. You get tired of sleeping after
a while.”

Prison officials told newsmen a
charge of escape would be filed
against Garcia, which could add an-
other term of ten to fifty years to his
two life sentences. The charge had
not been filed at this writing,. *ohok
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discovered the victim.

On arrival at the stranded Har-
wood car. Lyon set his crew to work
photographing the scene and search-
ing for evidence. Some of Mrs. Har-
wood’s underclothing still lay beside
the car, near where the three men said
they had found the woman. Wide oval
tire tracks, which Lyon believed might
have been made by a suspect’s car,
were found. However, the hard
ground and thick brush in the area
precluded the discovery of any foot-
prints.

Lyon checked with the hospital for
a preliminary medical report, after
he’d ordered the establishment of
roadblocks and sent detectives to ques-
tion anyone found in the area. The
early report showed Mrs. Harwood
had been raped. Two .22-caliber bul-
lets had entered her forehead one
lodging in the brain and the other
passing completely through the vic-
tim and exiting through her neck.
Sergeant Lyon was given that ex-
pended bullet by one of his deputies,
who had found it shallowly buried
where the three men had picked up
Mrs. Harwood. Both slugs were sent
to the FBI crime lab in Washington
for complete ballistics checks.

Since Lyon was already working on
a rape-murder which involved the use
of a .22-caliber weapon he began
checking all similarities in the two
crimes, even as he was sending some-
one to notify Mr. Gerald Harwood of
his wife’s brutal slaying,

With grim determination the slim
Arizona lawman intensified his own
efforts and pushed his men. And the
painstaking detail began to reap a
payoff. A middle-aged woman stopped
at a roadblock south of Sells and ques-
tioned by a deputy, described a late-
model green car, which she thought
was either a Ford Maverick or Mus-
tang, which she saw speeding onto
" the Rocky Point highway from a hid-
ing place. When the deputy showed
her a Polaroid snapshot of the Har-
wood’s English-model car, she said the
young man driving the green auto
had begun pursuing the pictured ve-
hicle. The pictures had been ordered
by Detective Lyon and distributed to
the deputies manning the roadblocks.

The woman said, “I had a good look
at the young man. He almost hit my
car when he swerved around me onto
the road!”

After a conference with Sheriff
Burr, it was decided to withhold news
about this witness from news media
until the possible apprehension and
identification of a suspect.

Meanwhile, Mrs. Hodge had driven
all the way south to the Indian Vil-
lage of Covered Wells, Arizona. She
stopped at a general store where sev-
eral men were seated on a porch over-
looking the road, and was told that no
car matching the description of her
friend’s had passec¢ through. She be-
gan a northward return, still looking
for the missing auto, and was stopped
at a sheriff’s roadblock. There she

finally learned of the slaying. She told
of seeing the green car beside the
Harwood vehicle. A search for the
suspect’s Mustang or Maverick was
intensified, including the use of air
patrols. But the day ended with no
arrests.

With morning and the newspaper
and broadcast coverage of the murder
story came another eyewitness break
for Detective Lyons. Thirty-year-old
Jerry Janc, a teacher at the Indian
Oasis High School in Sells, contacted
Sheriff Burr’s office and said he’d
hitched a ride at 3:10 on the after-
noon of the Kkilling with a shirtless,
dark-haired man with a bushy handle
bar moustache driving a green Mus-
tang. Sergeant Lyon had Janc go
through the “mug files” at the sher-
iff’'s office to see if the man he'd
hitched a ride at 3:00 on the after-
record. The schoolteacher said the
man wasn’t in any of the file pic-
tures. However using the descriptions
furnished by Janc, Mrs. Hodge and
the middle~aged woman who’d seen
the suspect, a composite picture was
worked up by an artist. The compos-
ite, depicting a short, acne-scarred,
dark-haired young man, was circu-
lated to the press.

In his talk with Janec, Detective
Lyon asked, “How far did you ride?”

“He picked me up near Sells and
drove me right up to my house,” was
Janc’s response.

“Where’s that?”

The schoolteacher leaned forward
in the chair beside the homicide offi-

cer’s desk. “It’s in kind of an isolated
spot, about three miles out in the
desert near the town of Three Points.”
He paused for a moment, then added:
“He drove me home and I offered him
a bottle of beer. He took it with him
when he drove off. This morning, I
noticed tire tracks—ones from his car
—near my house. I'm sure they’re the
same because I noticed the wide oval
tires he had on the back of his car.”

Within moments, Lyon had deputies
at the Janc home making plaster
casts of the tracks and putting these
to a comparison test with those found
near the stuck Harwood car. They
matched.

A good description of the murder
suspect was on hand, with three wit-
nesses available for a positive ID.
There were excellent specifications on
the suspect’s auto, with usable casts
of the tire markmgs But no suspect
was in custody.

Sergeant Lyon sent men with the
new information back to the Canyon
Del Oro area to see if anyone living
near the Cindy Winter murder scene
could tie the murder suspect in the
Harwood case to the earlier killing.

A homeowner near the ravine where
Cindy met her death told one of Ser-
geant Lyon’s detectives that a young
man frequently drove a 1970 green
Mustang through the neighborhood.
He couldn’t recall whether the car had
made an appearance on the date the
girl had been slain. The witness said
he believed the driver was a mine
worker from the nearby town of San
Manuel, named Duane Dains. A com~
plete checkout on Dains was under-
taken, but nothing was found to tie
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him more definitely to the murder..

Then on May 26, four days after
the Harwood killing, Sheriff Waldon
Burr told newsmen that the slain
schoolteacher may have been harassed
by ‘an unknown man during the two-
month period preceding her death.
Sheriff Burr said a private detective
in Tucson had reported to him that
Nancy Harwood had called his detec-
tive agency March 30th. The private
investigator had quoted the victim as
telling him at that time, “I need help
very much. I'm having threats made
to me by another man, not my hus-
band. And a Mustang car, greenish
in color, has been following me.”
Sheriff Burr added that the private
eye had claimed Mrs. Harwood made
an appointment to come to the detec-
tive's office on April 3rd, but never
kept the date.

Contacted by reporters, the investi-
gator added, “She also said the man
followed her from the school and that
she had received two phone calls from
a man. One was threatening, and the
other was an obscene call. She said
the man driving the car was young,
with dark hair.

“I suggested that she call police
immediately and report it. After she
hung up I wrote down an account of
our conversation in a daily diary re-
port that I keep. When I heard that
a woman named Harwood had been
murdered, it rang a bell and I looked
up the report I had made,” said the
investigator.

Within two hours of the interview
with the private eye, newsmen were
excited with the discovery that a pos-
sible suspect in the Harwood killing
had been arrested. A convicted sex
offender wanted by California Mis-
souri and Texas authorities for at-
tempted murder, assault and escape
charges was pointed out to law of-
ficers near Ajo, in southern Arizona,
by an informer. Virgil Standish, a
23-year-old former Arizona State
Prison inmate, surrendered peacefully
after officers surrounded the home of
a relative. Standish, who Sheriff Burr
said resembled the description of the
Harwood slayer, told Detective Lyon
that he had arrived in Ajo aboard
the noon train, and that he did not
have a car. He claimed that he’'d been
nowhere near Sells on May 22nd, the
date of the schoolteacher’s death. He
was held on an FBI warrant charging
him with unlawful flight to avoid
prosecution for attempted murder
while Lyon checked out his alibi.

First Sergeant Lyon knew he had
to check out the story given by the
private detective concerning the ha-
rassment story. Gerald Harwood, the
slim biological science researcher was
contacted in the duplex in which both
the Harwoods and the family of Vir-
ginia Hodge lived, and asked to visit
sheriff’s headquarters to give a state-
ment. )

Mr. Harwood challenged the private
detective’s claim. He told Lyon, “The
killing was the work of some crazy
animal!” Softspoken Harwood said
he thought Nancy was murdered by a
complete stranger roaming the high-

way in search of a vietim. He insisted
that his wife had never mentioned to
him, her parents or her friends that
she’d been followed by anyone. Har-
wood added that Nancy had said noth-
ing about obscene and threatening
phone calls.

“I'm sure that the private investi-
gator was mistaken,” said Harwood.
“My wife was not the type to keep
something like that secret.” He told
Sergeant Lyon he had no personal
knowledge of a green car hanging
around the area of their Tucson home.

The witnesses who had seen the
suspect in the green car on the day
of the Harwood killing failed to iden-
tify the suspect, Virgil Standish, as
being the same man. Sergeant Lyon
was forced to write him off as far as
any connection with the Harwood or
Winter murders were concerned.
Standish was returned to Texas to
face a charge in Houston of assault
with intent to commit murder.

While Mrs. Hodge was on hand for
the look at Standish, she told detec-
tives, “I'm becoming more and more
baffled by what I've learned about
Nancy.” She added, “I'm completely
baffled by the murder.” She said that
while she shared the duplex with the
Harwoods for about a year, she was
not close to Mrs. Harwood and the
two women had not shared thoughts.

Sheriff Burr decided to try another
angle on the case, since his men were
having so much difficulty in locating
the prime suspect. A former Tucson
psychiatrist, now living in Los An-
geles, had done some hypnotic studies
for the sheriff in the past. He agreed
to question Mrs. Hodge under hyp-
nosis to see if the society editor could
recall any additional details about the
afternoon of the murder.

After a two-hour session with the
psychiatrist Dr. T. E. A. von Deden-
roth, Burr said Mrs. Hodge was able
to supply the doctor with the first two
letters of the license number of the
green car.

Said Virginia Hodge of the hyp-
notic treatment, “It was not at all a
bunch of hocus pocus. Dr. von Deden-
roth conducted the examination with
restraint and competency, I thought.”

She said she wasn’t sure if she was
able to help the investigation amd
that the numbers she supplied were
the same she had originally told de-
tectives she may have seen.

However, Mrs. Hodge said, since
the murder she’d been questioned so
much and heard so many different
theories she was no longer sure just
what she did see that day.

Burr said all Mustang 'and Mav-
erick license numbers bearing the first
two letters supplied by the newspa-
perwoman would be checked out.

With all the information on hand, no
clear suspect could be found. Weeks
stretched into months, and while
many men were questioned intensive-
ly in the Harwood and Winter kill-
ings, Sergeant Lyon was unable to tie
any of them definitely to the rape-
murders. Tucson newspapers ran sev-
eral editorials in June and early July

of 1970, criticizing the sheriff’s of-
fice for the lack of success not only
in cracking these two crimes but for
failure to make any arrests in the
shotgun slaying of a laborer in mid-
March.

Ernie Luna, a 33-yearold ditch-
digging machine operator was found
slumped over the tire of his rig on
March 19th. Luna had been shot to
death with a shotgun at almost point-
blank range as he worked. The ditch-
digger was still running when the
body was discovered.

Three brutal murders. No arrests.

Detective Sergeant Lyon again
talked with the witness, Jerry Janc.
School was now out for the summer
and Janc was holding down a tem-
porary job as an ironworker. Some
of the suspects Lyon had questioned
greatly resembled the composite
drawing based on Janc’s description.
One in particular was the 24-year-
old mine worker, Duane Dains, who
had been questioned but tentatively
cleared in the Cindy Winter killing.
Dains had been fingerprinted and
photographed, agreeing to a volun-
tary appearance at the sheriff’s office
in hopes of clearing himself of sus-
picion. The miner was cleanshaven
however, and Janc couldn’t be sure
from the police photos that this was
the suspect he’d described. Janc said
he'd like to see Dains in person. The
detective wanted Janc to have a lonk
at Dains without alerting the young
man to the fact Janc was available as
a police witness. The teacher agreed
to shave off his own beard and cut
his long hair to avoid possible recog-
nition while he was brought in contact
with Dains to see if a positive ID
could be made.

Dains owned a green Mustang but
it did not agree with the first two
letters supplied by Mrs. Hodge. But
Lyon felt sure Dains was the one de-
picted in the composite drawing.

Posing as a deputy, Janc and Ser-
geant Lyon contacted the minework-
er, ostensibly to question him about
his car. Janc sat in the front seat of
Dains’ auto and after leaving told
Lyon it had dashboard features sim-
ilar to those of the car he'd ridden in
the day of the Harwood murder.

Janc who was not recognized by
Dains, definitely identified him as be-
ing the shirtless driver.

The next day, July 15th, Sheriff
Burr had the middle-aged woman
who’d seen the suspect start his chase
of the Harwood car and Mrs. Hodge,
study the photos of Dains. Janc's iden-
tification was confirmed, and the
sheriff requested a warrant for Dains’
arrest on suspicion of murder in the
Nancy Harwood case.

Detective Lyon arrested Dains on
the 3,000-foot-level of the under-
ground copper mine where he worked
while the suspect was operating an
electric ore train,

Announcing the arrest Burr said
that Dains, married and the father of
a three-year-old child, was also a
“strong suspect” in the Cindy Winter
killing.

His acne-scarred face bearing a



slight grin, Dains was booked into
county jail in Tucson still dressed in
his clay-encrusted work clothes. The
5-foot-6 miner wore a slouch hat
pulled over bushy black hair, and he
now appeared to have several day’s
growth of beard. After the booking
Burr announced that a search of the
Dains residence had resulted in the
seizure of a 16-gauge shotgun. The
sheriff said Dains’ friends had
claimed he owned a .22 pistol and a
.22 Magnum rifle, the type of weapon
that killed Miss Winter. But appar-
ently the guns had been disposed of
before the suspect’s arrest.

Dains issued a short statement ad-
mitting the Harwood killing to dep-
uties shortly after his arrest. The
statement was admitted as evidence
in a preliminary hearing on July
22nd eight days after he was taken
into custody. As a result the mine-
worker was bound over for a lst-de-
gree murder trial.

Then began the infighting tactics
by Dains’ attorney. Despite the con-
fession in his early statement a plea
of “not guilty” was entered. There
were early indications the attorney
would plead gn a basis of temporary
insanity.

The defense requested, and was
granted, a delay in the trial. Several
months passed and in September,
Sheriff Burr announced that a second
murder warrant would be served on
Dains at the Pima County jail, where
he’d been since the July arrest. Burr
said the new warrant accused Dains
of the sex slaying of 14-year-old Cin-
dy Winter.

“There are many similarities be-
tween the two killings” Burr said.
“The same type of gun was used and
both women had their clothes torn off.
Both are the same senseless type of
murder. No rhyme or reason to ex-
plain them.”

The sheriff said that while his in-
vestigators had been trying to con-
nect the two slayings since Dains’ ar-
rest in July, it was not until new wit~
nesses were found in the first few
days of September that a link could
be established. The new witnesses
were able to swear they’d seen Dains
driving his green car near the golf
course on the day of the Winter
homicide.

Now facing trial for two murders,
new defense moves were made on the
mineworker’s behalf, An attorney for
Dains in December asked for psychi-
atric tests, confirming that the ac-
cused would plead innocent by reason
of insanity in the trials. On Decem-
ber 18th, two psychiatrists were ap-
pointed by the Pima County courts to
examine the prisoner. After the tests
the Harwood trial was set for mid-
March of 1971 and the Winter trial
for April 13th.

Again, delays were granted as de-
fense motions were made to suppress
some of the evidence against Dains,
including the “confession” used in his
preliminary hearing. A public de-
fender charged duress. In January,
the requests were denied by a judge
who said the oral and written consent

for a search, and the statement, were
given voluntarily after the suspect
had properly been advised of his
rights. )

May 27th arrived, and Dains’ trial
for the Harwood murder was finally
underway, but it was a very short
courtroom drama due to a sudden
blockbuster confession by Dains be-
fore the bench.

Judge Collins leaned forward to
hear every word from the defendant.
Newsmen jotted on notepads while
the court reporter transcribed the
confession.

“I was driving on the Sells high-
way when I stopped at a store for a
soft drink. I saw Mrs. Harwood for
the first time there,” Dains recited.
He told the judge he’d watched the
two women drive off in separate cars
and he followed. About 15 miles from
Sells, he said, he pulled his car along-
side Mrs. Harwood’s small foreign
model and shot at her with a .22
single-action revolver.

“I didn’t know at first if I hit her,”
he said. “She continued to drive along,
but then she pulled over to the side
and stopped. I stopped ahead of her
and went back.”

He said Mrs. Harwood’s face was
covered with blood and she was
screaming, “Why did you do it?”

Dains related that he opened the
car door and forced Mrs. Harwood into
the passenger seat while her two chil-
dren remained in the back of the car.
He then drove the car about two
blocks into the desert.

Detective Lyon later reading parts
of the confession to newsmen, said
Dains told him the bullet apparently
affected Mrs. Harwood’s ability to
move her legs and he had to pull her
out of the car. He then left her lying
on the ground and went back to get
his car bringing it up alongside the
Harwoods’. When he returned, he
found Nancy Harwood had crawled
back into her auto and was attempt-
ing to start it. He pulled her out
while she pleaded with him not to
hurt her children,

Dains told Lyon that he attempted
to commit an unnatural sex act with
the vietim but was unsuccessful. He
then raped her.

Following this he again shot her in
the head while her children watched.
Dains said he took his shirt off and
wiped his fingerprints off the interior
of the car and left.

He changed into another pair of
pants he had in his car and drove
bare-chested back to Tucson, picking
up the hitchhiking schoolteacher Jer-
ry Janc. The soiled shirt and pants
were later thrown out along the
highway.

“I don’t know why I shot her,” he
told Lyon.

In the courtroom for the final round
of the drama was Mrs. Harwood’s
husband Gerald. He bowed his head
and covered his face with his hands
during the testimony about the death
of his wife.

Then Dains also admitted killing
the 14-year-old Winter girl. He told
Judge Collins he’d take authorities to
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a desert area where the murder weap-
ons used in the crimes were buried.
The next day when officers were taken
to a spot they found that the area
had been inundated in a recent storm
and the desert floor was covered with
sediment. No guns were found.

The Dains’ story was still not over.
On returning from the futile search
the youth was again questioned by
deputies. Within hours, Sheriff Burr
announced that Dains had signed a
confession admitting to the ambush
slaying of the 33-year-old construc-
tion worker, Ernie Luna,

According to the confession, Dains
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was driving in the area when he
spotted Luna working, Dains said, “I
got the urge to kill him. I couldn’t
control myself.”

Dains said he stopped his car, took
his 16-gauge shotgun, and blasted
Luna from a distance of about 16
yards.

That was just the start of a blood-
lust that led Dains to three murders
in the short space of two months.

As a result of the courtroom con-
fession to the Harwood and Winter
murders, Judge John Collins sen-
tenced Duane Dains to a term of life
in prison in late May of this year.
Dains is currently incarcerated at the
Arizona State Prison in Florence. Y%

Eprtor’s NoOTE:

Virgil Standish is mot the real
name of the person so mamed in
the foregoing story. Because there
is no reason for public interest in
the identity of this person, a fic-
titious name has been used.
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The Fat Baﬁk Rohber . . .

(from page 49)

apparently kept the burly holdup
man in style for several months, He
was not accused of heisting any more
banks for quite a while, but he was
living high and rambling far.

It was on a summer night in 1969
that he met an attractive divorcee
in a Nashville nite spot and invited
her to go with him to Las Vegas. He
had a man named Calvin Thomas,
31, of Nashville with him at the time.

“I was drinking just enough to go,”
said the divorcee later. “We drove
out there to Las Vegas. We stopped
to eat and we stopped and bought
clothes.”

By this time, investigators on the
bank robbery wave had begun to
suspect that Johnny Pace, 4l-year-
old mechanic of Joelton, Tennessee,
might be the “portly bandit,” but he
was only one of several possible sus-
pects.

After they learned of his affluence
on the Las Vegas trip it fitted the pat-
tern that was falling together. But
they didn’t know about that until
later, when the divorcee talked.

She said Pace bought her $500
worth of clothes and paid all her bills
before they left Nashville. Then they
pulled out for a five-day drive to
the Nevada gambling mecca. Calvin
Thomas went with them.

They drove first to Wichita, Kan-
sas, then made a swing through New
Mexico and on to Las Vegas.
Throughout the trip, said the divor-"
cee, Pace was making like the last of
the big-time spenders.

“He kept a lot of $100 bills in his
wallet, and twenties, tens and fives
in a roll in his pocket,” she said.
“And he was always ready to bust
a big bill.”

Both men had guns, she said. They
transported one in the glove box of
the automobile and one in a cigar
box that rode in the trunk.

“Johnny kept one on the night
stand by the bed every night,” she
said.

In Wichita, the divorcee tired of
the trip and wanted to go home, but
her companions paid her $100 to go
on to Las Vegas. Two days after ar-
riving there she used the money to
buy a plane ticket back to Nashville.

All of which made fascinating lis~
tening to officers concerned with the
robbery wave, but they only heard
about the Las Vegas jaunt after addi-
tional robberies. And by then they
had a good idea of the big bandit’s
identity.

By late summer, loot from the St.
Bethlehem stickup must have been
running low. It was time to replenish
the stash, and again the same MO
was used.

On August 12th, country music
singer Billy Grammer, one of Nash-
ville’'s multitude of entertainers,
went fishing on Percy Priest Lake
near the Music City. Just as the fish-
erman from Madison had done five
months earlier, he parked his car



and boat trailer at a launching ramp.
Then he went out on the lake.

When Grammer returned after
nightfall his car was gone. The boat
trailer was still there. It toock the
entertainer several hours to contact
a friend, tow the trailer to Nashville
and report his car stolen.

Next day it showed up in College
Grove, another Nashville suburb,
with a heavy, chunky man behind
the steering wheel. Again he was
accompanied by a smaller man, who
attracted little attention because the
big fellow was more noticeable.

They entered the Bank of College
Grove with pistols drawn, went
through the routine that was becom-
ing familiar to area lawmen, and
made their illegal withdrawal. Again
they wore gloves. Again the big
leader did the talking.

Mrs. Marjorie Bellenfont, a teller,
said the first time she saw the holdup
men they were coming through the
front door with improvised masks
over their faces. Her report sounded
like those made by other victims.

“One man was big, heavy,” she
said. “I doubt he was six feet, but he
was fat. He had a bandanna over his
face and a cap pulled close to his
eyes. They had us lie on the floor
in front of the vault. Then they took
the money from the tellers’ cages.”

The haul from College Grove was
$22,606. Then the pair vanished in
the car stolen from Percy Priest
Lake. Later it was found abandoned.
It had been “hot wired.” The trunk
lock had been punched out, and the
air filter was in the trunk.

Federal agents and local officers
were going in frustrated circles by
this time. The big, fat man involved
in all the robberies was obviously
the same individual, and his modus
operandi was beginning to sound like
an overworked tune.

But who was he? Was he really
Johnny Pace?

Before that question was an-
swered, the burly robber took anoth-
er western excursion in early Sep-
tember. This time he went to Los
Angeles, where he struck up friend-
ship with a bartender and talked the
man into riding back to Tennessee
with him.

During their trip the bartender,
Jimmy Dale Kelley, said they lived
high. Soon Kelley’s finances were
depleted. One night at the Holiday
Inn in Jackson, Tennessee, he con-
fided to his new-found friend that
he was running out of money.

The Tennessean offered to solve
the problem by letting Kelley take
part in a holdup. Kelley was non-
plussed. He was all for good times
and bright lights, but robbery was
out of his line.

“I said I was about broke, and he
said, ‘We can make some money by
hitting a bank,’ ” Kelley recalled later.
“At first I thought he was kidding.
Then he started talking serious.”

To change the subject, Kelley said,
he commented that his wife had told
him on the telephone that people in
California were speculating they had
“gone to Tennessee to rob banks.”
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Actually his wife hadnt said any
such thing, but the conversational
gambit ended the stickup discussion.

A few days later Kelley headed
back to California alone. His misgiv-
ings about robbing banks didn’t com-
municate themselves to his luxury-
loving companion, however, and it
wasn’t long before  the latter re-
cruited a confederate and planned
another caper.

They put it in motion by stealing a
green-~over-white Plymouth owned
by Mrs. Ida Mae Johnson of Cam-
den, Tennessee on September 22nd.
The car was taken from a fishing
spot on the Tennessee River near
Camden.

Next morning it was seen 85 miles
to the northeast in the hamlet of
White House, Tennessee, another of
Nashville’s out-lying bedroom towns.
And White House had a nice, little
bank with $30,000 in the till.

Again the method was the same
with minor variations. The bigger
holdup man had another bandanna
over his face, but this time both loot-
ers wore long, blond wigs. Both wore
gloves.

Which didn’t keep Lannie R. Wil-
kinson, bank manager, from taking
note that the leader was “a big man
about five feet, 10 inches tall, with a
large stomach . .. a pot belly.”

An assistant cashier returning
from lunch saw the pair leave the
bank. The bandanna over the big
man’s face caused her to pay atten-
tion to the green and white Plymouth
they drove. Then she entered to
find other employes getting up off
the floor in front of the vault. The
bank’s $30,000 was gone.

It is only a dozen miles from White
House to Green Brier, and another
20 to Joelton where the big mechanic
lived. The roads in between are nar-
row, unpaved and twisting. And the
holdup leader chose such a road as
his getaway route.

That was his biggest mistake to
date. On a winding, dirt road near
Green Brier, he came to a wooden
bridge so narrow it would only ac-
commodate one automobile at a time,
and there he met another car.

The woman who was driving it
glanced over at the two-tone Plym-
outh that pulled aside to let her pass.
She thanked the driver by waving
at him. He waved back and she
noticed he was wearing a glove.

“It was Johnny Pace from Joel-
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ton,” she later told investigators. “I
recognized him immediately.”

After the stolen Plymouth from
Camden was recovered, with the
trunk lock punched and the air filter
removed, the woman identified it as
“looking just like” the car Pace was
driving. It, too, had been ‘“hot-
wired.” And it was ditched after the
robbery.

Just when and where the holdup
partners split company has not been
revealed, which is understandable,
since the second man has not been
identified. FBI agents think they
know who he is, but thinking some-
thing is one thing, proving it in a
court of law is something else, and
Johnny Pace hasn’t talked.

It took investigators several days
to verify some facts, substantiate
some hunches and rumors. By the
time a warrant for Johnny Pace was
issued, he was like a golf ball in high
weeds—not to be found.

He was known to like the West,
and Los Angeles was one of his
favorite stomping grounds. The FBI
office there was alerted to watch for
him. Federal agents briefed other
agencies on his description and hab-
its.

On December 22, 1969, two Los
Angeles County sheriff's deputies,
John M. Blalock and Doug Dolan,
saw a burly man accompanied by two
women enter a supermarket. Some-
thing about the man's appearance
rang a memory bell. The officers fol-
lowed.

Inside they spotted the big man
pushing a grocery cart down an aisle.
Because the FBI had reported Pace
was probably armed and dangerous,
Blaylock decided to play it safe. He
approached the suspect quietly.

“Then I placed my service revolver
in the back of his neck and told him
to keep his hands on the cart,” Blay-
lock reported. Under questioning, the
man admitted he was Johnny Pace.
After he was handcuffed the deputy
noticed a “suspicious bulge” in his
pocket.

“The bulge was a large wad of
money,” Blaylock said. “When we
counted it at the police station it
totaled $3,084, but he wasn’t armed.”

Pace reminded the deputies he was
entitled to a telephone call. They
agreed that he was. Dolan offered to
place the call and Pace gave him a
number in Tennessee. Dolan dialed
the number and handed the receiver
to Pace. The deputy said the conver-
sation went this way:

“I want to speak to Jim, Hello,
Jim. They've got me. You have got
to get rid of everything. Call
and tell him the same thing.”

The big suspect was soon returned
to Tennessee and his arraignment
was set for March 14, 1970, in Fed-
eral court in Nashvillee He was
released on $50,000 bond, but when
arraignment day came he was long
gone. He had jumped bond.

Just one week later, on March
29th, two armed men rushed into the
Union Bank of McEwen, Tennessee,
50 miles west of Nashville, and or-
dered all hands to hit the deck.

Again the leader, who wore sun-
glasses and a scarf mask, was a big,
burly individual. He was so thor-
oughly in command that witnesses
paid little attention to his companion.
After telling everybody to get face
down on the floor, the leader noticed
that one teller was pregnant.

He considered the situation for a
moment, then pointed at the floor
and said, “You too, honey.” The
young woman managed to lie down
in a sidewise position. Then the rob-
bers cleaned $61,000 out of cash
drawers and shoved off.

A female passerby watched the
fleeing marauders get into a 1969
Ford and speed away. She pointed
out the car to postmaster Billy Joe
Ross and he jotted down the license
number.

When the car was found three days
later, parked beside Kentucky Lake
on the Tennessee River, it came as
no surprise to FBI agents that the
trunk lock was ripped. The car was
“hot-wired.” And, of course, the air
filter was in the trunk. All standard
procedures for the bull moose of
Tennessee bank robbers.

T here seemed little doubt that
Johnny Pace was that man, and
again he was long gone. But he was
still a creature of habit, a predictable
one, and it was as logical to stake out
his watering places as to look for a
big man with a pot belly.

Among other places, he was known
to like Wichita, Kansas, almost as
well as he did Las Vegas and Los
Angeles. Alerts were posted for him
in all three cities. It took him until
June to make the Wichita scene:

FBI Special Agent James F. Mil-
ler of Wichita received a tip that the
Tennessee fugitive was in town. He
and another agent pursued the lead
to a duplex apartment and began
surveillance of the dwelling.

On the morning of July 6th, they
saw a man answering Pace’s descrip=
tion enter and leave the place several
times. About noon the suspect came
out carrying a bundle of laundry and
the agents moved in for the arrest.
The man was Johnny Pace.

In Pace’s pockets and billfold, the
officers found $1,153. He was still
running true to form, carrying a
bundle every time he walked out-
doors. Another $12,020 was found
stashed in the duplex bathroom.

The brawny bandit was once more
transported back to Nashville and
locked up in the Metro jail. This
time he couldn’t make bond, but he
stayed alert for a chance to escape.

During August, jail superintendent
Robert Mosley told Sheriff John
Frazier he had heard a rumor that
some Federal prisoners were plotting
a jailbreak. They were reported of-
fering “fantastic sums” via the prison
grapevine for outside help.

“T've heard one of them is offering
$5,000 just for a pistol to be smuggled
in,” said Mosley. “And I'm afraid
somebody will get greedy.”

Such rumors are common in big
city jails, however, and after a
shakedown of inmates failed to sub-

stantiate it, the report was dis-
counted as prisoner talk. Unfortu-
nately, it was more than talk.

On the night of September 14th,
guards Jesse McWhorter and Luther
Harper were jumped by three pris-
oners, one of them armed with a .32-
caliber pistol. They marched both
guards to a desk where guard Ser-
geant Coy Lyle was seated and took
him captive.

Keys were taken from the three
guards and they were locked in a
cell. The escapees then changed to
civilian clothes and removed $2,605
from a safe containing prisoners’
valuables.

They rode an elevator to the
ground floor, walked out the front
entrance and drove away in Lyle’s
car. Because of a communication lag,
it was almost an hour before Nash-
ville police learned of the breakout
and broadcast an alert.

One of the escapees was Johnny
Pace. The other two, also Federal
prisoners, were being held on charges
unrelated to Pace’s string of bank
robberies. They were Garland Neese,
47, of Memphis, and Harold Lloyd
Jarbo, 33, of Troy, Indiana.

Sheriff Frazier, in the understate-
ment of the year, remarked: “How
they got the pistol is obviously a
serious breach of security.”

A middle Tennessee alert for the
three escapees was issued. Officers
were posted at bus and train sta-
tions and at the airport. All highways
out of Nashville were watched close-
ly for several days, but somehow the
trio eluded capture.

The other two may have headed
for tall timber, but the burly me-
chanic from Joelton was still in the
area, and he was still in the business
of making big money the fast, easy
way. He served public notice of this
by pulling another heist just 24 days
later.

This time, on October 8th, the big
leader had two cohorts when he en-
tered the bank of Mt. Juliet, Ten-
nessee, another Nashville suburb.
They were all armed with pistols and
wore sunglasses.

Robert Bass, bank vice president,
said as the trio rushed in the big
bandit told a teller, “This is a hold-
up! Get on the floor, lady, get on the
floor! This is no joke!”

The lady did as she was told. One
of the holdup men jammed his pistol
muzzle against the head of Earnest
Sutherland, second vice president,
and ordered, “Hang up that phone.”
Sutherland got off the telephone.

Bass got a good look at the big,
domineering brigand before facing
the floor. Then he lay quietly while
the trio cleaned $17,777 out of the
tellers’ cages. The loot included sev-
eral bundles of $10 bills whose serial
numbers had been recorded and
placed as “bait money” in cash draw-
ers.

The holdup crew left Mt. Juliet in
a 1966 Oldsmobile. Later in the day
it was found on a parking lot outside
Smyrna Air Force Base near Nash-
ville. As investigators suspected, the
car had been (Continued on page 86)
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(Continued from page 84)
stolen. And the carburetor filter was
inside the jimmied trunk—as usual.

The escape trail of the robbery
crew ended with the parked car. No
new leads developed for six weeks.
Then one of the “bait money” $10
bills turned up. in the trade channels
of Columbus, Georgia. FBI agents
went to work there.

On December 3rd, FBI Special
Agent Russell McGrue walked into
the office of a Columbus trailer park
manager and asked to use the tele-
phone. He called one of the trailers,
which was already surrounded by
other agents.

“T agked him (the trailer occupant)
if he was Johnny Pace,” said Agent
McGrue. “He said he was. I told him
who I was and told him he was under
arrest. He came out of the trailer
unarmed and we took him into cus-
tody.”

Arresting officers found $1,839 in
Pace’s pockets and wallet. Inside the
trailer they found another $1,000, two
rifles, a shotgun and a .22-caliber
pistol. Several $10 bills had serial
numbers matching those of “bait
money” from the Mt. Juliet bank.

This time, lawmen weary of run-
ning Johnny Pace to ground took no
chances on bond jumping or jail
breaking. The husky plunderer was
taken to the Federal penitentiary in
Atlanta, Georgia to await trial.

Back in Nashville, a federal grand
jury indicted Calvin Thomas, Pace’s
erstwhile running mate, for “aiding
and abetting” the September jail
break. Just how it was done has not
been made public because at this
writing the case remains untried.

Finally, on Monday, March 22,
1971. Johnny Pace found himself fac-
ing trial on seven bank robbery
-charges before U.S. District Judge
Frank Gray Jr. in Nashville. Assis-
tant U.S. Attorney Fred D. Thomp-
son was prosecuting.

Williams C. Wilson and Dan Gar-
finkle, court-appointed lawyers of
Nashville, represented the defendant.

As the trial proceeded, it became
obvious, even to casual spectators,
that the prosecution had a formida-
ble case. During three days of testi-

mony by 57 government witnesses,
U.S. Attorney Thompson methodical-
ly tied the defendant to each of the
holdups.

There was testimony by bank em-
ployes, by owners of stolen cars used
as getaway vehicles, and by lawmen
who worked on the various investi-
gations. Other witnesses included
people who had witnessed getaway
flights, and persons who hobnobbed
with the defendant during his afflu-
ent days.

The Los Angeles bartender, Jimmy
Dale Kelley, told of his trip to Ten-
nessee with Pace. He testified the
defendant outlined a procedure they
could follow in robbing a bank.
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“He told me all I would have to do
was just stand inside the door and
watch for people,” said Kelley.

“Were you scared of getting shot?”
asked Prosecutor Thompson.

Kelley said he was, that this was
his reason for making up a story
about his wife’s telephone conversa-
tion in order to end discussion of
the proposed robbery. Another pro-
secution witness was the pretty di-
vorcee who accompanied Pace and
Calvin Thomas to Las Vegas.

She told of their trip, how Pace

bought her clothes and paid her bills,
and repeated the statement that “he
was always ready to bust a big bill.”

U.S. Attorney Thompson asked,
“Do you have any direct knowledge
of the bank robberies with which
Mr. Pace is charged?”

“No sir, I don’t,” she replied.

The government testimony was
concluded on Wednesday evening,
March 24th. Pace’s attorney said that
he, Pace, wanted to “sleep on the
idea overnight” before deciding if he
would testify. Next morning he said
he wouldn't.

Judge Gray asked, “Are you cer-
tain you don’t want to testify in your
own behalf?”

Pace replied, “That is what I wish
to do—not testify.”

No defense witnesses were called,
and the attorneys’ arguments were
brief. And, really, there wasn’t much
they could say. The witnesses had
already . said it all. Prosecutor
Thompson reviewed the modus oper-
andi of the big bank robber, pointed
out that Pace matched his descrip-
tion, and asked for a guilty verdict.

Defender Wilson replied that all
robbers of small town banks used a
similar routine, and argued that
only evidence against Pace that
wasn't circumstantial was possession
of a few “bait money” bills. He said
this didn’t prove Pace himself pulled
the stickups.

He concluded that Pace was “being
tried on circumstantial evidence be-
cause he is a fat man, and he isn’t
the ’only fat man in Middle Tennes-
see.’

Thompson rebutted, “He isn't the
only fat man ardund, but he’s the
only one who propositions people to
rob banks.”

The jurors apparently agreed.
After deliberating less than an hour
they returned a guilty verdict.
Asked if he wanted to say anything,
Pace only shrugged. Judge Gray
promptly sentenced him to a total of
25 years in prison.

Thus ended the bank robbery
career of Tennessee’s swinging me-
chanic who liked to “bust big bills”
and spread the change around like it
was going out of style. * ¥ k

Doing the Sex Thing at College (from page 23)

women living on the same floors.
According to manager Dick Mecum,
the only house rule is ‘be courteous
to your neighbors.’”

From Barbara S. Metzner, assis-
tant dean of students, Ohio State
University: “We have two coed halls
at Ohio State. Each tower holds
about 1,800 students. The buildings
are 24-story, high-rise towers. Floors
four through 15 house women while
floors 15 through 23 house men. . . .
There are also no special visitation
rules for the coed buildings, although
any hall may set more restrictive
visitation hours within the limits
imposed by the university. . . . This
fall, we will have a small upperclass-

86 man coed dorm housing about 250

students. There will be alternating
men’s and women’s floors. We will
have a selection procedure for these
students. This is a student-initiated
proposal begun over a year ago. ...”

Other college officials reported
similar policies, most of them main-
taining some small barriers between
the sexes, but most of them having
gaping loopholes which make it easy
to penetrate the barriers.

One of the most common loopholes
is the so-called “open house” visita-
tion policy, under which residents of
men’s dorms are able to have women
visitors 24 hours a day on “special
occasions.” It doesn’t take much to
declare any occasion special, how-
ever. Witness the following state-

ment by Mrs. Maxine M. Brockhaus
of the Department of Public Rela-
tions, University of Kentucky:

“Student visitation in the under-
graduate residence halls is regulated
through ‘open houses,” which are
sponsored by the individual res-
idence hall government and ap-
proved 'by the Associate Dean of
Students for Residence Halls Pro-
gramming. Under the open house
plan, the individual residence hall
government files a form seeking per-
mission for an open house during
specified hours on a particular date.
During the past academic year, some
residence halls were granted permis-
sion for open houses nearly every
weekend.” [Emphasis added.]

It is no secret that students gen-
erally prefer to live coeducationally.
A survey conducted last winter by
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(Continued from page 86)

the University of Connecticut’s
Inter-Area Residence Hall Council
showed that more than half of all
the students at the university pre-
ferred sexually integrated living
quarters. Students were asked to
respond to the statement: “I prefer
to live and would move to a coed
dorm (women on some floors, men
on others.)”

Of those who answered, 3,553 said
yes. Only 1,771 said no.

When the same students were
asked whether they would choose to
Jlive in a dormitory where visitation
rules were set by the students with-
out any limitations, 3,652 said yes
and only 931 said no.

Most of the students with whom
I spoke said they believed that since
they were paying for their room and
board, they should have total control
over the living arrangements.

“This bed and my meals are cost-
ing me fifteen hundred bucks,” said
one long-haired young man who had
a harmonica sticking out of his breast
pocket and an army surplus canvas
bag over his shoulder. “Some of the
money I made last summer by play-
ing guitar and harmonica with a folk
rock group in my home town. The
rest I had to borrow. So I don't want
anybody telling me what I can or
can’t do in my own room, or at least
in my own bed.” .

It is clear that in most coeduca-
tional dormitories, plenty of sex goes
on. Often, girls arrange to swap
rooms with men who are roommates,
so they are able to live as couples
without having to go through the
hassle of visitation regulations. Some-
times, if there is an uncooperative
roommate, one comfortable bed can
be converted into two less comfortable
ones merely by placing the mattress
on the floor, so one person can sleep
there and the other can rough it on
the box spring.

But it definitely is the larger dor-
mitory quarters where the real
action is. In some of these, partic-
ularly the ones where there are 12 to
20 beds in a room, the scene com-
monly is one of freaky group sex.

I arranged a group interview with
six college juniors, three men and
three women, who share such a dor-
mitory room at.one of the nation’s
largest universities (they made me
swear not to reveal the name of the
university, so there would be no
chance of alerting dormitory offi-
cials). For purposes of the transcript,
Tll call them Alice, Betty and Carol,
and Dick, Ed and Frank.

The interview took place in a New
York City restaurant. All six live in
New York, New Jersey or Connec-
ticut, within 50 miles of Manhattan.

Q: Is there any privacy in the
dorm, or is it one big room?

Alice: That’s all it is, a big room
with 12 beds in it. We have our own
bathroom, though, so there’s privacy
there. Then we have two huge walk-
in closets.

Q: So that everything that goes
on is visible to everybody in the

whole room?

Dick: Well, that’s true, but don’t

forget that we’re not always there at
the same time. There’s always some-
body out sleeping with somebody
else or home on a visit or something.
So it’s not like 12 people are always
sitting around watching each other.

Betty: And, you know, there’s a
lot of privacy in the same sense that
you had privacy in your own house.
Sure, your mother and father were
there, and maybe a brother or sister.
But you felt private in your house,
with the rest of the world outside.
That’s how it is with us.

@Q: Okay, then, what actually hap-
pens? I mean, does everybody hop
into bed together, or what?

Carol: No, it's not crude or any-
thing. It usually just happens, you
know. We'll all be reading after din-
ner, and after a while, somebody will
roll a joint and pass it around. Or
maybe somebody will have a bottle
of apple wine, and we'll all get a lit-
tle high on it. And pretty soon, peo-
ple are just moving together. It just
happens.

Ed: Most of the people in our
dorm are sleeping steady with one
person. They have their beds pushed
together all the time, and there’s no
problem about it. When they go to
bed, it’s with each other.

Frank: Then sometimes there’s a
little group sex. You know, two girls
and a guy, two girls and two guys.
It usually happens when everybody’s
high on grass or mescaline. Every-
body gets horny and gets together
for sex.

Q: Could it be anybody with any-
body else? I mean, are the people
in your dorm that close that they
could all sleep with one another?

Ed: Oh, I suppose they could.
They just never would, that’s all. For
instance, there’s Sally, she’s kind of
weird, and she hardly talks to any-
body but Frank, here. So I don't
think she’s ever had sex with any-
body in the dorm except him. But if
it was to prove some kind of a point
or something, I'm sure she’d sleep
with anybody in the room, or with
anybody on campus, for that matter.

Betty: Then on the other hand, we
have Eddie, over there. He’s the
lover boy of the barracks—he’s al-
ways in demand in somebody’s sack.
He’s had sex with everybody in our
whole building. . ..

Ed: ... at least once a week. Seri-
ously, though, that’s just my thing.
You know, a different girl every
night. I don’t want a love affair or
anything. I just like sex, not love.
So whoever’s not busy, that’'s my
date for the night. That way I still
have some energy left over for my
studies. I'm in pre-med, and if I
don’t keep my grades up, I don’t get
into medical school. And if that hap-
pens, I jump off the roof.

Q: How did you all get together?
Did you know each other before col-
lege, or what?

Alice: No, I don’t think any of us
knew each other before last fall, in
fact. Dick, Frank and one of the

other guys, Al, were in the room
with a bunch of other guys. And
then the swapping started. I guess
the first one was Sally. She had a
roommate who dug one of Frank’s
roommates. And so they swapped.
And then another guy worked out a
deal so he could get his woman in.
And that’s how we work it.

Q: Does the university
about your arrangement?

Dick: Hell, no! They don’t know
about anything. As long as you're
paid up and you don't complain about
the broken~-down elevators or try to
flush your garbage down the toilet,
nobody cares who’s in whose room.
The name of the game is Don’t Make
Waves.

Betty: Besides, everybody does it.
On every floor of our dorm there’s
at least one big group of people liv-
ing together just like us. The admin-
istration doesn’t want to open the
subject up. It would be like opening
Pandora’s box.

Ed: If they wanted to kick people
out of school for living together in
the dorms, they’d have to kick out
half the people in the school.

Q: Well, what about the people
who don’t want to participate? Don't
they complain?

know

Carol: Nobody bothers them and
they don’t bother anybody. Usually
they just wind up in a room with
non-swingers, I guess. You know, I
started out my sophomore year in a
semi-private room with a girl who
was a real drag. By the Christmas
vacation I had started having boys in
the room overnight. She never said
anything, but I know she disap-
proved. So I just put in for a room
change, and it came through a couple
of weeks later. We never had any
problem about it—in fact, I had one
class with her last term, and she was
really friendly.

Frank: And don’t forget, people
like her have guests in their rooms,
too. Like visitors, you know. I mean,
I've had lots of wvisitors who had
nothing to do with sex. Just guys
from other schools, or guys I know
from the city, who stopped in for a
few days. We always let them sleep
in with us.

Carol: That's right. Come to think
about it, the girl 1 was telling you
about, she used to have a girl friend
of hers stop in every other weekend.
In fact, she stayed almost one whole
}vlveek and dropped in on classes with

er.

Q: Just as a matter of simple curi-
osity, tell me-—are there any college
students who are virgins? I mean,
that girl Carol was talking about, was
she a virgin?

Carol: Oh, she would love to have
you think she was a virgin. We never
really talked about it, but she was
always dropping little hints about her
purity. But one day I opened one of
her letters by mistake, and it was
from her boy friend. She’s no virgin.

Alice: There probably are a few
kids who haven’t had any sex at all
before college. But they’re so rare
that it's not funny. I personally only



know “one. This one guy, he’s really
pretty ugly, and we were rapping one
day in the library, and he “con-
" fessed” to me that he was a virgin.
I felt so sorry for him that I almost
took him home with me that night
and had sex with him just to show
him what it was all about.

Not all college sex takes place in
the dormitories. There is plenty of
it nights and weekends, on beaches,
in motels and anywhere there is
space.

The night life is particularly inter-
esting around the University of
Florida. Just off campus there is a
nightclub  specializing in  topless
shows. But on Thursday nights there
is a different kind of entertainment.

Thursdays, the club features =a
. “Miniskirt Contest.” At the event,
college girls take turns doing strip-
tease dances to the wild rhythms of
an acid rock band. Usually, accord-
ing to a 19-year-old redhead stu-
dent from New Jersey who has won
the . contest twice, the amateurs strip
better, look better and dance better
than the professional topless go-go
dancers.

The University of Florida is also

reported to be the bhirthplace of a
campus sex game called “Seven Min-
utes in Heaven.” The game is played
by groups of students who either use
their coed dorm bedrooms or rent a
motel room for the weekend. Every-
body strips down to the altogether
and sits around in a circle. From
there on, the game works exactly
like that childhood favorite, Spin-
the-Bottle—with one important dif-
ference. Instead of kissing, the two
winners walk to a bed outside the
circle and, for exactly seven min-
utes, do anything and everything
that comes to mind. The rest of the
people amuse themselves by watch-
ing,.

“You know,” says one {frequent
player of the game, “you’d be sur-
prised how much you can accomplish
in seven minutes, if you put your
mind to it.”

The University of Florida is not
the swingingest campus in Florida by
any means. In fact, many of the Sun-
shine State’s institutions of higher
learning have reputations for being
far more sexually wide-open. Last
spring, several of the state’s public
officials were moved to take action.

June, 1971.]

Chicago.

Up to the Minute

N JUNE 29, 1971, during a trial held at Belton, Texas—a

change of venue from the scene of the crime—Rene Adolpho
Guzman and Leonardo Rames Lopez, both of Dallas, were con-
victed of murder with malice in the execution-type slaying of
three Ellis County Sheriff’'s Department deputies and sentenced
to die in the electric chair. The murders of the three officers
occurred last February 15th near Bristol, not far from Dallas,
when Deputies A. J. Robertson, Wendall Dover and Samuel Infante
were questioning Guzman and Lopez about a burglary. The two
suspects suddenly disarmed the officers, took them to a riverside
spot and started shooting. Robertson, Dover and Infante were
killed, another deputy was wounded while another escaped un-
“hurt. [Executloners of 3 Texas Depunes Had No Place to H.lde,

M ARK A. SMITH, 22, of McHenry, Illinois, already

in prison serving two consecutive prison terms
totaling 400 years for two murders, was indicted
May 25, 1971 for the murder of Miss Janice Bolyard,
23, of Des Plaines on February 27, 1970. Smith had
received the earlier prison terms for the murders of
Jean Lingenfelter, 17, and Mrs. Jeane Irene Bianchi,
27, both of McHenry, in early 1970. [May, 1971, Too
Many Rapes, Too Many Murders.] The indictment
was handed down by a Cook County grand jury in

A CIRCUIT COURT JURY at Vero Beach, Florida returned a

guilty verdict on April 26, 1971 in the first-degree murder
trial of Sylvan Dale Bishop, 18, charged with the September, 1970
murders of two missing South Florida girls, Kathy Phillips, 19, of
Miramar, and her close friend, Joanna Maladrino, 20, of Holly-
wood, whose skeletons had been found nearVero Beach. Suspicion
centered on Bishop after he told police he had “stumbled upon”
the bodies, and then led officers to the spot. In the trial, the
prosecution claimed that Bishop took the girls to the secluded
spot for sexual or robbery purposes after they had stopped at a
roadside service area where he was working. [February, 1971, A
Florida Killer Stripped His Girl Victims.]
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A group of legislators expressed
shock that some boys had been seen
using girls’ bathroom facilities in a
dormitory building. The result was
that the Florida State Board of Re-
gents, which administers Florida’s
state universities, voted to abolish
all open-house wvisitation policies.
Several student groups later peti-
tioned the regents to reconsider the
matter and rescind their resolution;
but as of this writing the matter was
still up in the air.

Much campus sex takes place in
conjunction with another current
phenomenon—drugs. Weekend . drug-
and-sex orgies are common on many
campuses, particularly in New York
and California, the east and west
coast headquarters of the drug trade.
Students looking for ways to fill the
long Saturdays and Sundays away
from home usually have little diffi-
culty in finding a party to attend.

T he following interview with a 19-
year-old girl contains a vivid de-
scription of such a party:

Q: What grade are you in?

A: Well, ’'m not going to classes
at all, this semester. I had to drop
out after spring finals because I ran
out of bread, and there wasn't time
to apply for a loan. So I'm working
in a lab, taking care of rats and dogs
that are being used in experiments,
and I'm saving my money so I can
go back in September. But I'll be a
fourth-semester student then.

Q: You went to the University of
California at Berkeley. What was
the sex scene like there?

A: Oh, it was like total freedom.
Guys and girls living together, sleep-
ing together. Couples, groups, every-
thing.

Q: Did you participate in any sex-
ual activities? How about your liv-
ing arrangements, for example?

A: Sure, I lived with a guy. In
fact, six of us lived together off-
campus in this old house. Three girls
and three guys. It was like a com-
mune, a three-couple commune.

Q: You say three couples. Was
there any group sex?

A: Not at the house. The six of us
never dug that scene together. We
just had one big bedroom with three
double beds in it, and the six of us
always slept as couples. There was
plenty of group sex around for any-
body who wanted it, though.

Q: Well, if not in your living quar-
ters, where was the group activity?

A: At parties on the week ends.
There used to be one or two big par-
ties every weekend. I went to par-
ties twice in this big commune house
on the beach. Both times I went with
Bob, my man. We went there right
from classes on Friday afternoon,
and spent the whole weekend there.

Q: What went on at the parties?

A: Well, we’d have a big dinner
together on Friday night. Everybody
chipped in and we bought all kinds
of goodies—steaks, shrimp, lobster,
hamburgers, everything you could
think of. Then, after we ate, we'd
crack open a few bottles of apple
wine and break out some pot.

There'd be singing and dancing and
stuff for a while, and then the heavy
drugs would come out—you know,
mescaline and cocaine and acid. And
everybody would get off on some-
thing or other.

By midnight, we’d all be high as
kites. People were tripping out all
over the place hallucinating and
everything. And then, pretty soon,
somebody’d be doing sex. Two people
would start out having sex together
over in the corner or something, and
pretty soon somebody else would
join them, and then another couple
or two, and then the whole room
would be full of really freaked-out
people doing sex together.

You know, people say that alcohol
“wetteth the appetite but spoileth
the performance” when it comes to
sex. Well, that’s just the opposite of
how it is with drugs.

When you're high, even on mar-
ijuana, sex is about a thousand times
better than when you're normal.
Every sensation is amplified, and you
can feel everything so much clearer
and stronger. The difference between
sex without drugs and sex with drugs
is the same as the difference between
listening to a program on a little
transistor radio and watching a pro-
gram on color TV. There’s no other
way to explain it.

And then with acid, there’s even
more of a difference. This one kid
who was a chemical engineering
major used to make acid in chem
lab at school, and his stuff was pure
dynamite. When you take acid, your
sense of time gets distorted. Time
seems to go fantastically slow. I re-
member one time I was eating a hot
dog while I was tripping on acid. I
ate and ate and ate, and it seemed
like T had been eating that hot dog
all afternoon. And that was just one
bite! So you can imagine what sex is
like with acid. A kiss seems to go on
for hours. And the sex act seems to
go on and on forever, getting better
and better all the time.

Anyhow, by Saturday afternoon,
everybody was worn out. We'd sleep
until later Saturday night, and then
somebody would send out for pizza
and soda and we'd start all over
again, doing sex and drugs until late
Sunday night.

Q: How about bad trips? With
everybody freaked out like that,
what happens when somebody gets
on a bad trip?

A: Oh, that's no problem. There’s
always somebody who’s halfway
straight, somebody who didn't take
as much as everybody else. And be-
sides, most people who have a lot of
experience at dropping acid don't
have many bummers. Most bummers
happen on the first trip, and when
people get off on a bad one, they just
quit acid and stick to the weaker
stuff.

Q: And what about pregnancy?
With all that promiscuous sex,
doesn’t anybody ever get pregnant
by accident?

A: Well, with everybody using the
pills, and with abortions available,

there’s never a serious problem. In
fact, there are these two medical stu-
dents who've set up an abortion
clinic in Los Angeles, and they've
been doing abortions for nothing—
free—just for the practice.

Q: Let me ask you something that
may sound corny to you. Don’t you
think you and the other girls are
making a mistake by getting so
heavily involved in sex before mar-
riage? I mean, aren’t you going to
be sorry someday, when you meet
a man you want to marry and live
with for the rest of your life? What
are you going to tell him about your
past?

A: Man, are you hung up! In the
first place, I can’t imagine any situa-
tion where I'd be marrying any man
—marriage is a dead institution, as
far as I'm concerned.

Then, in the second place, if I ever
do decide to marry somebody, I
know it will certainly never be
somebody I haven’t had sex with. I
couldn’t consider living with some-
body I haven't slept with, and most
of the women 1 know feel exactly
the same way about it.

And in the third place, even if I
had - never slept with the guy, I
would assume he had slept with
other women, Everybody does it
these days. It's not like in the old
days, when only “naughty” boys and
girls did things like that. Today, the
only people who don’t have sex are
a few weirdos who get their kicks
in other ways.

What you're talking about is chas-
tity, and that crap is from another age.
Chastity was the word for yesterday.
The word for today is “fun” . . .

There is ample evidence that she
was right. The future will probably
see more and more sexual together-
ness on campus. Colleges which have
maintained sexually segregated dor-
mitories, and which have continued
restrictive visitation policies, are all
moving toward coeducation in all
phases of campus life.

Listen to this excerpt from a wel-
coming statement made by Donald
C. Blaser, Acting Director of the Stu-
dent Housing Office at the Univer-
sity of Hawaii, to all students begin-
ning the 1971-72 school year:

“Aloha and welcome to the Uni-
versity of Hawaii residence hall sys-
tem.

“If you have never before been a
part of a group-living environment
you will be entering into a very new
and different experience when you
move into one of our residence halls.
You will have opportunities to make
many new friends, to participate in
hall government activities, to assist
in decision-making on issues which
will be important to your daily liv-
ing—in short, to become a part of
what we think is a vital and dynamic
living experience . ..

“Qurs is a rapidly changing society,
and we have had many changes in
our residence hall programs and pol-
icies in recent years; we anticipate
that additional changes will be made
during the coming year. Specific
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(Continued from page 90)
‘rules and regulations’ have been
greatly reduced; our coed housing
arrangements have been expanded;
residents have been given greater
responsibility for self-government
and self-discipline . . .”

Then there is the new program at
Pennsylvania State University, called
the Interest House Program. Under
this program, students are housed
together according to the general
fields of study which interest them
most—there are, for example, Envi-
ronmental House, Human Values in
a Technological Society House and
Race Relations and Social Conflict
House.

Here is how the office of the Dean
of Student Affairs at Penn State de-
scribes the new program:

“The Interest House Program is a
new and unique alternative in Res-
idence Hall living. The Interest
House will develop, through its res-
idents’ efforts, a common purpose for
dormitorv life. This is accomplished
by providing students the chance to
live with other students who have a
common interest of concern related
to a broad area of student experi-
ence. Each Interest Community will
consist of two units, male and fe-
male, which will work with mem-
bers of the faculty to design a res-
idence experience that is both stim-
ulating and enjoyable.”

That, then, is the way to the fu-
ture. The keywords are stimulation
and enjoyment. And there will be a
lot more on the campus than books
and classes. Certainly, there will be
a lot more sex.

It all depends on one’s idea of what
college ought to be. If it’s strictly a
place for academic learning, then
perhaps sex has no place. But to the
members of today’s youth counter-
culture, college is much more, and
sex is a necessary part of the scene.

“You know,” said one long-haired
NYU sophomore, “in the old days,
people went to college to learn how
to make a living. Today, people are
going to college to learn how to };\f;

Maryland’s Case . . .

acting on Feehley’s request, took
Marjorie Coyne into custody. They
said she had a new blue suitcase
with her. )

Captain Feehley rushed to New
York, then visited Felony Court
where Marjorie Coyne was arraigned
on a Maryland warrant charging her
with being a fugitive from justice.
Although Feehley expected diffi-
culties, he was pleasantly surprised.
Marjorie waived extradition and
agreed to return to Baltimore for
questioning. The next day, she sub-
mitted to interrogation by Assistant
District Attorney Weiss and Captains
Feehley and Kriss.

Marjorie Coyne’s story was at con-
siderable variance with the one told
by Don Brooks.

Marjorie admitted that Brooks had
paid her fare to New York. She said
he had bought her clothes and had
taken her on a round of gaiety. But
she also said that on July 20th, after
Brooks had threatened her and
scared the hell out of her, she packed
up her things while he was out and
moved up to the Bronx.

“Why did he threaten you?”

The girl shrugged, fiddled with her
auburn hair, and airily said, “It was
just a petty quarrel.” )

Questioned next about the murder
of Mary Finn, Marjorie professed
complete ignorance. In reported in-
terrogations during the next 24 hours,
the girl insisted she had never heard

of the Mary Finn murder, nor even

of Mary Finn.

It was a stalemate. The probers
took Marjorie over her story again
and again. She recounted the details
of her New York trip, the places
they had been—she and Brooks, that
is. Feehley got from her approximate
amounts of money Brooks had spent
for various things, and his addition,
even allowing for rough estimates,
%ndicated Brooks had spent well over
500.

Yet the ex-con had admitted to
having only $350 in cash from his

crap game winnings, a story which
would not be corroborated.

Questioned more closely about the
money, Marjorie disclosed that
Brooks had given her about $90. :

“Eighty bucks in bills,” the pretty
redhead said, “and about ten dollars
in dimes.”

“In dimes?” Captain Feehley
echoed. “John Zigler had a collection
of dimes in a glass jar. Brooks stole
those dimes and gave them to you.
That makes you an accessory.” He
paused and regarded the now fright-
ened girl sternly, then asked, “Do
you want to go to prison for a long,
long time, Marjorie?”

The redhead’s mouth set in a firm
line. She refused to say any more.
Captain Feehley, recognizing her re-
sistance, ordered her left to her own
thoughts in a cell in the woman’s
section of city jail.

A little over an hour later, the girl
sent word to him that she had some-
thing to tell him. She was weeping
when a matron brought her to the
office of the assistant district attor-
ney to face her questioners again.
Now she broke down and admitted
that she had known about the crime.

She said that one day in New
York, after she and Don Brooks had
quarreled, he had threatened her,
saying, ‘“you’d better look out or
you'll get what Mrs. Finn got!”

Later, Marjorie said, when Brooks
was in a better mood, she had asked
him about Mary Finn. She said
Brooks had replied:

“I broke in there because I knew
Zigler always had a lot of money
around. I didn’t know that Mrs. Finn
was there. She came out to the
kitchen while I was ransacking the
joint and started a fight. I had to
sock her.

“Later, when I was looking for
more money, she began to revive. So
I socked her again.”

Marjorie Coyne went on to say
that just before she moved to the
Bronx, she saw Brooks putting new

(Continued on page 95)

The Killer Played Games .

undergoing an emergency operation to
relieve the pressure on his brain. If he
survived—and that was not certain—
it would be a considerable time before
he was able to talk to police.

But though Black appeared, for the
moment, at least, to be a highly dubi-
ous source of information, diligent
police work turned up something on
his background. By eight o’clock
Thursday morning, Homicide Detec-
tives Joe Holindrake and Tom
O’'Neill had succeeded in establish-
ing that Tom Black was a local resi-
dent. They traced him to an address
on East 12th Street, where they
learned he had gone out the previ-
ous afterncon. But that was as much
as could be found out; no one at the
address could even hazard a guess at
what might have happened to him, or

(from page 55)

how.

Meanwhile, Captain Flor had made
a discovery of his own. Anxious to
have a versonal look at Welch, he
had gone to the hospital. He was ad-
mitted to the room where the big,
bellicose man, still manacled and
strapped to a bed in the prison ward,
was sleeping off the effects of the
sedative administered to him wunder
protest. )

Captain Flor’s brow furrowed in a
puzzled frown for a moment as he
stood looking down at the blond
giant. He reached in his pocket,
pulled out Welch’s wallet, and stud-
ied the identification papers it con-
tained. The captain’s eyes flickered
back and forth from the papers to
the man in the bed.

Finally he exclaimed, “This man is

not Welch! He was carrying some-
body else’s papers. He doesn't come
close to fitting the descriptions here.”

The papers from the pocket bore
him out. They described Ralph
Welch as 32, five feet six inches tall,
145 pounds, with black wavy hair,
dark complexion, and hazel eyes.

The man in the bed might have
been about 32, but there the resem-
blance to the real Welch ended. The
sleeping man was an inch or two
over six feet tall, he had to weigh at
least 200 pounds, he had dark blond
curly hair, and his eyes, a hasty
check showed, were light blue in
color.

The questions awaiting recovery
of consciousness by the big blond
man were piling up. But answers to
other questions in Captain Flor'’s
mind were soon forthcoming. When
he got back to his desk at headquar-
ters he found that the Arizona State



Police and Captain Allaire of Tuc-
son had called in their reports.

The green Ford convertible was
registered to Ralph R. Welch of Tuc-
son. It had been bought there in
June. It had never been reported
stolen. That much came from the
State Police.

Captain Allaire had other news.
Investigation of the West Alturas
Street address disclosed it was not
Welch’s home, but that of his parents.
They told Tucson detectives that
their son had visited them early in
June, shortly -after his discharge
from the Marines, but that he had
since gone, with his wife and two-
and-a-half-year-old  daughter, to
live in California. They gave his ad-
dress as a trailer court in Chula
Vista, a city of some 16,000 popula-
tion south of San Diego and only a
few miles from the Mexican border.

Welch had been a Marine for more
than 15 years, he had served in two
wars and won decorations for hero-
ism in combat. He had been dis-
charged recently for medical reasons.
At the time he visited his family in
Tucson, he had $6,000 in mustering-
out pay, and he had spent part of
this to buy the second-hand Ford
convertible and a house trailer. He
had been looking forward to settling
in California after his long career of
moving about while in service.

“But it looks like he was heading
up your way this week,” Captain
Allaire had reported. “Just the other
day, Monday the 27th, his folks got
a telegram from him, from Colorado
Springs, asking them to wire him $75
there. They sent it, and that’s the last
they've heard from him. They
thought he’d gone back to California.
They’re pretty worried right now.”

Allaire’s men had also obtained a
detailed description of young Welch
from his parents. It tallied with that
on Welch’s identification papers, and
confirmed that the big man now in
Denver General could not possibly
be the ex-Marine.

Captain Flor now placed a call to
Chula Vista, California police with a
request for assistance in checking at
that point. He outlined the circum-
stances and spelled out the prisoner’s
fingerprint classification code. Next
he called Colorado Springs, 70 miles
to the south of Denver, and re-
quested inquiries at Western Union
about Welch’s wire to his parents.

At this point, police guards at the
hospital reported that the big blond
prisoner seemed to be coming out of
his sedation stupor and was demand-
ing to know why he was chained to
his bed. When they asked him his
name, he said it was Welch. He was
very drowsy, and had gone back to
sleep.

Captain Flor now ordered a tele-
type bulletin to all points in Colo-
rado, New Mexico and Arizona. It
spelled out the real Welch’s corrob-
orated description, and requested
any information available on a man
answering it anywhere in the area.
If they were lucky, the ex-Marine
might still be alive, but, said Flor
wryly, “Im not banking on it.”

In Chula Vista, California, mean-
while, Sergeant Charles L. Woods,
chief of detectives, assigned Detec-
tives Richard L. Quick and Virgil H.
Seiveno to conduct a hasty inquiry
at the trailer camp address of Ralph
Welch. He assigned other men to
check out the fingerprint classifica-
tions received from Denver, and
asked the sheriff's department in
San Diego to do likewise.

Detectives Quick and Seveino
found Ralph Welch’s pretty blonde
wife without difficulty. Not wanting
to alarm her, they told her they were
making a routine check on her hus-
band. She said she had not seen him
for a week. “He took off in his car
one afternoon and didn’t come home.”

Pressed to 'be more specific, they
learned from her that Welch drove
away in his convertible around four
o’clock Thursday, July 23rd. He had
been restless all day and said he was
going out for a couple of beers and a
sandwich. He had with him a check
for $48.52, which he planned to cash.

She had naturally been concerned
when he didn’t come home, but she
decided finally that he may have
gone to visit his parents in Tucson.
He had been unsettled and moody
since leaving the service. He had
been working as a cutlery salesman
and going to accounting school at
night. She added that the previous
Monday she had received a wire
from "Colorado Springs and showed
it to the officers. It read ‘“Need
money to come home. Either you or
bank wire $75 immediately. Care
Western Union here. Home soon.
Love. Ralph R. Welch.” His wife had
wired the money, but she had heard
nothing since. She assumed her hus-
band was enroute home.

B ack at headquarters, detectives
learned that the Denver mystery
man, the blond giant, had finally
been identified. His fingerprint clas-
sification had done the trick. Sheriff
Bert Strand, at San Diego, had
pegged him as Michael Timothy
Cavanaugh, 29, of National City,
which is just a few miles north of
Chula Vista. Cavanaugh had more
than a nodding acquaintance with
the police of several states. At the
moment, he was being sought by
Sheriff Strand himself, because of
his escape from the State Hospital at
Patton, California, where he had
been committed as a mental case after
an arrest for forging checks. He had
escaped on July 12th,

Sergeant Woods was reasonably
certain Cavanaugh was the man who
figured also in a recent series of bad-
check complaints in Chula Vista. He
had used several names, but the de-
scription of the passer in each case
was too close to that of Cavanaugh
to be coincidence.

At Cavanaugh’s home in National
City, his wife told Detectives Quick
and Seveino she had seen her hus-
band twice since he escaped from
Patton. The first time was on July
13th, the day he escaped, but he left
immediately. The second time he
appeared just before midnight on

July 23rd, arriving in a green con-
vertible which he claimed he had
borrowed from another patient at
Patton. He wanted his wife to pack
up and go to Indiana with him, but
she refused, and pleaded with him
to return to the hospital. He left
about 1 a.m.

July 23rd, the detectives immedi-
ately noted, was the very night when
Welch had disappeared. The convert-
ible Cavanaugh was driving undoubt-
edly was the ex-Marine’s. After a

stop at National City police head-.

quarters, they left with a complete
dossier, as well as photos of Michael
Cavanaugh.

It seemed that Cavanaugh had
started out in life in Greenfield,
Massachusetts. In 1942, at the age of
17, he had lied about his age and en-
listed in the Navy. But four months
later he was ousted on an undesira-
ble discharge after trouble with bad
checks. The record showed that
checks and the Navy would continue
to figure in the man’s life.

On November 23, 1942, he was
picked up in San Francisco for fraud
and impersonating a Navy officer,
both offenses committed in San An-
tonio, Texas. He drew a three-year
sentence to Leavenworth, but be-
cause of his age was transferred to
the federal reformatory at Chilli-
cothe, Ohio, where he was paroled
in 1944. Back home in Greenfield,
Massachusetts, he was convicted in
September 1945 of delivering alcohol
to a minor. This brought revocation
of his parole and he went back to
Chillicothe. He was released from
there in April, 1947.

Less than a year later, he was up
for check forgery again, this time in
Lincoln, Nebraska, and he drew a 22-
month sentence in the state prison.
Interestingly enough, he was again
impersonating a Navy officer, at the

- time he passed the checks. Within

weeks after his release from this
stretch, he was nailed on a similar
check charge in Lincoln and drew
another 18 months in jail.

Between jail terms, however, Cav-
anaugh had been very active matri-
monially. In October 1942, he mar-
ried a 21-year-old beauty in Lincoln.
She divorced him while he was in
prison. He married again in Mexico
City in 1948, married a third time in
1949 and wed his fourth and current
wife in Glenwood, Iowa, on April 22,
1950.

Cavanaugh’s record also showed
several divorces, but it did not es-
cape the alert eyes of Detectives
Seiveno and Quick that the dates of
marriages and divorces did not jibe;
Cavanaugh sometimes got his di-
vorces after he had already been
married bigamously. His present wife
had been in complete ignorance, both
of his prison record and his check-
ered marital career, until the facts
came to light when he was committed
to Patton. She knew only that Cav-
anaugh drank too much, but she had
been confident she could get him to
mend his ways.

They came to California in June
1952. He held two or three jobs
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briefly, but in April 1953, he was ar-
rested after a bad-check spree in
San Diego County, cashing scores of
worthless checks after convincing his
victims he was either a captain or a
lieutenant commander of the Navy.
Cavanaugh’s long experience as a
con artist, however, helped him to
thwart justice. He was glib, person-
able and intelligent. One of his vic-
tims grudgingly paid him a tribute
as a man who “céuld charm a snake.”
In any event, he charmed a judge

- into believing he was a sick man,

suffered from headaches and black-
outs since he was a youngster when
he had hurt his head, he claimed. He
insisted he couldn’t even remember
passing the bad checks. At his wife’s
urging, he had hbeen consulting a
neurologist. Now Cavanaugh begged
the judge to commit him to a state
hospital until they found out what
was wrong with him. The sympa-
thetic judge pigeonholed the charges
and sent him to Patton.

In the three months he was there,
doctors had made a tentative diag-
nosis of psychic epilepsy, with chronic
brain syndrome and convulsive
tendencies. The patient’s aggressive,
irritable temperament and extreme
egotism pointed to this, and it was
thought his crimes might have been
commited in so-called “epileptic
equivalent” states—blackouts with
amnesia, which sometimes occur in-
stead of epileptic fits.

Before a final diagnosis could be
reached, however, Cavanaugh took
to his heels.

Detective Seiveno and Quick, after
poring through Cavanaugh’s volumi-
nous file, decided to see if they could
pick up his recent file in Chula
Vista.

“We know he didn't have a car,
but he sure got around to a lot of
places to cash those checks,” Seveino
said. “Let’s start with the cab com-
panies.” ‘

The hunch was a good one. They
soon found a cab driver who recog-
nized Cavanaugh’s mug shot as the
man he had picked up in front of a
cafe on National Avenue at 5:45 p.m.
on the 23rd. He took him to several
cafes and the officers set out to
check the cold trail.

It was at just about that same time

that Captain Flor began to make real
progress in the Denver end of the
investigation. The FBI had confirmed
the identification on Cavanaugh. Flor
had photographs of Cavanaugh and
the still unconscious Tom Black re-
leased to newspapers and television,
The immediate result of this move
was confirmation of Captain Flor's
suspicion that it had been Cava-
naugh, and not Welch, who sent the
telegraphic appeals for money from
Colorado Springs, then cashed the
checks when the appeals were an-
swered.

Then the manager of a cafe on
Colfax Avenue recognized the pic-
tures of Cavanaugh and Tom Black
and told police they had been drink-
ing there Wednesday evening, just a
few hours before they turned up at
St. Lukes’ Hospital. The big guy was

loud and belligerent, the manager

said, but Black kept trying to quiet

him down, and apologizing for him.

Next a prominent Denver business
man reported that Cavanaugh was
the man driving a green convertible
which had bumped him in the rear.
He said Cavanaugh willingly ac-
cepted the blame, showed insurance
papers, and assured him the insur-
ance company would take care of the
damage to his car. Black was with
him at the time, he said. This hap-
pened within an hour of the time the
pair showed up at the hospital.

“Well, it’s pretty clear that Cava-
naugh beat and robbed Black,” Cap-
tain Flor concluded in a conference
with his detectives, “He didn’t find
him lying on the street. That much
is sure. The big question is: Why
did he bring him to the hospital, in-
stead of just leaving him?”

He shook his head wearily. “With
a character like this, you never know.
He could have figured Black would
never recover to identify him as his
assailant, and done it as a nervy
grandstand play, sort of daring us to
nail him with something.”

Still unanswered, of course, was
what had happened to the real Ralph
Welch, but 1,200 miles away, in Chula
Vista, Detectives Seiveno and Quick
were finally putting the two men to-
gether. They had turned up some hot
leads on Cavanaugh’s cold trail. One
of them led to a blonde barmaid who
instantly recognized the big guy’s
mug shot, and a picture of Ralph
Welch as well.

“The big guy is Curly,” she said.
“Used to drop in here often—he’s a
Navy officer. He and this other fel-
low—Ralph—got to talking in here
the other day, abut a week ago.”
She pinpointed the date as the 23rd.
She also said that Welch had cashed
a check in the place for about $48.

Welch was moody, she recalled. He
ordered a sandwich and beer, and
Cavanaugh joined him at his table.
When Welch complained of a head-
ache, Cavanaugh said, “I'll fix your
headache. I'm a Navy doctor, a lieu~
tenant commander. Just come with
me.”

It was about 10 p.m. when they
left together.

Detectives Quick and Seiveno by
now were reasonably certain that
Cavanaugh had killed Welch some-
time between that time and 11:45,
when, he showed up at his wife’s
home in the convertible. Welch’s
body was probably in the trunk at
that time.

“All we need now is the body,”
Quick said dryly.

In Denver, Captain Flor had de- .

cided the time was ripe to start
working on that angle. With a couple
of homicide detectives, he called on
Cavanaugh in Denver General’s pris-
on ward.

“Look, Curly,” Flor began, “we
know all about you. We know you're
Cavanaugh, not Welch. We know you
picked up Welch in Chula Vista and
robbed him of his money, car and
papers. You might as well tell us the

whole story. What did you do with
the body?”

The big blond guy in the bed re-
garded the captain oddly for a long

moment, then quietly dropped a
bombshell. “Sure I'm Cavanaugh,”
he said. “Michael Timothy Cava-

naugh. Who else would I be? But
who’s this Welch you're talking
about? And who are you guys? What
am I chained to this bed for? And
what’s the matter with my hip?”

Captain Flor threw up his hands
and shook his head in disgust. “Here
we go,” he said wearily. To Cava-
naugh, he said sarcastically, “You're
now going to tell us you don't re-
member a thing, right?”

“I don’t remember much, What
day is this? Last thing I remember,
my wife was here to see me. That
was the Fourth of July.”

“Where do you think you are?”

“Why in Patton State Hospital
California. Where else? What'’s going
on here?”

Captain Flor stared hard into the
big man’s cold blue eyes. Every
ounce of his instinct and experience
convinced him Cavanaugh was lying,
but proving it was another matter.
He was sure that with the lightning
mental agility his record proved he
possessed, Cavanaugh had pulled his
new gambit right out of the blue sky.

The man professed to be amazed
when he learned he was in Denver,
that he had been driving Welch's car,
and that he had done the things they
said he had. He could remember none
of it, he insisted.

An FBI report pinpointed the or-
igin of the leaves and gravel found
in the convertible’s trunk as Cali-
fornia. The leaves were California
eucalyptus or blue gum and since
this species does not grow inland,
they had probably come from near
Chula Vista.

The following morning, Tom Black
had recovered sufficiently to identify
Cavanaugh as the man who attacked
him after a drinking spree. For the
moment, though, no charges were
filed, pending outcome of the murder
probe. Captain Flor, meanwhile,
worked on some strategy. He had
been calling on Cavanaugh for long
talks for several days and they had
been getting on well. Flor knew a lie
test would be useless on such a
pathological liar, but he had another
ace up his sleeve.

Pretending to be convinced by
Cavanaugh’s blackout yarn, he said,
“I'd like to help you, Curly. I've
seen a lot of cases like yours before,
where men are accused of something
they can’t remember because they
blacked out. Many times we’ve been
able to help them get back their
memory, if they cooperated.”

“What do you want me to do,
Captain?”

“T'd like to give you a truth serum
test—sodium amytal. Of course, we
can’t do it without your consent. We
give you a shot and put you to sleep
—that is, your conscious mind sleeps,
and your unconscious talks to us, like
under hypnosis.”

The big fellow was thoughtful for



a moment, a crafty look appearing
in his blue eyes. “Okay, Cap’n, I'll
go for it. I got nothing to lose,” he
said suddenly.

Flor’s ruse had worked, and Cava-
naugh had outsmarted himself. The
captain had no intention of giving
him an actual truth serum test, only
to pretend that was what was hap-
pening.

The test was administered on Au-
gust Tth., In the presence of Captain
Flor and several other officials, the
doctor injected a very weak solution
of the drug, just enough to make him
feel he had been given something,
but not enough to put him under.

Cavanaugh promptly closed his
eyes, sighed, and in a little while
began to mutter drowsily, answering
Captain Flor’s questions in slow, me-
chanical phrases.

He had taken the wheel of the
convertible, Cavanaugh said, while
Welch curled up in the back seat to
nap. He drove across the border to
Tijuana and parked behind a restau-
rant. Welch stayed in the car, while
he went inside to get some fried
chicken.

“When I came back, Welch was
lying dead in the back seat, naked
and covered with blood. He’d been
beaten and stabbed. His wallet was
on the floor, empty. Some tramp must
have come along while I was gone
and killed him for his clothes and
money.

“I realized I was on a spot. Who'd
believe me with my record? I finally
decided I'd better just take over
Welchs’ identification and put dis-
tance behind me. I shoved the body in
the trunk and drove back to the U.S. I
went to see my wife, then headed up
through Escondido and east on Route
66.”

He drove to Arizona, Cavanaugh
continued, pawned his watch in King-
man, and spent a night at a motel.
But by Sunday the odor from: the
trunk was so bad he was afraid to
park on the street. He had to get rid
of it. He turned off the highway in
the desert about nine miles west of
Albuquerque, New Mexico, found a
deserted spot on a windswept mesa,
and scooped out a shallow grave.

“I put my coat over him, then some
tumbleweeds for flowers, and I knelt
and said a prayer for him—and for
myself,” Cavanaugh said.

Afterward, he went on to Colorado
Springs and then to Denver, where he
had the drinking bout with Tom
Black, which led to a crazy coin-
cidence. Just as he had done with
Welch, he left Black, who was not
feeling well, asleep in the back seat
when he went into a restaurant.
When he came out, he found Black
beaten and robbed. He took him to a
hospital and ran from the cops be-
cause he was sure they wouldn’t be-
lieve him.

That concluded Cavanaugh's amaz-
ing statement. The officers present, as
well as the doctor, knowing the man
had been fully conscious while mak-
ing it, had to concede it was a work
of art, a fiendishly clever blend of fact
and fiction. They believed Cavanaugh

had told the truth about verifiable
facts, though studiously avoiding in-
criminating himself as a killer.

When the prisoner “came to,” he
said his memory was restored. He re-
membered everything he had said un-
der the truth drug, he said. He even
drew a rough map of the area where
he had buried Welch’s body.

A few hours later, aided by a tele-
phoned description of the map, Bern-
alillo County Sheriff's men at Albu-
querque found Welch’s corpse in the
crude grave. Though badly decom-
posed, it could still be seen that the
ex-Marine had been hacked and mu-
tilated. Technicians were able to get
fingerprints from the corpse, and
these were flown to Washington, where
Marine Corps records confirmed the
identity of Welch.

Confronted with the truth about the
truth serum test, Cavanaugh blithely
went back to his blackout story,
claiming he could remember nothing
he had said during the faked test.

It was but one more in a series of
several turnabouts which followed.
Returned to California, he was tried
for the check charges in a couple of
wild excitement-packed trials, in the
course of which he fired his lawyer
and undertook his own defense on an
insanity plea. He was found guilty
and sentenced to a total of three~to-42
years on three forgery counts.

On the same day, Chula Vista po-
lice completed their murder case and
charged Cavanaugh with the slaying
of Ralph Welch. He was finally
brought to trial for murder in April,
1954 before Superior Judge C. M.
Monroe.

Once again, Cavanaugh went back
to his blackout story. He claimed he
had made the false confession only to
relieve his harried wife from further
police questioning.

This time, he let his attorney carry
the ball, and the counselor labored
valiantly on his client’s behalf. De-
spite his efforts, however, the jury of
eight women and four men found Mi-
chael Cavanaugh, on April 8th, guilty
of first-degree murder, without rec-
ommendation.

The very next day he went on trial
before the same jury on his insanity
plea, contending he had been suffering
from a mental blackout from the time
of his escape from Patton until well
after his arrest in Denver. A board of
highly qualified psychiatrists testified
for the State that in their joint opin-
ion, Cavanaugh was legally sane,
highly intelligent, but a confirmed
liar. The defense presented its own
experts but their plea on the defen-
dant’s behalf suffered in cross-exam-
ination. The prosecutor won their ad-
mission that they felt it was unlikely
that a man suffering from psychic
epilepsy would be able to write and
pass checks, plan an intelligent flight
across four states and invent de-
tailed stories while in a confused or
amnesic condition,

The jury’s verdict was that Cav-
anaugh was sane. On April 30, 1954,
Judge Monroe sentenced him to death
in the gas chamber. The automatic
appeal from a capital sentence in the

state of California was but the first
of many legal steps, however, which
delayed Cavanaugh’s day of judgment
for nearly two years. His last hope
was shattered on April 12, 1956 when
the United States Supreme Court re-
fused to review his petition.

The following morning, at 10
o’clock, he was led to San Quentin’s
gas chamber in the presence of official
witnesses and members of the press.
His last words were exchanged with
the warden after he was strapped
into the steel seat. The warden later
said the condemned man was “quiet
and composed” as he faced death.

At 10:04 the cyanide pellets were
dropped and Michael Cavanaugh
strained convulsively against his re-
straining straps as the swirling fumes
of death rose about him,

At 10:13 he was pronounced deid* N

Maryland’s
Case of
Pre-Marital Murder

(Continued from page 92)

tape on his blackjack.

“I was afraid he meant to kill me,
too,” she declared, “so I got away
from there fast.”

With the testimony of Marjorie
Coyne, and other evidence the police
were able to gather based on fur-
ther investigation, Assistant District
Attorney Weiss went to the grand
jury and obtained a first-degree
murder indictment against Brooks.

At his arraignment on the capital
charge, the ex-con was ordered held
for trial. Application for bail pending
trial was denied.

The state was ready to present a
formidable case against the accused
man when he was brought to trial on
October 3, 1944.

On October 6th, the defendant was
found guilty, without extenuating
circumstances. A little more than a
month later, on November 9th, he
was sentenced to’be hanged for the
murder of Mary Finn.

The execution of Donald Brooks
was carried out at the Maryland
Penitentiary-in Baltimore on Novem-
ber 30, 1945. A reporter for a Balti-
more newspaper who witnessed the
execution wrote: '

“The man whose blackjack blud-
geoning kept Mary Finn and John
Zigler from ‘tying the knot’ wound
up with a knot about his own throat
—on a gallows. . . .” Jokok

Eprtor’s NoTE:

John K. Zigler, Preston and Agnes
Beck, Augie Fontana and Marjorie
Coyne are not the real names of the
persons so named in the foregoing
story. Because there is no reason for
public interest in the identity of
these persoms, fictitious names have
been used.
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Machiavellian Expert On Human
Behavior Comes Clean About
Hypnosis, Persuasion, And
Mind Control!"

If the thought of true unlimited personal power has ever crossed
your mind... this will be the most important letter you ever read.

For years I've been studying various forms of self improvement,

hypnosis and persuasion. Like you, I've chased the trends - the
latest "Law of Attraction" knockoff, people claiming to have
"inside information” on "secret" hypnosis groups, and all sorts
of other nonsense.



https://elitesocialcontrol.com/
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Never finished
high school!

Now you can get a diploma
without going back

You already know why it’s important to
have a high school education. You've
probably learned the hard way that it can
be pretty difficult to get the kind of job
you want without one. No matter how
hard you’re willing to work.

What can you do about it?

Maybe you’ve thought of trying again
to get a diploma. But you’'ve suffered
enough classroom ‘“battle fatigue” to last
you a lifetime. So you’d hate to travel
that route again even if you could.

But what if we told you that there was
now a much better way to get a high
school education? An adult way, which
gives you regular high school subjects and
your choice of practical vocational sub-
jects which help you get started in one of
a number of profitable fields. :

That’s the unique Wayne School way.
You do your reading and assignments in
your spare time, in the relaxed atmos-
phere of your own home, and “turn in”
your completed assignments by mail. You
don’t have to give up your present job.
You don’t have to study or travel to class
at inconvenient times.

Wayne School

wants to help you finish
high school at home

And you needn’t be afraid of dropping
out all over again, if you had trouble with

“school before. Wayne’s specially prepared

lessons make even difficult subjects much
easier to take. And Wayne grades your as-
signments in private, by mail. You’re free
from competitive classroom pressures. You
stay relaxed, and your progress is much
smoother.

If you’re 17 or over and not now in
school, why not send for more informa-
tion? Mail coupon for our free booklet,
“How to finish High School¢at home.”
You’re in for a pleasant surprise.

Send for free facts

Wayne School
417 S. Dearborn Street, Dept. 70-558
Chicago, Illinois 60605

Please send me your free illustrated book-
let “How to finish High School at home’’
containing full information about your
courses and teaching methods, and about
opportunities for high school graduates.

Print
Name Age
Address
City
State Zip
w24



NEW, BRILLIANT '
HOME BUSINESS PLAN
OWN von;nwu ~ .RDER BIG PROFIT

N Wholesaling
usiness

OVER 1000 SPECTACULAR MONEY-MAKERS

Start from your home
— part-time or full-time. We
supply everything you need

to get you started at once.

Burglar-Fire Alarm  Electric
your cost 93c \d..{ Candle
sell for $2.98
I

Laminated Padlock /[
your cost 21¢ g
\ sell for 59¢

\ Auto Spotlight

your cost 54c
sell for $1.98

Beauty Glo 20l - ol
SUE procuct - > Buy at GUARANTEED Lowest, Below Wholesale Prices cuve Fash camera (8
e WIs Y : VERY — Everything Warehoused for You sell for $2.98

Elect . LG

PLer?:orlﬁtor &

Nylon Watch Band
your cost 11c

f your cost $1.90
Genuine  eil for $4.98

MAKE FABULOUS PROFITS IN MAIL ORDER

sell for 88¢c
pmircost @ « New Revolutionary Program Tiiest g
;’3.‘. ?:, Two-Cell Flashlight Everything you need to get volume orders by mail is included in our mail sell for $1.00
$1.98  your cost 21¢c order plan. SMC's lowest prices lets you earn profits of 5, 7, even 10 times Toys 10¢ sellers
sell for 79¢ your cost. Unlike other mail order businesses, the SMC opportunity gives you your cost 1c to
Automatic multiple ways to bring you volume sales by mail. ' 3¢ ea. s

Day-Date Calendar
your cost 25¢ ea.
sell for $1.00 ea.

Flashing Antenna
Emergency Light

your cost 46¢c
sell for

Catalog distribution to sub-wholesalers
Catalog & circular distribution to consumers
Drop-ship service to merchants & sub-wholesalers
Our program is designed to bring you a steady stream of repeat, almost effort-
less reorders. Mail order offers you unlimited opportunity regardless of where
you live and without the need for personal salesmanship.

N Appliances at
amazingly low prices

j\ Name Brand &
¢
i

Electric
Scissors
your cost 85¢
Beaded Purse sell for $2.98
your cost 19¢

your cost 37¢ ) =N
sell for $1.59 Miracle Egg Puncher N\ 4

(pr_event§ _crackrng

;zhulrecgg{lg::g) . sell for $1.00
sell for 59¢ Extra discounts for Choose the money- Miniature

quantity purchases. making plan that suits mlr 'é:)tst 18
Extra discount you hest or cash sell for $1.00
on first order. in on all.

MAKE GIGANTIC PROFITS AS A WHOLESALER

3 Tested Easy Ways to Operate
WAGON JOBBING — take orders from merchants & deliver cash sales at the
same time. SMC-guaranteed lowest, below wholesale prices lets you sell at
wholesale & make staggering big profits for yourself.
DROP-SHIP WHOLESALING — SMC stocks your merchandise & ships for you.
We supply catalog, order books, everything!
RACK JOBBING — No direct selling— no door knocking. Your SMC racks do
your selling for you. All you do is keep your racks filled. We show you how
to get rent-free space in retail stores.

&( SMC's LOWEST, BELOW WHOLESALE PRICE ‘g
GUARANTERE

Should an authorized purchaser of SMC products discover price
quotations at a lower price, SMC guarantees to equal or better that
price providing it is a legitimate offer as outlined in SMC guarantee.

lHluminated
Screwdriver

Auto/Boat
Compass

77) your cost 66¢
7 seil for $1.98

Magnifying Torch
your cost 30¢
sefl for $1.00

Auto-BurglarAlarm
your cost $1.20
sell for $4.98

Wrench Keychaln
your cost 19¢
sell for $1.00

8mm T

Movie Prorector
Unbreakable with roll comic
hg>' Comb your  film your cost
| cost 112¢ $4.40 with film
sell for 10c  sell for $12.95

Hair trimmer Simutated Diamond
your cost 13¢ ea. your cost $8,20
sell for $1.00 sell for $98.00

Hundreds & Hundreds
of additional products ...
Toys —one of the biggest
selections in America! Gift
& premium products, jeweiry,
radios, many, many more.
We've searched the world
to find the best
money-makers!

4 No waiting.

Everything stocked for you.
SMC warehouses everything
for you and ships quickly. Most
orders are tilled the day re-
ceived. You can buy in small
quantities—just one of a kind
for many products. Start at
once—the day you receive
our program!

S aoiness reoDia Expect Unusual Profits WE PROTECT YOU MAIL COUPON FOR FREE BOOK

/]

. , . 1

George Partridge— Jack Messer—<in my 5@ Supply Authorized SMC Wholesalers Only 1 M. Pr'erfelr‘wo"?\mé' c '

| started witn practically  second month of oper- </ | This opportunity is open to serious men & Ly e ise Cor;, 51510 i
avevaned 108 frst month  ation, | took in $1,000.00.4 ¥ women who want to operate a big pay spare 8 Van Nuys, California 91406 i

net profit parttime.”  work part-time with SMC." or fulltime home business. Please do not § il me how | can get started immediately in my own 1

y Lois E. Beck — “‘In one  William T. Collier- °’d9’4f’°!“ this page. Write for free book & 1 SN{C wh?lesaltmgb alnd ma,',' lorde'r bu?misshgfﬁlggegt ng:;' ]
% month. | made $914., 00 I have made $226.00 ’rv ordering instructions. When you answer this a anteed lowest, beiow wholesale prices. ]
while pamany disabled.”  profitin one day. My ad, you get in on the ground floor. : Name :

2 due to an accident  goal this year,$25, 000 00.” H Add H

. ) 2 ress X

specialty merchancdise corporation 6963 Hayvenhurst Avenue, Van Nuys, California 91406 oy state 7o 1
1

' r

In Canada write: Pre-Sell Distributors ,777 Warden Avenue, Scarborough 705, Ontario, Canada
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